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I. The Appeals Chamber of the International Criminal Tribunal for the Prosecution of Persons 

Responsible for Genocide and Other Serious Violations of Intemational Humanitarian Law 

Com.mined in the Territory of Rwanda and Rwandan Citizens Responsible for Genocide and Other 

Such Violations Committed in the Territory of Neighbouring States between l January 1994 and 31 

December 1994 ('•Appeals Chamber" and ''Tribunal", respectively) is seized of an appeal by 

Franc;ois Karera ("Appellant") against the Judgement rendered on 7 December 2007 in the case of 

The Prosecutor v. Franfois Karera (''Trial Judgement'') by Trial Chamber I of the Tribunal (''Trial 

Chamber•'). 

I. INTRODUCTION 

A. Background 

2. · The Appellant was born in 1938, in Huro sector, Musasa commune, Kigali prefecture.1 For 

fifteen years he was the bourgmestre of Nyarugenge commune, in Kigali-Ville prefecrure.2 On 9 

November 1990, the Appellant was appointed sub-prefect in Kigali prefecture and on or around 17 

April l.994, he was appointed by the Interim Government as prefect of Kigali prefecture.3 

3. The Appellant was tried on the basis of an amended indictment dated 19 December 2005 

("Amended Indictment"), which charged bim with individual criminal responsibility under four 

counts: genocide (Count l); complicity in genocide (Count 2); extermination as a crime against 

humanity (Count 3); and murder as a crime against humanity (Count 4). He was additionally 
' 

charged with superior responsibility under Counts 1, 3 and 4. These counts related to attacks against 

and the murder ofTutsis in Nyamirambo sector (Nyarugenge commune, Kigali-Ville prefecture); in 

Kigali prefecture and at the Ntarama Church (Nta:rama sector, Kakenze co1lllllune, Kigali 

prefecture). 

4. The Trial Chamber found the Appellant guilty, under Article 6(1) of the Statute of the 

Tribunal ("Statute"), of genocide (Count 1)4 ~d extermination and murder as crimes against 
• I 

humanity (Counts 3 and 4, respectively).5 The Trial Chamber acquitted the Appellant of the . : 

alternative charge of comg]icicy' in genocide (~ount 2) in light of bis conviction for genocide.6 
I 

While the Trial Chamber also found that the :Appellant was Tesponsible as a superior pursuant to 
I 
I 

,i 
1 Trial Judgement, para. 21. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber erred in designating tho prefecture 
"Kigali-Rural" as in 1994 it was officially named Kigali prefecture_ See infra paras_ 55-58. See also Exhibit Pl4: wi 
29/90 du. 28 mai 1990, mcd.ifiant et completcmt la loi du 15 avril 1963 sur l'organisation te1"ritoriale de la Re.publique f oumal Offi.ciel, 1/0811990). 

Trial Judgement, para. 23. 
3 Trial Judgement, para. 24. 
◄ Trial Judgement, paras. 540, 544, 548. 
'Trial Judgement, paras. 557, S60, 561. 
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Article 6(3) of the Statute, it did not enter a separate conviction on that basis but considered the 

Appellant's "superior position as an aggravating factor in sentencing".7 It imposed a single sentence 

of imprisonment for the remainder of the Appellant's life.8 
· 

B. The Appeal 

5. The Appellant presents twelve grounds of appeal challenging bis convictions and his 

sentence. He requests the Appeals Chamber to overturn his convictions and to order bis release. 9 In 

the alternative, he requests the Appeals Chamber to order a retrial or, as a further alternative, to 

quash bis life sentence and substitute it with an appropriate sentence.10 In lris Appellant's Brief, the 

Appellant dropped his Ninth Ground of Appeal11 and as a consequence, the Appeals Chamber will 

not address this ground of appeal. 

6. Toe Appeals Chamber heard oral arglllllents regarding this appeal on 28 August 2008. 

Having considered the written and oral submissions of the parties, the Appeals Chamber hereby 

renders its Judgement. 12 

ti Trial Judgement. para. 549. 
7 Trial Judgement, paras. 566, 577. 
8 Trial Judgement, para. 585. 
9 Notice of Appeal, p. 28; Appellant's Brief, p. 61. 
10 Notice of Appeal, p. 28; Appellant's Brief, p. 61. 
11 The Appellant acknowledges that ''the [Trial] Chamber's erroneous finding of fact did not occasion a miscarria8e of 
~lice for the Appellant"'. Appellant's Brief, p.ara. 310. 

The Appeals Chamber points out rhal some aspects of the Appellant's grounds of appeal are inextricably intertwined. 
Therefore, for ease of analysis, Ground of Appeal I and pm of Ground of Appeal 2 will be addressed under Ground of 
Appeal 7. 

2 
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Il. STANDARDS OF APPELLATE REVIEW 

7. The Appeals Chamber recalls the applicable standards of appellate review pursuant to 

Article 24 of the Statute_ The Appeals Chamber reviews only errors of law which invalidate the 

decision of the Trial Chamber and errors of fact which have occasioned a miscarriage of justi.ce.13 

8. As regards errors of law, the Appeals Chamber has stated: 

Where a party alleges that there is an error of law, that pany must advance argum<..-nts in support of 
the submission and explain how the error invalidates the decision. However. if the appellant's 
.arguments do not .support the contention, that party does not automatically Jose its point since the 
Appeals Chamber may step in and, for other reasons. find in favour of the contention that there is 
an error of law. 14 

9. Where the Appeals Chamber finds an error of law in the trial judgement: arising from the 

application of an incorrect legal standard, the Appeals Chamber will articulate the correct legal 

interpretation and review the relevant factual findings of the Trial Chamber accordingly. In so 

doing, the Appeals Chamber not only corrects the legal error, but, when necessary, applies the 

correct legal standard to the evidence contained in the trial record and determines whether it is itself 

convinced beyond reasonable doubt as to the factual finding challenged by the appellant before that 

finding may be confirmed on appeal. 15 

10. As regards errors of fact, it is well established that the Appeals Chamber will not lightly 

overturn findings of fact made by a Trial Chamber: 

Where the Defence alleges an erroneous finding of fact, the Appeals Chamber must give dcierence 
to the Trial Chamber that received the evidence at trial, and it will only interfere in those findings 
whe,e no reasonable trier of fact could have reached Ih~ same finding or where the finding is 
wholly erroneous. Furthermore. the erroneous finding will be revoked or revised only jf the eu-or 
occasioned a miscarriage of justice.16 

11. A party cannot merely repeat on appeal arguments that did not succeed at trial, unless it can 

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber's rejection of those arguments constituted an error warranting 

the intervention of the Appeals Chamber .17 Arguments, which do not have the potential to cause the 

impugned decision to be reversed or revised may be immediately clismissed by the Appeals 

Chamber and need not be considered on the merits. 18 

ia See Muvunyi Appeal Judgement. para. 8. See alr!o Martic Appeal Judgement, para. g_ 
14 See Muvunyi Appeal Judgement, para. 9 citing NtaldrutimQ.71,(l Appeal Judgement, para. 11 (citations omitted). 
15 See Martic Appeal Judgement, para. 10. 
16 Mu;vunyi Appeal Judgement. para. 10 citing Krstic Appeal Judgement, para. 40 (citations omitted)_ 
11 See Muvurryi Appeal Judgement, para. 11. See also Martic! Appeal Judgement. para. 14. 
111 See Muvunyi Appeal Judgement, para. 11. See aL<10 Orie Appeal Judgement, para. 13. 

3 
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12. In order for the Appeals Chamber to assess arguments on appeal, the appealing party must 

provide precise references to relevant transcript pages or paragraphs in the decision or judgement to 

which the challenge is made.19 Further, the Appeals Chamber cannot be expected to consider a 

party's submissions in detail if they are obscure. contradictory, vague. or suffer from other formal 

and obvious insufficiencies. Finally, the Appeals Chamber has inherent discretion in selecting 

which submissions merit a detailed reasoned opinion in writing and will dismiss arguments which 

are evidently unfounded without providing detailed reasoning. 20 

19 Practice Direction on Formal Requitelllenls for Appeals from Judgement, para. 4(b). See Muvunyi Appeal Judgement, 
rra.12. 

See Muvunyi Appeal Judgement, para. 12. Se.e also Martic Appeal Judgement, para. 14. 
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ID. ALLEGED GENERAL ERRORS IN THE ASSESSMENT OF THE 

EVIDENCE (GROUND OF APPEAL 2, IN PART) 

13. In his Second Ground of Appeal.21 the Appellant submits that in its assessment of the 

evidence, the Trial Chamber committed ~'numerous errors of law" that invalidate the Trial 

Judgement and made erroneous factual findings occasioning a miscaniage of justice. 22 Specifically, 

he contends that the Trial Chamber erred by applying incorrect standards of law in its assessment of 

bis testimony and in considering conflicting, hearsay, circumstantial, and uncorroborated 

evidence. 23 He further alleges several errors related to the Trial Chamber's conduct of a site visit. 24 

14. The Appeals Chamber will address the Appellant's arguments in turn.25 

A. Alleged General Errors in the Assessment of the Appellant's Testlmony 

15. The Appellant contends (i) that special rules should apply to the assessment of an accused's 

testimony and that the Trial Judgement did not provide a reasoned opinion in this respect; and (ii) 

that the Trial Chamber erred in law by failing to conclude that the portions of his testimony on 

which the Prosecution did not cross-examine him were established. 

1. Rules Applicable to the Assessment of an Accused's Testimony and Provision of a Reasoned 

Opinion 

16. Relying on Canadian case law, the Appellant first avers that "special rules for the 

assessment of evidence that flow from the presumption of jnnocence apply when an accused 

chooses to testify in his own trial".26 In such a situation, Judges should first evaluate the accused's 

credibility, then state whether they believe him, and, if applicable, explain why they are satisfied 

beyond reasonable doubt of his guilt despite c,ontradictory evidence.27 In the Appellant's view, such 

21 Notice of Appeal, paras. 16-45; Appellant's Btief, paras. ~6. 
22 Notice of Appeal, para. 17. 
23 The Appellant also gives notice that he intends to detail under each ground of appeal the factual and legal errors in 
the Trial Judgement (Appellant's Brief, para.. 46). In the Appellant's Brief (paras. 7, 15, 30) and in the Brief in Reply 
(paras. 9, 11, 12, 14, 17, 87), the Appellant additionally alleges general errors in the assessment of his defence of alibi. 
The Appeals Chamber notes that in his Notice of Appeal, the Appellant does not allege such errors under the Second 
Ground of Appeal, but under the Eighth Ground of Appeal (Notice of Appeal, paras. 221-239). The Appeals Chamber 
will therefore consider all the Appellant's arguments related t~ the ahbi bc]ow under Chapter IX. 
24 Appellant's Brief, paras. 41-46. ) 
25 The followjng two arguments will be addressed below in! Chapter VIII: (i) The allegation that the Trial Chamber 
ened in law by failing lO consider that -il.s finding that the AP,pcllant held pacification meetings was incompatible with 
the Prosecution's allegations relating to bis participation in~1 tings encouraging crimes in Rushasbi and those relating 
to murders or incitement to commit murder. Appc11ant's B · ·, para. 27, referring to Trial Judgement. paras. 417, 316-, 
456. Appellant's Brief, para. 29. See also Brief in Reply, par 

1 
• 77, 78; and (ii) the Appellant's contention that the Trial 

Chamber's reasons for rejecting his testimony, at paragraph r6 of the Trial Judgement, axe inadequat.e and constitute 
an error oflaw. AppcllaIJt's Brief, para. 21. 
26 Appellant's Brief. para. 14; Notice of Appeal, pa.ca. 29. 
27 Notice of Appeal, para. 29; Appellant's Brief, paras. 14, 15, 18, 19; Brief in Reply, para. 84. 
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a procedure prevents the Judges from unduly shifting the burden of proof to the accused and from 

erroneously examining whether the accused's testimony raises a reasonable doubt regarding the 

charges against him.211 He emphasizes that such an approach js supported by the Appeals Chamber's 

holding in Muhimana. to the effect that "[a]n accused does not need to prove at trial that a crime 

'could not have occurred' or •preclude the possibility that it could occur"'. 29 

17. The Appellant next submits that in order for a convicted person to understand the reasons 

supporting his conviction, the Trial Judgement should set out clearly why the Trial Chamber 

accepted or rejected certain allegations and the accused's explanations about them.30 He states that 

"the main criticism against the Trial Chamber is not only that it failed to provide adequate reasons 

for its :findings, but also that it failed to explain why it did not believe Karera' s evidence on 

practically all the facts alleged against him".31 Relying again on Canadian case law, he contends 

that such a failure constitutes an error of law.32 

18. The Prosecution responds that the Appellant's submissions are presented "jn very general 

terms" and that they do not establish that the Trial Chamber disregarded its obligation to provide a 

reasoned opinion or committed an error capable of affecting the Trial Judgement. 33 It submits that a 

proper reading of the Trial Judgement shows that the Trial Chamber considered and evaluated the 

Appellant's testimony together with the evidence called by both the Prosecution and the Defence.34 

The Prosecution further contends that the Trial Cb.amber provided clear, reasoned :findings of fact 

as to each element of each crime charged, as required by the Tribun'.31' s jurisprudence. 35 

19. Regarding the Appellant's contention that special rules should apply when assessing an 

accused's testimony, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Tribunal's Chambers are not bound by 

national rules of evidence or national case law.36 While "[t]here is a fundamental difference 

between being an accused, who might testify as a witness if he so chooses, and a witness",37 this 

does not imply that the rules applied to assess the testimony of an accused are different from those 

applied with respect to the testimony of an "ordinary witness". A trier of fact shall decide which 

witness's testimony to prefer, without necessarily articulating every step of its reasoning in reaching 

28 Appellant's Brief. paras. 16-18; Brief in Reply, paras. 86, 87. 
2

~ Appellant's "Stief, para. 17, citing Muhimana Appca1 Judgement, para.. 18. 
30 Appellant's Brief, paras. 7, 8. 
31 ApPellant's Brief, para. 22. 
32 Appellant's Bxief, paras. 22-24; Notice of Appeal, para. 31. 
33 Rr;z;pondcnt's Brief, para. 58. 
34 Respondent's Brief, paras. 60-62, 69. 
35 Respondent's Brief, para. 59. 
36 Rule 89(A) of tlJ.e Rules of Procedure and Evidence of the Tribunal ("Rules"); The Prosecutor v. Edouard Karemera 
et al., Case No. JCTR-98-44-AR73.8, Decision on IntedOC\ltory Appeal Regarding Witness Proofing, 11 May 20m, 
paras. 7, 11. 
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this decision. 38 In so doing, as for any witness, a trier of fact is required to determine the overall 

credibility of an accused testifying at bis own trial39 and then assess the probative value of the 

accused's evidence in the context of the totality of the evidence.40 There is no requirement in the 

Tribunal's jurisprudence that the accused's credibility be assessed first and in isolation from the rest 

of the evidence in the case. 

20. Furthermore, it i.s settled jurisprudence that every accused has the right to a reasoned 

opinion under Article 22 of the Statute and Rule 88(C) of the Rules.41 A reasoned opinion ensures 

that the accused can exercise his right of appeal and that the Appeals Chamber can carry out its 

statutory duty under Article 24 of the Statute.42 However, the reasoned opinion requirement relates 

to the Trial Judgement as a whole rather than to each submission made at trial.43 Indeed, 

the Trial Chamber is not under the obligation to justify iu; findings in relation to every submission 
made during the trial. The Appeals Chamber recalls 1hal. it is in the discretion of tb.e Trial Chamber 
as to which legal arguments to address. With regard Lo the factual findings, the Trial Chamber is 
required only Lo make findings of those facts which are essential to tbe determina.1.ion of guilt on a 
particular count. It is not necessary to refc.,-r to the testimony of every witness or every piece of 
evidence on the trial record. It is to be presumed that the Trial Chamber ev:uuated all the evidence 
presented to it, as long as there is no indication that the Trial Chamber completely disregarded any 
particular piece of evidence. There may be an indication of disregard when evidence which is 
clearly relevant Lo the findings is not addressed by the Trial Chamber's rca.sorung, but not every 
inconsistency which the Trial Chamber failed to discuss renders its opinion defective. [ ... J If the 
Trial Chamber did not refer Lo the evidence given by a witness. even if it is in contradiction to the 
Trial Chamber's finding, it is to be presumtxl !hat the Trial Chamber assessed and wei,¼ted the 
evidence, but found thal the evidence did not prevent it from arriving at its acrual .findings. 

Additionally, a Trial Chamber does not need to set out in detail why ·it accepted or rejected a 

particular testimony.45 This is equally applicable to all evidence,' including that tendered by the 

accused person. 

21. A review of the Trial Judgement reveals that the Trial Chamber did consider the Appellant's 

testimony and made assessments of the probative value of that evidence.46 It was not obliged to 

37 Galic Appeal Judgemeot, para. 17; Kvoc1w. Appeal I\ld.gement, para. 125; Prlic et al. Decision of 5 September 2008, 

~11-
8 Kupreskic et td. Appeal Judgement, para. 32. 

39 Ntakirutima:na Appeal Judgement, p~ 391, citing Mu.mna Appeal Judgement, para. 50. 
40 See Mu.rema Appeal Judgement, para. SO (regarding tbe assessment of documentary evidence tendered by an accused 
in support of bis alibi); Muhimana Appeal Judgement, para. 19. 
41 Muvunyi Appeal Judgement, para. 144, citini Simba Appeal Judgement, para. 152; Kamuhanda Appeal Judgement, 
f:iara. 32; Kajelijeli Appeal Judgement, para. 59; Semanza Appeal Judgement., paras. 130, 149. 

See, e.g., Iimaj et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 8 J. 
43 Limaj et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 81; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 23. 
44 Kvocka ~, al. Appeal Judgement, pllnl. 23 (citations omitted); s;mba Appeal Judgement., para. 152; Ntagerura et al. 
Appeal Judgcment, para. 206; Niyitegeka Appeal Judgement, para. 124; Kajelijeli Appeal Judgement. para. 60; Mu.rema 
Appeal Judgement, paras. 18-20; limaj et aL Appeal Judgement, para. 81; Naletilic and Martinovic Appeal Judgement, 
~ara. 603. 

Muhimana Appeal Judgement, para. 99; Simba Appeal Judgement, para. 152; Musema Appeal Judgement, paras. 18-
20. 
46 See, inter alia, Trial Judgement., pai:as. 30, 34, 48, 49, 64, 65, 72, 73, 104, 133, 275-278, 309, 342-345, 373, 390-394, 
402, 406, 415,430,448, 463~466, 479-481. 515,516. 
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systematically justify why it rejected each pa.rt of that evidence. The Appellant's claim that the Trial 

Chamber erred by failing to explain why it did not believe him is therefore dismissed. 

2. Alleged Error concerning Inferences that the Trial Chamber Should Have Drawn from the 

Prosecution's Absence of Cross-Examination of the Appellant 

22. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law in failing to conclude that tb.ose 

portions of his testimony that the Prosecution did not cross-examine were established. 47 Referring 

to Rule 90(G)(ii) of the Rules, the Rutaganda Appeal Judgement, 43 and Canadian jurisprodence, he 

submits that the .. failure to cross-examine a witness on an aspect of his testimony implies a tacit 

acceptance of the truth of the witness's evidence on the matter ... 49 The Appellant also contends that 

the Trial Chamber's failure to provide a reasoned opinion on this question constitutes an error of 

law, since he cannot ascertain the Trial Chamber's reasons for disbelieving him.50 

23. The Prosecution responds that it was open to the Trial Chamber not to draw a negative 

inference from the Prosecution's decision not to cross-exa.mjne the Appellant on certain details of 

his testimony where he repeated his denial of the allegations against him.51 In this respect. the 

Prosecution recalls that the Trial Chamber already heard the parties' arguments on this issue and 

ruled that "the Prosecution is under no obligation to cross-examine the Accused on all aspects of its 

case".52 

24. The Appeals Chamber finds that Rule 90(G)(ii) of th~ Rules does not support the 

Appellant's contention. The rule merely states that "[i]n the cross-examination of a witness who is 

able to give evjdence relevant to the case for the cross-examining party, counsel shall put to that 

witness the nature of the case of the party for whom that counsel appears which is in contradiction 

of the evidence given by the witness.'' The ICTY Appeals Chamber has previously stated, regarding 

the similarly worded Rule 90(H)(ii) of the ICTY Rules, that it: 

seeks to facilitate the fltir and efficient presentation of evidence whilst affording the witness being 
cross-examined the possibility of explaining himself on those aspects of his testimony contradicted 
by the opposing party's evidence, so saving the witness from having to reappear needlessly in 

47 Notice of Appeal, para. 25. The authoritative French version of this paragraph reads: "La Chambre d4. premiere 
instance a err, en droit en {n.e.] concluant pas que l.e.r portioru du tel'IWigna.ge de l'appelant sur lesquelles il n'avait pas 
ete contre-interroge devrai.ent etre tenues pour averee.,." The English translation inaccurately reads: ''The Trial 
Chamber erred in law in finding that tbose portions of the Appellant's testimony on which he was not cross-examined 
were to be considered established", while it should n:a.d; "The Trial Chamber erred in law in not fincllng that those 
portions of lhe Appellant's testimony on which he was not cross-examined were to be considered established". 
~ellant' s Brief, paras. 25, 26. 
48 Rutaganda Appeal Judgement, para. 310. 
4/.J Appellant's Brief, para.. 26 (citation omitted); Notice of Appeal, para. 26. 
so Appellant's Brief, para. 26. 
:H Respondent's Brief, para. 67. 
52 Respondcnfs Brief, para. 67, quoting Trial Judgement, para. 191, andfn. 250. 
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order to do so and enabling the Triitl Chamber .to evaluate the credibility of his testimony more 
accurately owing to the explanation of the witness or W.S counsel. s) 

~013 

25. The central purpose of this rule is to "promote the fairness of the· proceedings by enabling 

the witness[ ... ] to appreciate the context of th:Ioss-examining party's questions, and to comment 

on the contradictory version of the events in qu1on ... 54 

26. For the requirements of this rule to be fulfilled, there is no need for the cross-e::ramining 

party to explain every detail of the contradictory evidence. Furthermore, the rule allows for some 
I 

flexibility depending on the circumstances at trial. 55 This therefore implies that if it is obvious in the 
' 

circumstances of the case that the version of the witness is being challenged, there is no need for the 

cross-examining party to waste time puttinglits case co the witness.56 
' 

27. The Appeals Chamber notes that the term, •'witness" under Rule 90 of the Rules does not 

always equate to an accused who chooses t~ testify. There is a fundamental difference between the 

accused, who might testify as a witness if 1he so chooses, and a witness. The Tribunal "does not 

reflexively apply rules governing any other witness to an accused who decides to testify in his own 

case". 57 When an accused testifies in bis 'own defence, he is well aware of the context of the 

Prosecution's questions and of the Prosecuti,on's case, insofar as he has received sufficient notice of 

the charges and the material facts suppo~ng them..511 Furthermore, the accused's version of the 

events is for the most part challenged by the Prosecution, while bis testimony is aimed at 

responding to Prosecution's evidence and allegations. In these circumstances, it would serve no 

useful purpose to put the nature of the Pros~ution' s case to the accused in cross-examination. The 

Appeals Chamber therefore does not find tliat Rule 90(G)(il) of the Rules was intended to apply to 

an accused testifying as a witness in bis own case. The Appeals Chamber notes that, in any event, 

53 Prosecutor v. Radoslav f$rdanin and Momir Tali.c, 'case No. IT-99-36-AR73.7, Decision on the Inrerlocutoxy Appeal 
~ainst a Decision of the Trial Chamber, as of Right, b June 2002. p. 4. 
5 On this is.sue. the Appeals Chamber approves of the langua..,ae used by the Trial Chamber in Proslcutor "· Vujadin 
Popovic et al., Case No. IT-05-88-T, Order Setting Forth Guidelines for tho Procedure Under Rule 90(.H)(ii), 6 March 
2007 (•'Popovi6 Order"), para. 1. : 
3' On this issue, the Appeals Chamber approves of the language used by the Trial Chamber in Prosecutor v. Radoslav 
Br4anin. and Momir Talic, 'Case No. IT~99-36-T, Decision on "Motion to Declare Rule 90(H) (ii) Void to the Extent It 
Is in Violation of Article 21 of the Statute of the lrit.emational Tribunal" by the Accused :R.a.doslav Brdanin and on 
"Rule 90(H) (il) Submissioos" by the Accused Momi.r Talic, 22 'Maich 2002 ("Brda.nin. Decision"), paras. 13, 14; 
Prosecutor v. Na.rer Orie, Case No. IT-03-68-T, !Decision on Partly Confidential Defence Motion Regarding the 
Consequences of a Party Failing to Put lts Case 10 Witnesses Pursuant to Rule 90(H)(ii). 17 January 2006, pp. 1-2; 
Popovic Order, para. 2. ; 
56 The:: Appeals Chamber notes that the case of Browne v. Dunn (on which the Brdan.iri Decision, confumed by the 
Appeals Chamber, relies) statc::s that the requil'emcnt ~o put the case to the wilncss does l."IOt apply when it is "otherwise 
pcrfect1y clear that be ha'l had full notice beforehand that there is an intention to impeach the credibility of the story 
which he is telling. Of course I do not deny for a moment that there are cases in which that notice has been so distinctly 
and unmistakably given, and the poinc upon which be is impeached, and is to be impeached, is so manifest, that lt is not 
necessary to waste time in putting question., to him upon it". Brawne v. Dunn (1893) 6 R. 67 (HL.). 
51 Prlit et al, Decision of 5 September 2008, para. 11. 
51 The question of the lack of notice will be treated separately by the Appeals Chamber , see below Chapter VJII(D) and 
ChapterX.. 
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Rule 90(G)(ii) of the Rules is silent on any inferences that may be drawn by a Trial Chamber from a 

witness's testimony that is not subject to cross-examination. 

28. The Appeals Chamber further notes that the relevant holding of the Appeals Chamber in 

Rutaganda reads: 

La Chambre d'appel estime que, d'uru: rnaniere generale, une pa.rtie qui ne contre•interroge pas 
un timoin sur un.e declaration donnle admet tacitement la veracite de la deposition dud.it thn.oin 
sur ce point. La Chambre de premiere irutance n'au.rait done pas comm.is une erreur de droit en 
l'espece, en induisant du fait que l'Appelant n'avait pas contre-interroge le timojn Q sur la 
distribution d'annes, q1u: celui-d ne contestait pas la veracite de la deposition dudit temoi,i sur ce 
point. Ceci etant dit, il ne re.rsort pas clairement du Jugement que la Chambre de premiere 
instance est e.ffectivement parvenue a un.e telle conclusion. n semble plut8t qu. 'elle .re soit limitee a 
noter que l'Appelant n'avait pas contre-interrogi le temoin Q sur 'la question visee, sans toutefois 
en tirer quelque.r consequences que ce soit dan.r ses conclusions factuelles. De l'avis de la 
Chamb,·e d' appel, cet argument est depaurvu de fondement 59 

29. The Appeals Chamber recalls that in Kamuhando., the Appeals Chamber stated that this 

holding in Rutaganda "does not stand for the proposition that a trier of fact must infer that 

statements not challenged during cross-examination are true.'' and that it is withfo the discretion of 

a Trial Chamber to decline to make such an inference. 60 Thus, Che Appeals Chamber emphasizes 

that a Trial Chamber has the discretion to infer (or not) as true statements unchallenged during 

cross-examination, and to ta1ce into account the absence of cross-examination of a particular witness 

when assessing his credibility.61 

30. The Appeals Chamber notes that in this instance, the Appellant, who testified at the end of 

the case, had consistently denied the allegations against · him throughout the proceedings and 

claimed that he did not know anything about the crimes alleged.62 The Prosecution cross~examined 

the Appellant on a number of issues.63 Under this sub~gi-ound of appeal, the Appellant has failed to 

point to any finding allegedly affected by the lack of cross-examination by the Prosecution but 

59 Ruta&anda Appeal Judgement., para. 310 (footnote omitted). The Appeals Chamber notes that the English version 
does not accurately reflect the French authoritative version_ The English version reads: "The Appea.ls Cham.bet 
considers that a party who fails to cross-examine a witness upon a particu1ar statement Llleitly accepts the truth of the 
witness's evidence on the matter. Therefore the Trial Chamber did not commit an enor of law in the case at bar, in 
infeuing thaI the Appellant's failure to cross-examine Witness Q on the w~apons distribution meant that he did not 
challenge the truth of the wjtness•s evidence on the ma.u.cr. That being said, it is unclear from the Trial Judgement 
whether the Trial Chamber drew inferences from this failure. Rather, it appears that it only noted that the Appellant 
failed to cross-examine Witness Q regarding the specific statement, without making any inferences in its factual 
conclusions. It is the opinion of the Appeals Chamber that this argument is without foundation." In order to fully reflect 
the nuances introduced by the Appeals Chamber in its finding., the English translation of the f"ll"st two sentences of this 
paragraph should read: "The Appoals Chamber considers that, [in general], a pany who fails to cross-ex.amine a 
witness upon a particular statetnent tacitly accepts the truth of the witnoss's evidence on Lhc matter. Therefore tbe Trial 
Chamber [would have] not coIIIIIrit[t~ an error of law in the case at bar, in inferring that the Appellant's failure to 
cross-examine Witness Q on the weapons distribution meant that be did not challenge the truth of the witness's 
evidence on Ihc matter." 
60 Kamuharuia. Appeal Judgement. para. 204-
61 Kajelijeli Appeal Judgement, para. 26; Nalwnana et aL Appeal Judgement, paras. 820, 824 and fn. 1893. 
62 T. 21 August 2006; T. 22 August 2006; T. 23 August 2006_ 
63 T. 22August2006pp_ 31-6l; T. 23 August 2006 pp. 1-44. 
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600/A 
merely makes a general reference to his oral arguments at trial.64 In these circumstances, the 

Appellant has not demonstrated that the Trial ChambeT committed an error of law in not 

considering as established those portions of bis testimony on which the Prosecution did not cross­

examine him. 65 

3 L The Appeals· Chamber further declines to consider the unsubstantiated assertion made by the 

Appellant with respect to the lack of a reasoned opinion on this point. 

32. For the foregoing Teasons, this sub-ground of appeal is dismissed. 

B. Alleged Errors in the Assessment of Circumstantial Evidence 

33. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber committed •'many errors of law in its 

assessment of circumstantial evidence". 66 J:Ie argues that "[ w ]hen the [Prosecution] relies on 

circumstantial evidence to prove an allegation, the guilt of the accused must be the only possible 

inference to be drawn from that evidence.''67 He contends that the Trial Chamber "disregarded 

many cultural and social factors which could have shed a different light on the evidence, and based 

on which it could have made different findings.'.68 He also contends that a "quick analysis of the 

evidence [ ... ] in relation to all the Trial Chamber's findings shows that a reasonable trier of fact 

could never have drawn the factual conclusions that the Trial Chamber drew". 69 

34. It is well established that a conclusion of guilt can be inferred from circumstantial evidence 

only if it is the only reasonable conclusion available from the evidence.70 Whether a Trial Chamber 

infers the existence of a particular fact upon which the guilt of the accused depends from direct OT 

circumstantial evidence, it must reach such a conclusion beyond reasonable doubt. If there is 

another conclusion which is also reasonably open from that evjdence, and which is consistent with 

the non-existence of that fact, the conclusion of guilt beyond reasonable doubt cannot be drawn. 71 

64 See Notice of Appeal, paras. 24-26; Appellant's Brief, paras. 25, 26. 
65 Any specific arguments raised by the Appellant in relation to this allegation will be dealt with below in the respective 
Chapters. 
66 Notice of Appeal, para. 33. 
<n Appellant's Brief, para. 32, referring to Nahim.ana Appeal Judgement, para. 524, Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, 
fglll"as. 306, 399, and Mpambara Trial Judgement, para. 163; Notice of Appeal, para. 34. 

Notice of Appeal. para.. 35. 
69 Notice of Appeal. para.,36. 
70 Ntagerura et aL Appeal Judgement,yara. 306. See also Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 221; Nahimana et al. 
Appeal Judgement., paras. 524, 906; Celebici Appeal Judgement. para. 458; Stakid Appeal Judgement, para. 219; 
Vasiljevi.c Appeal Judgement, para. 120; Krstic Appeal Judgement, para. 41; Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 
237. . 
71 Ntageru.ra et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 306. See also Cekbici Appeal Judgement. para. 458; Stakic Appeal 
Judgement, para. 219. 
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35. Under this sub-ground of appeal, however, the Appellant merely makes general allegations 

regarding the Trial Chamber's assessment of circumstantial evidence without substantiating them or 

providing any reference to the Trial Judgement. Therefore this sub-ground of appeal is dismissed. 72 

C. Alleged Err-ors in the Assessment of Hearsay Evidence 

36. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber systematically erred in giving hearsay 

evidence weight or probative value contrary to the standard developed by the ICTY in the 

Aleksov:ski Decision, according to which ''the weight or probative value to be afforded to that 

evidence will usually be less than that given to the testimony of a witness who has given it under a 

form of oath and who has been cross-examined, although even this will depend upon the infinitely 

variable circumstances which surrolll'.ld hearsay evidence".73 He argues, in this respect, that the Trial 

Chamber erred in fact by giving weight to evidence that a reasonable trier of fact could simply not 

have considered, 74 and by disregarding "a good deal of evidence" favourable to him. which it should 

have accepted.75 He further argues that the Trial Chamber erred in law in failing to justify, in many 

instances, why it preferred hearsay evidence to the Appellant's uncontraclicted testimony.76 

37. The Prosecution disputes the Appellant's allegations that the Trial Chamber did not assess 

hearsay evidence properly, and notes that the Appellant did not point to any specific example or 

show how the Trial Chamber erred. 77 It contends that in such circumstances, it is sufficient to note 

that the Trial Chamber cautiously assessed hearsay· evidence in accordance with the Tribunal's 
. . d 1s Junspru ence. 

38. The Appellant replies that with respect to the allegations concerning events in Nya:mirambo, 

the Trial Chamber erred in preferring second or third-degree hearsay evidence to the Appellant's 

corroborated and un-contradicted testimony_79 He also submits that neither the Trial Chamber nor 

the Prosecution provided justification for this preference. 80 

72 The Appeals Chamber will address separately the Appellant's arguments relared to the assesSlllcnt of circumstantial 
evidence that have been raised with greater specificity under other grounds. See below Chapter IV_ 
73 Notice of Appeal, paras. 38-40; Appellant's Brief, paras. 33, 34, citing Aleksovski Decision, para. 15 (citation 
omitted); Brief in Reply, paras. 33, 34, also citing Aleksovski Decision, para. 15 (citation o.mined). 
74 Notice of Appeal, pl!I'a.. 40. 
75 Notice of Appeal, para.. 39; Appellant's Brief, paras. 33, 34. 
76 Appellant's Brief, para.. 35. 
77 Respondent's Brief, para .. 63. 
78 Respondent's Brief, para.. 63. 
,s, Brief in Reply, para. 33. 
Ho Brief in Reply, paras. 33, 3S. 
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39. It is we]l established that, as a matter of law, it is permissible to base a conviction 011 

hearsay evidence. 81 A Trial Chamber has the discretion to cautiously consider hearsay evidence82 

and bas the discretion to rely on it.83 While the weight and probative value to be afforded to that 

evidence will usually be less than that accorded to the evidence of a witness who has given it under 

oath and who has been cross.-examined, it irill depend upon "the htfinitely variable circumstances 

which surround hearsay evidence''. 84 Thus, the fact that the evidence regarding a specific event is 

hearsay evidence does not in itself suffice to render it not credible or unreliable. 1:15 The source of 

information,86 the precise character of the information,87 and the fact that other evidence 

corroborates the hearsay evidence88 are relevant criteria in assessing the weight or probative value 

of hearsay evidence. In any event, it is for the appealing party to demonstrate that no reasonable 

trier of fact could have relied upon hearsay evidence in reaching a specific finding.89 

40. The Appeals· Chamber rejects the unsubstantiated and vague contentions made under this 

sub-ground of appeal that the Trial Chamber systematically erred in its assessment of hearsay 

evidence, that it failed to provide a reasoned opinion in relation to its assessment of hearsay 

evidence, and that it also failed to explain why it relied upon that evidence and disregarded 

evidence favourable to the Appellant 

41. Furthermore, ·the Appeals Chamber finds no merit in the Appellant's contention that the 

Trial Cb.amber erred in preferring hearsay testimony to the Appellant's uncontradicted testimony. 

· Contrary to the Appellant's assertion,90 bis testimony denying bis participation in all of the crimes 

was challenged by ~osec~tion evidence and was thus contradicted.91 As noted above, the fact that 
the evidence regarding a specific event is hearsay evidenpe does not in itself suffice to render it not 

credible or llllreliable.92 Such an assessment will depend, upon the particular circumstances of each 

case. 

I 
81 Muvurryi Appeal Judgement, para. 70; Muhimo.na Appeal Judgement, para. 49; Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement, para. 
115. : : 
1r2 Rutaganda Appeal Judgemei,1t, para. 34; Ndin.dabaliizi Appeal Judgement, para. 115; Akaycsu Appeal Judgement, 
gu:as. 288,289,292. : : 

Nahimana. et aL Appeal Jti4gement, para. 831; Akayesu Appeal Judgement, para. 292; Naletilic! and Martinovic! 
Appeal Judgement, para.. 217. \ 
114 Alekrovski Decision. para. 15,1 
¥S See, e.g., Nahimana. et al. Appeal Judgement, paras, 21.5, 473. 
116 Naltimmia et aL Ap¢.al Ju~ge:ment, para. 831; Ndindabahizi Appeal Judgement, para. 115 (about "unverifiable 
hearsay'' evidence); Se~w Appeal Judgement, para. 159; R.utaganda Appeal Judgement. paras. 154, 156, 159. 
r, Ndindo.bahiv Appeal Judge~t, para. 115. 
w Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement. para. 473 (for an illustration of hearsay tc..~timonies corroborating each other); 
Gacu»ibitsi Appeal Judgement, para. 115. 
B!l Nahimana et al Appeal Judgement, para. 509 (concerning second~dcgree hearsay evidence); Semanza Appeal 
Judgement, para. 159; NaJetilic and Martint>viGr Appeal Judgement, paras. 217, 218. 
90 Appellant's 'Brief, pa:ra.i35; B:tiefm Reply, paras. 33, 35. 
!It See, e.g., Trial Judgement, pm;as. l l.0-122, 40lr417, 431-438, 499-510. 
92 See supra para. 39. ! 
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42. For the foregoing reasons, this sub-ground of appeal is dismissed. 

D. Alleged Errors in the Assessment of Uncorroborated Evidence 

43. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law by applying the Tribunal's 

jurfaprudence on corroboration erratically and by failing to provide a reasoned opinion in relation to 

the corroboration of evidence.93 He contends that "the allegations of many witnesses should have 

been discounted" on this ground.94 The Appellant argues that the possibility of collusion between 

witnesses could constitute a siruation where corroboration is required.95 In this respect, he alleges 

that the Trial Ch~ber erred by not requiring corroboration of the allegations made by four 

Prosecution witnesses concerning the events in Ntarama despite its observation of the possibility of 

collusion among them.96 He al.so submits that a lack of reasoned opinion in the Trial Judgement 

makes it impossible to know the basis to believe, or not, uncorroborated evidence, "the level of 

corroboration required [- .. ] and what is considered as corroborating evidence. "97 

44. 'The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber consistently indicated where the evidence 

was corroborated, and where corroboration was required in relation to the Appellant's presence at 

the crime scene and his participation in the crimes alleged_ 98 

45. The Appeals Chamber recalls that a Trial Chamber has the discretion to decide, in the 

circumstances of each case, whether corroboration of evidence is necessary99 and to rely on 

uncorroborated, but •otherwise credible, witness testimony.100 'fh:erefore, a Trial Chamber may, 

depending on its ass~ssment, rely on a single witness's testimony for the proof of a material fact. 101 

It may thus convict an accused on the basis of evidence from a sfogle witness, although such 

evidence must be assessed with appropriate caution.101 Any appeal based on the absence of 

!1
3 Appellant's Brief, paras. 36, 39. 

94 Notice of Appeal, para.· 42. 
95 Appellant's Brief, paras. 37, 38. 
llei Appellant's Brief, para, 40. 
In Appellant's Brief, para.• 39. 
!Ill Respondent's Brief, para. 6S, referring to Trial Judgement, paras. 174,215, 219, 366, 552--561. The Appeals Chamber 
observes that the reference to para.graphs 552-561 is obviously incorrecL 
99 Muhimana Appeal Judgement, para. 49; .Kajelijeli Appeal Judgement, para. 170, citing Niyitegeka Appeal Judgement. 
fcara. 92; Rutaganda Appeal Judgement, para. 29. 

00 MIMm)'i Appeal Judgfll)ent, para. 128; Muhimana Appeal Judgement, pans. 101, 120, 159, 207; NahinUUla et al 
Appeal Judgement, paras .. 547, 633, 810. 
1° Kajelijeli Appeal Judgemcmt, :eara.. 170, citing Nzyitegelw. Appeal Judgement, para.. 92; Sem~ Appeal Judgement, 
para. 153. See al.r() Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 274, citing KupreJkic et al. Appeal Judgement. para. 
33. , 
102 Kordic und Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 274. In Kordirf and Cerkez, the Appeals Chamber also held that "care 
must be taken to guard a~ainst the exercise of an underlying motive on the part of the witness." Kordic and Cerkez 
Appeal Judgement, para. 274. See also Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 203. In Ntagerura et al., the Appeals 
Chamber confumed that! ·'considering that accomplice witnesses may have motives o~ incentives to implicate the 
accused perso.o. before the Tribunal, a Chamber, when weighing the probative value of such evidence, is bound to 
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corroboration must #ierefore necessarily be against the weight attached by the Trial Chamber to the 

evidence in questiotj.103 

46. Toe Appeals! Chamber dismisses the assertions made by the Appellant under this subwground 

of appeal as general: and unsubstantiated. The Appellant's submission relating to possible collusion 

between the four Prosecution witnesses testifyfog aboui the events in Ntarama104 will be addressed 

below.105 

4 7. For the foregoing reasons, this subwground of appeal is dismissed. 

E. Alleged Errors relating to the Observations Made during the Site Visit 

48. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law by failing to provide the factual 

findings arising from. the site visit, thus denying him the opportunity to present a full defence, as 

well as the right to an inte1ligible judgement. 106 The Appellant further submits that the Trial 

Chamber erred in fact by making factual findings which are contrary to the observations it made 
I 

during its site visit~ Rwanda from 1 to 3 November 2006.107 He argues that observations made 
I 

during the site visit brought to light certain details about the Ntarama area that are not revealed in 
I 

the Trial Judgement.103 He argues that, absent a proces-verbal. pictures or admissions. it is now 

impossible to use ~e observations made during the site visit to challenge the credibility of 

unreliable witnesses: and to demonstrate the Trial Chamber's errors in this respect. 109 He also 

contends that this p7events the Appeals Chamber from assessing the accuracy of the evidence 

collected during the site visit. 110 

49. - The Prosecuµon responds that the Appellant makes only vague assertions, without 

establishing how the :Trial Chamber erred by disregarding or omitting to consider any specific fact 

or observation, such as to make appellate intervention necessary .111 It avers that the Appellant failed 

to show any error of. law or fact in the Trial Chamber's assessment of witnesses' testimonies and 

the parties' submissions on the observations made during the site visit. n 2 The Prosecution further 

carefully consider the tobility of the circumstances in which it was tendered." Ntageru.ra et aL Appeal Judgement, para. 
204 (citation omitted). : 
103 Kordic and Cerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 274. 
104 Trial Judgement, paras. 250, 308, 313. 
105 See infra paras. 231-2~5. 
106 Appellant's Brief, _para:. 44. 
107 • f • ~1 I 3 44 Notice o Appc....., P~- 4., . 
108 Appellant's Brief, para!. 43. See al.so Appellant's Brief, para. 207; AT. :28 August 2008 p. 54. 
!Oil Appellant's Brief, pa.r'.a. 45; AT. 28 August 2008 pp. 12, 13. The Appellant submits that he was not obliged to 
request that minutes be taken during the site visit and that it was the obligation of the Trial Chamber to ensure that a 
r~t of the site visit be produced. AT. 28 August 2008 p. 13. 
JI Appellant's Brief, paraL 42; AT. 28 August 2008 p. 55. 
1 11 Respondent's Brief, para. 73. 
112 Respondent's Brief, para. 76. 
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I 

asserts that the Appellant does not establish that the failure to produce a separate report amounts to 

an error that could h.ii.ve any impact on the verdict. 113 

50. Turning to th~ Appellant's contention that the Trial Chamber erred in law by failing to keep 

records from the site visit, the Appeals Chamber first notes that at no time during the trial 

proceedings did the ;Appellant object to the absence of such materials.114 Moreover, the Appeals 

Chamber notes that :the Trial Chamber considered the parties' submissions on the observations 

made during the site :visit in reaching its findings, us and explained how its obsertations affected the 

assessment of the ev{dence.116 Therefore, the Appeals Chamber does not agree that, in relying on its 

observations, the Trial Chamber denied the AppeUant the right to present a full defence and to be 

provided with a reas?ned opinion. The Appeals Chamber emphasizes that detailed records of Trial 

Chamber's site visits should norm.ally be kept. The purpose of a site visit is to assist a Trial 
' 

Chamber in its determination of the issues and therefore it is incumbent upon the Trial Chamber to 

ensure that the parties are able to effectively review any findings made by the Trial Chamber in 

reliance on observati~ns made during the site visit.117 The Appeals Chamber however finds that in 

this case the Appellant has not demonstrated that he was prejudiced by his inability to challenge the 

Trial Chamber's obsc;:rvations and that the parties had the opportunity to make arguments based on 

their observations of: the site visit in their closing arguments and closing briefs to which the Trial 

Chamber referred in its Judgement. 118 

F. Conclusion 

51. Accordingly, the Second Ground of Appeal is dismissed in part. The remaining arguments 

presented in lhe Second Ground of Appeal will be-considered below under Chapter VII. 

m Respondent's Brief, P<lfa, 76; AT. 28 August 2008 pp. 41, 42. 
114 Toe Appeals Chamber 1observos that the Appellant CW1$ented without reservation to the site visiL See The Prosecutor 
v. Franfois Karera. Case, No. IcrR-2001-74-T, Defence Response to the Prosecutor's Motion fOT a View (Locus in 
~o) (Rules 4, 54, and 89:of the Rules of Pro~urc and Evidence), 12 May 2006. 
1 :s Trial Judgement., paras. 133, 159 (and fn. 217), 160 (and fu. 218), 161, 305. See also Prosecution Closing Brief, 
paras. 20, 24, 389, 418, 4S2, and fn. 414; Defence Closing Btief, paras. 93, 111, 184, 235, fns 255-256. 451; T. 23 
November 2006 pp. 7, 35~ 38, 40, 41, 53. 
116 TrialJudgement, paras; 133, 159. 160, 161, 305. 
117 Such records may take different forms and it will depend on the circumstances of the specific case to derenrine: 
which form will be :most appropriate. 
m See. Trial Judgement., p~as. 133, 159, 161. 
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IV. ALLEGED ERRORS RELATING TO THE FINDING THAT THE 
I 

' 
APPELLANT ACTED AS PREFECT DE FACTO IN ''KIGALI-RURAL', 

' BEFORE 17 APRIL 1994 (GROUND OF APPEAL 3) 
I 

52. The Trial Cb.amber found that, before his formal appointment as prefect of Kigali prefecture 

on 17 April 1994, the Appellant exercised at least some of the authority which would normally have 

been exercised by the prefect.119 It rejected the submission that he only exercised authority as sul:r 

prefect responsible for economic and technical affairs.120 

53. Under this ground of appeal, the Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding: 

(i) that the prefecture where he exercised authority was named •'Kigali-Rural"; (ii) that, under 

Rwandan law, the fo~er prefect, C~me Bizim.ungu ("Bizim.ungu"), was empowered to appoint him 

prefect ad interim; and (iii) that he acted as prefect de facto of "Kigali-Rural" before his official 

appointment to this post on 17 April 1994. 121 

54. The Appeals ~hamber will consider the Appellant's argumenrs in tum. 

I 
I 

A. Alleged Error :relating to the Official Designation of Kigali Pl"efecture in 1994 

55. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erred in designating •·Kigali-Rural" the 

prefecture where he successively exercised functions as sub-prefect and prefect, while in 1994, its 

official na.Jlle was Kigali prefecture.122 He contends that this error shows the superficial nature of 

the Trial Chamber's ~sessment of the evidence.123 

56. The Prosecution responds that this clahn is groundless.124 

57. The Appeals ~amber agrees with the Appellant that the Trial Chamber erred in designating 

the prefecture '~Kig~ Rural" as jt was officially named Kigali prefecture in 1994.12.S However, the 

Appellant has not sh~wn that this error adversely impacted the Trial Chamber's findings. 

58. Accordingly, this sub-ground of appeal is dismissed. 

119 Trial Judgemcmt. par3S;- 77. 247. 
120 Trial Judgement, para..:120. 
121 Notice of Appeal. patas. 46-74; Appellant's Brief, paras. 47, 48, 51, referring lo Exhibit D49, Rwandan Official 
Gazette, 15 October 1993; 
122 Notice of Appeal, paras. 48, 49; Appellant's Brief, para. 48. 
123 Notice of Appeal, paras. 50, 51. 
124 Respondent's Brief, para. 79. 
125 Exhibit :Pl4. 
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B. Alleged Error in Finding that Former Prefect C6me Bizimungu was Empowered to 
Appoint the Appellant Prefect Ad Interlm 

' 
59. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he exercised de. jure 

powers of the pref~r subsequent to bis "appointment" to this position by the former prefect 

Bizimungu on 24 A1jlgust 1993.126 He claims that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Article 12 

of Legislative De~ No. 10n5 of 11 March 1975 ("Legislative Decree No. 10n5") allowed 

Prefect Bizimungu to appoint a successor. !He contends that, pursuant to Legislative Decree No. 
: I ions, only the Pre~dent of the Republic c~uld appoint a prefect. 127 He argues that, in any event, 
: I 

since Bizimungu's P?Sition as prefect had ~n terminated on 4 August 1993, Bizimungu could not 

exercise any power after that date and consequently could not have appointed him prefect ad 

interim.128 

60. The Prosecution responds that the Appellant exercised functions de jl.(.re as prefect ad 

interim. 129 It recalls I the Trial Chamber's finding to the effect that, pursuant to Article 12 of 

Legislative Decree No. ions, Bizimungu was entitled to delegate some of bis powers as prefect 

after bis appointment to a new position.130 It further point'i to Defence Witness MZR's testimony 

that a prefect was !entitled to assign a sub-prefect for the coordination of the prefecture's 

activities.131 
. 

61. In a letter dated 24 August 1993, Bizimungu infonned the Appellant that he was ''hereby 

designated prefect ad interim of Kigali prefecture ·to continue to act as [he] did during. 

[Bi.zimungu's] leave which expires today''.132 The Appellant does not challenge the existence or 

authenticity of this letter. Rather, he denies having accepted this appointment and claims that 

Bizimungu was not l~gally empowered to appoint bim.133 No evidence has been presented to show 

that the Appellant formally accepted the appointmenL 

62_ The Trial Ch~ber rejected the Appellant's submissions and evidence that no one was 

appointed to replace Bizimungu before 17 April 1994 and that only the President had the power to 
I 

designate a prefect at! interim or an acting prefect.134 In so doing, it reasoned that "the Rwandan 
I 

legislation did not pr~vent Bizimungu from delegating certain official powers to [the Appellant] in 

126 Appellant's Brief, paras_ 49.52_ 
127 Notice of Appeal, paras, 53-56; Appellant's Brief, pat'as. 49-51; AT. 28 Augus~ 2008 p. 5_ 
128 Notice of Appeal, paras. 57, 58; Appellant's Brief, paras. 53, 62. 63; AT. 28 August 2008 p. 5. 
129 Respondent's Brief, para. 80. 
130 Respondent's Brief, para. 80. 
131 Respondent's Brief, para. 80. 
132 Exhibit Pl5, p. lQ_ : 
133 Appellant's Brief, paras. 51, 63; AT. 28 Au~st 2008 PP- 5-7. 
134 Trial Judgement, paras: 75, 76. 
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1nfi 
' 

August 1993" and ithat Articles 17 and 19 of Legislative Decree No. ions did not reserve the 
I 

competence to des~gnate '•a sub-prefect as an 'interim' or 'acting• prefect" exclusively to the 

President.J)S The Trial Chamber therefore implicitly found that Bizimungu was legally entitled to 

delegate his powers· or to appoint a prefect ad interim even after the termination of his appointment 

as prefect on 4 August 1993. 

63. The Appeals·: Chamber considers that nothing in Legislative Decree No. ions suggests that 

Bizimungu was enti~led to delegate prefectoral powers or to appoint a successor, even temporarily, 

after the terminati~n of his appointment. 136 However, the Trial Chamber's interpretation of 

Legislative Decree No. 10/75 could not have adversely impacted its assessment of the Appellant's 

power, since it did not find that the Appellant, before his official appointment as prefect on 17 April 

1994, exercised funqtions of a prefect de jure. In.stead the Trial Chamber merely concluded that he 

.. exercised at least some of the authority which would normally have fallen under the [prefect]", 

which is a finding of a de facto exercise of power .137 

64. In light of the foregoing, this sub-ground of appeal is dismissed. 
I 

' 
C. Alleged Erro~ in Finding that the Appellant Acted as De Facto Prefect before 17 April 

, 1994 

65. Under this sub-ground, the Appellant argues that in finding that he had acted as de facto 
I 

prefect before 17 April 1994, the Trial Chamber erred: (i) in relying on letters signed by the 
I 

Appellant "for the pr~fect"; (ii) in relying on circumstantial evidence; and (iii) in the assessment of 

the evidence and by' failing to provide a reasoned opinion.138 The Appellant also asserts that no 

evidence was adduc~ to prove that he had exercised powers of the prefect after 14 January 1994 

and before his appointment as prefect on 17 April 1994.139 The Appeals Chamber addresses these 

arguments in tum. 

I 
135 Trial Judgement, para.,,;_ 75, 76. The Trial Chamber's finding at paragraph 75 of the Trial Judgement refers to 
"August 1993". It is clear however thaL the question al stake was whether Bizimungu could delegate his powers or 
aR,point the Appellant as J?Iefect ad. interim after 4 August 1993. 
1 Article 17 of Lcgislatiye Decree No. tons suggests that no legal delegation of powers could occur unless the l'{efect 
was on duty and Legislativ~ Decree No. wns is silent as to I.be interim exercise of power.; in case of vacancy of a 
prefectoral position. It st.ates inter alia that "the sub-prefects are hierarchically subordinate to the prefect" =w.d that a 
sub-prefect in charge of a sub-prefecture "repi:esents the prefect in all its function" but "under tbe respoDsibility and 
authority of the prefect''.; (Ex:bibit Pl4, Exhibit D68). See also Exhibit D49, Rwandan Official Gazette. 15 October 
1993; Trial Judiement. pii:i:a. 75. 
137 Trial Judgement, para. ;77. 
138 Notice of Appeal, para~. 59-70; Appellant's Brief, paras. 54-69. 
139 Appellant's Brief, Pat¥· 58-61. 
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lf'l1/Ft 
1. Alleged!.Error relating to the Letters Signed by the Appellant "for the Prefect'' 

' I 

i 
66. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on letters signed by the 

Appellant "for the prefect between late August 1993 and 14 January 1994" to find that he bad 

exercised d.e facto po~ers of the prefect. 140 He argues that .. these letters are only a minute portion of 

the official correspopdence from Kigali prefecture" in that period and submits that other sub­

prefects at the Kigali prefecture also signed correspondence or presided over meetings after the 
I 

termination of Bizirx;rnngu's appointment on 4 August 1993.141 He asserts that the letters of 22 
! 

September, 21 Octo~r. and 25 October 1993, which the Trial Chamber considered crudal as they 

related to security matters in the prefecture, do not support the Trial Chamber's factual conclusions 

that the Appellant e~ercised de facto powers of the prefect of Kigali prefecture. According to the 

Appellant, the letters; of 22 September and 25 October 1993 are merely invitations to a meeting of 

the Security Council :of the Kigali prefecture, while the security measures described in the letter of 

21 October 1993 we~e taken for the end of the year and New Year festivities and did not continue 

until April 1994-142 The Appellant also claims that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that these 

three Jeners .. [coincit;led] with evidence relating to the killings which took place in Nyamirambo, 
' 

Rushashi and Ntaram:a, in which [the Appellant] was allegedly involved".143 

' 

67. The Prosecution responds th.at it was 1;easonable for the Trial Chamber to conclude on the 

basis of all the evidence. and in particular, these three letters, that the Appellant bad acted as prefect 
I 

before his official appointment to that post. 144 

68. The Appeals Chamber finds that the Appellant's argument is insufficient to demonstrate that 

no reasonable trier ofi fact could have found, as the Trial Chamber did, on the basis of the letters of 
I 

22 September, 21 October, and 25 October 1993, that the Appellant had exercised, prior to April 

1994, powers beyond the capacity of a sub-prefect for economic and technical affairs. Contrary to 

the Appellant's claim, it was open to the Trial Chamber to make this fmding by reference to the 
I 

evidence contained iri the three letters. By signing ''for the prefect" letters relating to matters falling 

lMl Notice of Appeal, paras, 59, 70; AT. 28 August 2008 p. 9. 
141 Notice of Appeal, par~ 60; Appellant's Brief, paras. 56-60, 64; AT. 28 August 2008 p. 8. The Appellant states that 
there were four sub-prefects of the prefecture responsible for a given department in lhe Kigali prefecture and tho three 
sub"prcfoct.s of the ptef~ture, whoso responsibilities covered a distinct tCIIitory of the prefecture. Notice of Appeal, 
iara... 60; Appellant's Brief, para. 56_ 
42 Appellant's Brief, para~ 58; AT. 28 August 2008 p. 8. 

143 Appellant's Brief, paras. 59, 60. 
114 Respondent's Brief, p~. 83. 
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I 
outside his normal :duties as sub-prefect in charge of economic and technical affairs, 145 at a time 

when no prefect w~ on duty, the Appellant e~ectivelyexercised some of the powers of the prefect. 

69. The possib~ty. suggested by the Appellant, that other sub-prefects may have al.so signed 

other letters "for iliie [prefect]'' is merely speculative. In any case, the Trial Chamber 'took that 

possibility into acco;unt in concluding that "[e]ven assuming, as stated by [the Appellant] that other 

sub-prefects may h~ve signed letters on behalf of the prefect, the correspondence shows that [the 

Appellant] exercisec;l at least some of the authority which would normally have fallen under the 

(prefect]" .146 

2. Alleged Error in Relylng on Circumstantial Evidence 

70. The Appellmit submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law by reaching its conclusion that 
I 

he had acted de facto as prefect on the basis of cfrcumstantial evidence, •·whereas this evidence 

cou1d also be inte~eted otherwise"147 and by failing to consider "uncontradicted [Defence] 

witnesses" explain:irig "in a coherent manner the situation that existed before the appojntment of 

[the Appellant as pr~fect on 17 Aprll 1994 ]" .148 

i 
71. The Appeals :Chamber does not agree. As recalled above, in :finding that the Appellant had 

exercised ••at least s9me of the authority'• of a prefect, the Trial Chamber relied on letters he had 

signed in that capacify'. These letters were direct rather than circumstantial evidence of his de facto 
i 

authority as prefect prior to his fonnal appointment to that position._ 

3. N,Ieged Err~ in Assessing the Evidence and in Failing to Provide a Reasoned Qpinion 

I 

72. The Appellant claims that the Trial Chamber's finding that he exercised prefectoral powers 
I 

was based on a "completely erroneous" assessment of the evidence and amounts to a miscarriage of 

justice.149 He argues! that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion for rejecting the 

evidence of Defence witnesses who coherently explained the sHuation that existed before the 
l 

Appellant's appoin~ent as prefect and demonstrated that there was a reasonable possibility that the 

allegation that he ha9 acted de facto as prefect prior to bis appointment was fal.se. 15° Further, the 
l 

Appellant submits ~at the Trial Chamber failed to take into account that the Rwandan Patriotic 

Front (RPF) and th~ Rwandan Armed Forces (FAR) were fighting in certain areas of Kigali 

145 Exhibit Pl.S, pp. 11-23,. These three letters were filed only in Km.yarwanda. Upon request by the Appeals Challl.bcr, 
the Registiy has provided!their translation into French and English. 
146 Trial Judgement, para.\77. 
147 Appellant's Brief, para!. 68. 
143 Appellant's Brief, pa.raj. 69; AT. 28 August 2008 p. 9. 
149 Appellant's Brief, P&Ia!- 66. 
150 Appellant's Brief, paras. 68, 69; AT. 28 August 2008 p. 9. 
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prefecture and that, !on 17 April 1994, the date of his appointment as prefect, only three out of the 

sixteen communes o~ Kigali prefecture were under government controI.151 

73. The Prosecution responds that the Appellant's reiternti.on of Defence evidence falls short of 

demonstrating that tpe Trial Chamber erred in the assessment of the evidence. 152 It asserts that the 

Trial Chamber took !into account the Appellant's testimony and that of Defence Witness MZR and 

validly rejected their assertion that no one had exercised the duties of the prefect of Kigali 

prefecture for about:eight months, from August 1993 to 17 April 1994.153 The Prosecution recalls 
I 

that the Trial Cham~r found credible the evidence of Wjtnesses BMJ and BMK to the effect that, 

at a meeting in Ntar~a on 14 April 1994. the Appellant had presented himself as prefect 154 

' 
I 

7 4. Contrary to t)ie Appellant's assertion, the Trial Chamber took into account the evidence 
' 

presented by the De~ence, addressed its submissions, and provided a reasoned opinion. 155 The Trial 

Chamber was not c~mpelled to accept the Appellant's general denial that he assumed a law-
, 

enforcement role over and above his responsibilities as sub-prefect, especially in view of the fact 

that he acknowledged that he had signed letters in the capacity of prefect relating to security 

matters.156 The TrialiChamber noted and addressed the Appellant's assertion that other sub-prefects 
I 

may have signed sinµlar letters on behalf of the prefect. 157 With regard to Witness MZR, although 

he testified that betw~en 4 August 1993 and 17 April 1994158 there was no prefect or acting prefect 

in Kigali prefecture.\ and that he never witnessed the Appellant introducing himself in such a 

capacity during that period, he nonetheless conceded that during the absence of the prefect, a sub­

prefect could have si~ed invitations to meetings and could have chili-ed a meeting.159 

75. The Appeals ! Chamber finds that the Appellant has failed to explain how the assertion 

concerning fighting in certain areas of Kigali prefecrure, as well as the assertion that on 17 April 

1994, only three out of the sixteen communes of the Kigali prefecture were under government 

control contradicts tl:ie Tri.al Chamber's finding regarding his exercise of "some authority'' of the 

prefect in Kigali pref~tu.re prior to that date. Therefore, the Appellant has not demonstrated that no 

reasonable trier of fa9t could have concluded that he exercised some authority of a prefect prior to 

his appointment to th~t post on 17 April 1994. 
; 

1
'

1 Appellant's Brief, pani. 60. The Appellant affirm.~ that this fact - arising from his testimony - was no\ contested by 
the Prosecution and men~bns lhc conummes of Musasa. Rushashi, and T~e. all located in the Rushasbi sub~prefecture. 
152 Respondent's Brief, para. 84. 
is., Respondent's Brief, para. 82. 
m Respondent's Brief. Papt. 82. 
m Trial Judgement, paras. 60-77. 
156 Trial Judgement. paras! 72, 73. 
157 Trial Judgt.-me:nt, parasl 72. 73. 77, • 
isa T. 16 May 2006 p. 34. 1The witness mentioned 17 April 1993. However, it is obvious from the context that he meant 
17 April 1994. ; 
159 T. 15 May 2006 p. 29; lf. 16 May 2006 pp. 33, 34. 
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I 

76. Finally, the Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law by failing to apply the 
i 

standard ''beyond r~asonable doubt" when assessing the evidence.160 He argues that the Trial 

Chamber should haie found that in view of Defe~ce evidence, there was a reasonable possibility 

that the Prosecution;s allegations were false. 161 The Appeals Chamber considers that this argument 

is not sufficiently substantiated to demonstrate any error on the part of the Trial Chamber. 

I 

4. Allegation that No Evidence was Adduced that the Appellant had Exercised Powers of the 

Prefect after 14 Januaxy 1994 

77. The Appellar,.t contends that no evidence was adduced that he had exercised powers of the 

J 
' 

9 
1~ I 

prefect after 14 anu~ 1 94. 1 

i 
i I 

78. This assertion falls short of demonstrating any error on the part of the Trial Chamber. Toe 
I I 

Tri.al Chamber did riot find that the Appellant continuously exercised the authority of the prefect 
, I 

from August 1993 to April· 1994, but rather madei a finding that he had exercised some of the 
' I 

authority of a prefect.163 Contrary to the Appella!nt•s contention, the Trial Chamber accepted 

evidence that the A~pellant acted on some occasio~ as prefect between 14 January and 17 April 

1994. Specifically, based on the testimonies of Witn~sses BMJ and BMK, the Trial Chamber found 

that the Appellant had called himself prefect befote the latter dateJ 64 and that, at a meeting at 
I ! 

Ntarama sector office on 14 April 1994, he bad pronµsed Tutsi refugees that he would provide them 

with security, thus adting within the ambit of the preiect. 165 

' i I . ' 
' I 

79. In light of the; foregoing, this sub-ground of appeal is dismissed. 

D. Conclusion 

I 

80. For the foregoing reasons, the Appellant's Third Ground of Appeal is dismissed in its 

entirety. 

160 Appellant's Brief, pad 69. 
161 Appe11ant's Brief, panl 69. 
162 Notice of Appeal. paras. 61-65; Appellant's Brief, para. 58; AT. 28 August 2008 p. 9. 
163 Trial Judgement para.. \77. 
164 Trial Judgement paras~ 234, 238, 247. 
Jli.S Trial Judgement,. para. !254. 

' 
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V. ALLEGED ERRORS RELATING TO THE APPELLANT'S 
I 

INVOLVEMENT IN THE MRND AND HIS AUTHORITY OVER THE 

. INTERAHAMWE (GROUND OF APPEAL 4) 

81. The Trial Chamber found that the Appellant exercised authority over the Interahamwe in 

1994. 1116 The Trial ¢hamber convicted the Appellant. pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute, for 

ordering, instigatingr and aiding and abetting genocide, and murder and extermination as crimes 

against humanity, based in part on the involvement of the lnterahamwe in the killings of Tutsis in 
' 

Nyamirambo, Ntaraiµa, and RushashL 167 

82. The Trial C~amber found that the Appellant's position as President of the :MR.ND in 

Nyarugenge commune after April 1992 had not been established beyond reasonable doubt, 168 but 

that this in itself di~ not exclude the fact that he exercised authority over the Interahamwe in 

1994.1~ The Trial \Chamber based this finding on his previous presidency and continuing 

membership in the; MRND, combined with his importance as the former bourgmestre of 
I 

Nyarugenge commune and subsequent functions as sub-prefect and prefect of Kigali prefecture. 170 

The Trial Chamber found that the evidence specific to this question, in particular the testimonies of 

Witnesses BMA and: BLX. in conjunction with the evidence relating to the events in Nyamirambo, 

Ntarama, and Rus~hi, was sufficient to :find that the Appellant exercised authority over the 

Interahamwe in 1994. 17
' 

83. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber ened in its assessment of the evidence of 

Witnesses BMA and BLX relating to his alleged involvement in the MRND in Nyarugenge after 
I 

1992 and in concluding that he exercised authority over the Interahamwe in 1994.172 

84. The Appellant contends that the Trial Chamber erred in law by accepting parts of Witness 

BLX' s testimony de~pite certain factors that cast doubt on bis evidence.173 He recalls that the Trial 

Chamber itself decid~ to consider Witness BLX's evidence with caution because of the witness's 

involvement in proceedings before Rwandan courts. ]7
4 Further, the Appellant contends that Witness 

166 Trial Judgement, p~ 56. The Trial Chamber found that it had not been established that his authority over the 
lnterahamwe in Nyanrira'mbo, Rusbasbi or Ntarama extended beyond his personal influence. Trial Judgement, para. 
567. : 
1157 Trial Judgement, Par8S'.- 535-548, 552-561. 
168 Trial Judsement., para.j55. 
15

g Trial Judgement, para.. :56. 
170 Trial Judgement., para. !S6. 
171 Trial Judgement, para. 

1
56. 

172 Notice of Appeal. paras. 75, 76; Appellant's Brief, paras. 70-82. 
173 AppclJant' s Brief, para!. 77. 
m Notice of Appeal, para'. 76; Appellant's Brief, paras. 72, 74, referring lo Trial Judgement. para. 52. 
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BLX contradicted himself when he asserted before the Trial Chamber that the Appellant held rhe l . 
position of Presiden~ of the MRND in April 1994, while he had testified in the Karemera et aL case 

that it was Hamadi \Nsbimiyimana who held this position at that time. 175 He cl.aims that the Trial 

Chamber's conclusi~n that there was no contradiction in the witness's testimony on this point was 

"completely errone~us." 176 In his view, Witness BLX's testimony in the Karemera et al. case 

corroborated the Appellant's testimony that following his resignation, in April or May 1992, 

Hamadi Nshimiyi.truµla replaced him as MRND President in Nyarugenge commune.177 

85. The Prosec$on responds that the Trial Chamber correctly found that the Appellant's 
i 

authority over the f;nterahamwe in 1994 was based on his previous presidency and continuing 
I 

membership in the MRND, his importance as a former bourgmestre, as well as bis subsequent 
l 

functions as sub-pre4ect and prefect.171 It submits that this ground of appeal is unfounded and should 

be dismissed in its e*tirety. 179 

I 

I 
' 

86. Toe Appeals'.Chamber finds no merit in the Appellant's submissions challenging the Trial 

Chamber's assessmbnt of Witness BLX. The Trial Chamber addressed in detail the alleged 
! 

discrepancy betweeil! Witness BLX' s testimony in the present case and his previous testimony in the 

Karemera et al. case\before the Tribunal.uio It noted that during bis testimony in the Karemera et al. 
I 

case, the witness mentioned Hamadi Nsbimiyimana twice, first stating that Hamadi Nshimiyimana 
I 

held the position of Vice-President of the MRND in Nyarugenge and subsequently stating that he 

was President of the\MRND in that commune in 1994.111 The Tri.al Chamber found that there was 

"no clear discrepanc~'' between bis testimonies in the two cases ~cause the witness bad stated in 

both cases that Hamhdi Nshimiyimana held the position of Vice-President of the MRND in April 
I 

1994.182 On appeal, ithe Appeilant merely repeats the argument he raised at trial. The Appeals 
I 

Chamber is not a second trier of fact, and a party cannot simply repeat arguments on appeal that did ! . 
not succeed at trial: in the hope that the Appeals Chamber will consider them afresh. 1113 The 

! 

Appellant does not ~emonstrate that the Trial Chamber's finding was erroneous. Accordingly, the 

Appellant's appeal o* this point is dismissed. 
i 

175 Appellant's Brief, pant. 75, rc::fcr.ring to Trial Judgement. para. 54. 
176 Appellant's Brief,~- 75. 
m Appellant's Brief, para:. 76. See also Appellant's Brief, para. 71. 
178 Respondent's Brief, paras. 86-88. 
179 Respondent's Brief, ~- 89. 
180 Trial Judgement, para.154. 
m Trial Judgement, para.!54, fn. 81 referring to Karemera et al., T. IO March 2006 p. 18. The Trial Chamber observed 
that Hamadi Nshimi~a•s PQ6ition was not at issue in that case. 
112 Trial Judgement, para. ~4-
,s.1 Semanza Appeal Jud&f1cnt, para. 9. 
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' 87. The Appell~t also challenges the testimony of Witness BMA, asserting that the witness 

.. lied outright'' and $at the Trial Chamber erred by failing to reject his testimony in its entirety.1114 

I 

The Appellant notes!the following discrepancies: while Witness BMA told the Rwandan authorities 
! 

that he had not seen !fue Appellant during the war, he testified before the Trial Chamber that he had 
I 

seen the Appellant \after 6 April 1994 on at least three occasions in the office of the Kigali 

prefecture.185 During~cross-examination, the witness claimed that he might have been talking about 
I 

"a different Karera" ~ while he bad stated at the beginning of his testimony that he only knew one 
I 

person bearing this name.1116 Furthermore, in his testimony before the Trial Chamber, the witness 
' 

testified to the Appellant's position within the MRND and bis resulting authority over the 

Interahamwe, whereas in pre-trial statements to the Tribunal's investigators, the witness had never 
I 

' 
implicated the Appellant as a high-ranking member of the MRND.187 

i 
88. The Appeals iCharnber finds no merit in the Appellant's submissions challenging the Trial 

l 

Chamber's assessment of Wieness BMA. Toe Appellant solely contests that part of the witness's 

testimony which th~ Trial Chamber found inconsistent and which it therefore rejected. 1118 The 

Appeals Chamber r~call.s that a Trial Chamber may accept some parts of a witness's testimony 

while rejecting oth~.189 In the instant case, the Trial Chamber found credible and relied on the 

witness's testimony concerning the Appellan(s support to the Interahamwe in 1991 and 1992.l.90 

The Appellant has ~ot demonstrated an error on the part of the Trial Chamber in this regard. 
I 
I 

Accordingly, the Appellant's argument on th.is point is dismissed. 

I 

89. Finally, the ~ppellant submits that the Trial Chamber's holding that it had not been. 

established beyond ~asonable doubt that he continued to be President of the MRND in Nyarugenge 

after April 1992 meaµt that Witnesses BMA and BLX who had testified to this effect1ll
1 had lied. 192 

The Appellant thus1 concludes that the Trial Chamber erred in law by accepting, without 
I 

explanation, other p~ of the witnesses' testimonies to find that the Appellant supported the 
I 

Interahamwe in 199lland 1992 and exercised authority over them i.n 1994.m 
' 

90. The Appeals ~ham.her rejects the Appellant's contention on this point. As noted above, a 
I 

Trial Chamber may a;ccept some parts of a witness's testimony while rejecting others. The Appeals 
\ 
I 

HM, Appellant's Brief, para. 79, refen:ing to Trial Judgement,. para. 53. 
185 Appellanl' s Brief, para!. 80, referring to Exhibit 07 A, p. 29, and D7B, p. 20; T. 19 Jani.:iary 2006 pp. 28-30. 
186 Appellant's Brief, Pllrll!- 81, referring to T. 19 Januazy 2006 pp. 41-46. 
187 Appellant• s l3ri~f, par!ir 81, referring to Exhibit D 1 0A. 
188 Trial Judgement, para.. l53. 
189 See Seromba Appeal! Judgement, para. 110, citing Simba Appeal Judgement. para. 212; Kamuhanda Appeal 
Judgement, para. 248, ciling Kuprelkic et al. AppcaJ Judgement, para. 333. 
190 Trial Judgement. para. :56. 
191 Trial Judgement, parasl 38, 42. 
192 Appellant's Brief, para!. 82. 
191 Appellant's Brief, para!. 82. 
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I 

Chamber further r~alls that a Trial Chamber has che obligation to provide a reasoned opinion. but 
I 

is not required to articulate every step of its reasoning in detai.1.194 In the present case, the Trial 
I 

Chamber explicitly; stated that it found the witnesses' testimonies concerning the Appellant's 

support to the lnterbhamwe in 1991 and 1992 credible.195 The Appellant has not demonstrated an 
I 

error in this finding~ The Appellant's argument that the witnesses lied is speculative and does not 

require further consideration. 
I 

I 

91. The Appeals: Chamber observes that, in any event, the Trial Chamber made no finding on 
I 

the Appellant's au~ority based on the evidence of Witnesses BMA and BLX alone. The Trial 
I 

Chamber's reliance! on Witnesses BMA and BLX is limited to a general illustration of the 

Appellant's authori~ over the Interahamwe without any link to particular events. The Trial 

Chamber merely noied that the evidence of Witnesses BMA and BLX regarding the Appellant's 
I 

support to the Itttera}:lamwe in 1991 and 1992 was credible and supported the fact that the Appellant 
I 

exercised authority 'over the lnteraham:we.'~ In addition, it held that the evidence adduced in 

relation to the SJ)e9ific events in Nyamirambo, Ntarama. and Rushashi also showed that the 

Appellant exercised authority over the Interahamwe.191 

I 

92. For the foreg9ing reasons, the Appeals Chamber rejects the Appellant's submissions that the 

Trial Chamber erred !in the assessment of the evidence of Witnesses BMA and BLX relating to his 
I 

involvement in the~ in Nyarugenge after 1992 and in finding that he exercised authority over 

the Jnterahamwe in t994. Accordingly, this ground of appeal is dismissed. 

I 
1511 See Simba Appeal Judgement, para. 152 
19.s Trial Ju,jg,em.ent, para. !,56. . 
w6 Trial Judgement, para.156. 
l!J? Trial Judgement, para. ~6, referring to Trial Judgement, Sections II.4-6. 
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VI. ALL~GED ERRORS RELATING TO THE FINDING THAT THE 
' 

APPELLA.ltt WAS INVOLVED IN A CAMPAIGN TO KILL TUTSIS IN 
i 

NYAMJRA¥80 SECTOR, NYARUGENGE COMMUNE (GROUND OF 
I 

' 

' 

APPEALS) 

93. The Trial ciamber found that in April 1994 three policemen, Kalimba, Habimana. and 

Kabarate, who "were stationed in [the Appellant's] house in Nyamirambo [ ... ] committed crimes 

together with the I~1eraJiamwe operating in f?at area" .198 Specifically, the Trial Chamber found 

that: 

' 
I 

:.. Between 8 Silld IO April [1994], the lnlerahamwe followed after Kabahayc, a Tutsi, and killed 
him in Butam.~a., not far away from Nyamn:ambo. They then reported to the policemen tbal he had 
been killed [ .. ! ] ; 

' ' 
- Between 8 and 10 April 1994, policeman Kalimba forced a man to kill Murekezi, a Tutsi, at the 
roadblock near KBrera's house [, .. ]; 

- On 10 April 1994, Ndingutse, a Tutsi. was arrested and killed by the policemen and lnterahamwe 
not far away from Karera' s house [ ... ]; 

- On 24 April 1994, Palatin Nyagatare, a Tutsi, was killed at a roadblock about three plots from his 
house by polici;:man Kalimba [ ... ].199 

94. The Trial Chamber further found that the perpetrators were aware that the vjctims were 

Tutsis and that they killed them pursuant to the Appellant's order to kill Tutsis.200 Based on these· 

findings, the Trial Chamber convicted the Appellant, pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute, for 

ordering genocide and extermination and murder as crimes against humanity .201 

95. Toe AppelJanF submits that the Trial Chamber erred in its factual findings in relation to bis 

involvement in a ca,tnpaign to kill Tutsis in Nyamirambo sector. Nyarugenge commune. 202 He 
I 

argues that the Tria~ Chamber erred in finding that: (i) he exercised authority over the three 

policemen involved ih the killings; (ii) he ordered, by telephone, the killing of Kabuguza's family 
! 

members between 7 1and 10 April 1994; (iii) he gave orders to kill Tutsis and to demolish their 
I 

houses in Nyamiramb,o between 7 and 15 April 1994; (iv) he gave orders to spare certain Tutsis and 

their houses between ;7 and 15 April 1994; (v) a man called Kahabaye was killed in April 1994 as a 
' 

consequence of the orders given by him; (vi) he ordered policeman Kalimba to kill a Tutsi called 

191 Trial Judgement, para. ~35. 
199 Trial Judgement, para. :535. 
200 Trial Judgement, para. 536. 
201 Trial Judgement, parasl 540, 557, 560, 561. 
202 Notice of Appeal, paras. 77-140; Appellant's Brief, paras. 83-184; AT, 28 August 2008 pp. 24, 25. 
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Murekezi between :8 and 10 April 1994; (vii) he was involved in the killing of Jean Bosco 
I 

Ndingutse on 10 April 1994; and (viii) a man called Palatin Nyagatare was killed followfog bis 

orders to kill Tutsis ~t Nyamirambo.203 The Appeals Chamber will consider these arguments in tum. 

i 
I 

A. Alleged EITors relating to the Appellant's Authority over Commune Policemen 

I 

96. The Trial CJ\tamber found that the Appellant had authority over the three policemen who 

guarded his house iili. Nyamirambo and manned a roadblock near hls house.204 The Trial Chamber 
I 

further found that th! three policemen committed crimes in the area of Nyamirambo.205 

i 

97. In this sectio~ the Appeals Chamber considers the following allegations of errors related to 

the finding that the! Appellant had authority over the policemen: (i) alleged faiJure to provide a 
I 

reasoned opinion; CiD alleged euor in assessing Prosecution evidence; and (W) alleged failure to 
' 

give proper weight to Defence evidence. 

l- Alleged Error in Failing to Provide a Reasoned Opinion 

I 
98. The Appe~t submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law in failing to identify the evidence 

showing the Appeillmt's alleged de jure or de facto authority over the communal policemen 
i 

Kalimba, Habimana,1 and Kabarate allegedly posted at bis house in Nyamirambo and in omitting to 

explain how be could have exercised any authority over policemen who were outside the 
l 

administrative territory in which he worked_ 206 

' 

99. The Prosecutjon primarily responds that the Trial Chamber duly considered the evidence of 

several witnesses td establish that the three policemen took orders from the Appellant and 

committed criminal *ts. ir:n 

100. A review of ~e Tri.al Judgement reveals that, contrary to the AppeJJant's contention, the 

Trial Chamber provided a reasoned opinion for the impugned :findings and identified the underlying 

evidence.208 The Triju Chamber relied on the evidence of Witnesses BMF, BMH. BLX, BMU, 
l 

BMA, BMG, and ~ME to find that the policemen Kalimba, Habimana. and Kabarate were 

••communal policemen" under the Appellant's authority. rather than under the authority of the 
I 

prefect of Kigali-Ville prefecture.209 The Trial Chamber's conclusion that the Appellant exerc..-ised 
i 

authority over these policemen is not based on the premise that he had de jure authority over them, 
I 

203 Appellant's Brief, parJs. 183, 184. 
:.o-, Trial Judiemont. para.sl 122, 537. 
205 Tria1 Judgement., puasl 168, 192,196,203. 535. 
206 Notice of Appeal, par~. 82-84; AT. 28 August 2008 P- 14. 
207 Respondent's Brief, paras. 91-96, sp_ para. 95. 
ioa Trial Judgement, para.s( 110-122. 
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even though the Tfal Chamber recalled that in a state of emergency a prefect can requisition 

communal police.2~
0 Instead, the Trial Chamber's conclusion is supported by the evidence of 
I 

several Prosecution ;witnesses who testified that the policemen were guarding the Appellant's house 
I 

and manning a ro,dblock in front of it, that these policemen claimed to be the Appellant's 

subordinates, that the Appellant ordered them to kill Tutsis and destroy their houses, and that 
I 

people said that the~ obeyed the Appellant's orders.211 

! 
I 

101. This argum~t is therefore dismissed. 
i 
I 

! 2. Alleged Error in Relying on Prosecution Evidence 

' 
102. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erred in :finding that throughout the month of 

I 

April 1994 he exercised authority over certafo commune policemen since the evidence does not 
I 

permit this inference~212 He contends that this error of fact occasioned a miscarriage of justice.213 

i 
I 

i 
103. The Appell~t asserts that since there was no legal basis for the allegation that he had 

I 

authority over the p0licemen, the Prosecution had to support its allegation by providing evidence 
I 

that he continuously! and effectively exercised de facto authority over the policemen during April 
I 

1994.214 He submits that this allegation was .,'bizarre .. considering the Trial Chamber's findings that 
I 

the Appellant left ~gall on 7 April 1994 and remained in Ruhengeri between 7 and 19 April 

1994.215 

! 

104. The Appellant argues that the Trial Chamber failed to take into account existing 
I 

"compelling reasons) for discounting'" the evidence provided by Prosecution witnesses216 and 
I 

ignored evidence co~tradicting the Prosecution allegation or "render(ing] it less plausible'" .. 217 More· 

specifically_. he assetra that the Trial Chamber _erred in relying on the testimony of Prosecution 
I 

Witnesses BMU, BLX, BMA, BMG, BMF, BMH, and BME.218 

' 
105.. The Appeals piamber will consider the Appellant's arguments in tum. 

' ' 

209 Trial Judgt.-ment. para.; 122. 
210 Trial Judgement. p~. 120-122. 
:iJL Trial Judgement. parasL 112-118, 121, 122. 
212 Appellant's Brief, pad. 89 .. 
213 Appellant's Brief, pari 89, referring to Trial Judgement, para. 537. 
214 Appellant's Brlef, para. 87. The Appellanl recalls that Nyamirambo was located in Kigali-Ville prefecture., and not 
in Kigali prefecture, of which he was a sub~prcfect. 
21 s Appellant's Brief, para!. 88, referring to Tri:u Judgement, paras. 478, 500. 
2111 Notice of Appeal, para.t 85, 86. 
217 Appellant's Brief, para.I 90. 
218Al)pellant's Brief, paraS. 91-113. 
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(a) Witness BMU 

106. Witness BMU. an official from Nyamirambo, testified that around 10 April 1994. three 

commune policemen,. Safari, Kalimba, and Thomas, manned a roadblock in front of the Appellant's 

house and were eng~ged in ldllings.219 According to the witness. on 10 April 1994, the policemen 
I 

told him that they r~ported to the Appellant and not to Tb.arcisse Renzaho, the prefect of Kigali-

Ville prefecture. 220 
· 

107. The Appellant asserts that Witness BMU lied and made contradictory statements. He argues 

that Witness BMU's testimony established too tenuous a link between the Appellant and the 

policemen manning ·a roadblock in front of his house to support the finding made by the Trial 

Chamber.221 

108. Toe Prosecu~on responds that the Appellant simply reiterates his submissions at trial on the 

credibility of Prosecution witnesses, including Witness BMU. while failing to show that the Trial 
' 

Chamber acted unre~onably in relying on this evidence. 222 

I 
109. In assessing Witness BMU's evidence, the Trial Chamber observed that, as an official in 

Nyarugenge in 1994 '. and someone who .knew the Appellant personally, the witness was in a good 

position to observe ~e events.223 However, the Trial Chamber decided to consider his evidence 

with caution, since it found that the witness "may have been influenced by a wish to positively 

affect the criminal proceedings against [him] in Rwanda ... 224 

ll0. The Trial Chamber then observed that Witness BMU's prior statements of 1998 and 2002 

( .. 1998 Statement" ~d "2002 Statement", respectively) do not mention policemen at a roadblock in 

front of the Appellant's house and that "[h]e explained that he was not asked about them and added 
I 

that in his 1998 state~ent he only described what people told him, and not what he saw."225 While 

the Trial Chamber c~nsidered that this was "not quite consistent with his testimony that he had 

heard from a subor~ate about the policemen's position at the roadblock," it nevertheless found 

that thfa inconsistency did not affect the witness's credjbility .226 The Trial Chamber accepted 
I 

Witness BMU' s explanations for the discrepancies between his testimony and prior statements 
I 

regarding the number. of roadblocks in Nyamirambo and bis knowledge of the roadblocks when he 

219 The Trial Chamber "c~sider[ed] it likely Ihal Safari and Thomas were the f.irst names of Kabarata and Habimana•·. 
Tual Judgement, para. 111. 
220 Trial Judgenu.-nt, para. i89. 
221 Appellant's Brief, para~. 92-96. 
221 Respondcnl' s Brief, paras. 96-98. 
223 Trial Judgement. para. ,113. 
224 Trial Judgement para. II 13. 
22.S Trial Judgement, para. ,115. 
225 Trial Judgement., para.1115. 
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' 
left bis house on 10 April 1994.227 The Trial Chamber also accepted Witness BMU's evidence 

I 

about the policemcm and thefr crimes at the roadbl~k in front of the Appellant's house in April 
I 

1994, including that they claimed to be subordinates of the Appellant and not of the prefect of 

Kigali-Ville.228 · 

111. The Appellaµt asserts without more detail that the Trial Chamber erred in considering 

Witness BMU' s evi4ence because he lied. 229 A review of the Trial Judgement reveals that the Trial 
I 

Chamber accepted tljle witness's evidence only after a careful consideration of the various factors 
I 

relevant to the assessment of bis credibility.230 In this respect, the Appellant has failed to establish 
' 

that the Trial Chamber erred in accepting the evjdence of Witness BMU. 

i 
112. The Appellaµt further argues that contrary to Witness BMU' s explanation in cross-

examination that in the 1998 and 2002 Statements he only recounted what people had told him, 
I 

those statements in fact included details of what he saw in the sector after 6 April 1994 and even 
I 

mentioned the specific persons who manned the roadblocks and those who were killed at such 
' 

roadblocks. 231 In ad~ition, the Appellant asserts that Witness BMU should have mentioned the 
I 

names of the police~en in his statements since he stated that he learned their names from a report 

he received from sqmeone else.23:z Finally, he argues that Witness BMU provided a different 

explanation in court !by stating that he had omitted mentioning the role of the Appe11ant and the 
I , 

policemen "because ,e was not asked any question [sic] about them".233 

I 

113. In the 1998 Statement., Witness BMU recounted in general tenns the events in Rwanda and. 
I 

in bis sector from theibeginning of the war in October 1990 to the end in 1994.234 The focus was not 

on specific situations! arising in the area of Nyamirambo but rather on broader events. The wjtness 
I 

mentioned in gene~ the setting up of roadblocks where Tutsis were killed and the failure of 

competent authoritie4 to stop these killings, but gave no description of a particular roadblock or 

killing. In addition, ;the Appeals Chamber notes that, as with the 2002 Statement, the 1998 

Statement focussed o~ the role of Tharcisse Renzaho in the genocide. In these circumstances, it is 

understandable that Witness BMU did not mention the presence of three particular policemen at a 
I 

roadblock and the cti,mes they committed under the Appellant's alleged authority. In addition, 

Witness BMU was n9t only recounting what he witnessed perSonally, but also referred to what he 

bad heard from others. The Appeals Chamber therefore considers that Witness BMU' s explanations 
I 

22
' Toal Judgement, paras! 115, 116. 

221 Trial Judgement, para. ins. 
229 Appellant's Brief, para~ 96. 
130 Trial Judgement, paras: 113, 115, 116. 
231 Appellant's Brief, para. 92. 
232 Appellant's Brief, paral 92. 
233 Appellant's Brief, pn 93. 
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were not at odds with the content of the 1998 Statement. Turning to the 2002 Statement, it is clear 
' 

that the focus again, was Renzabo's role during the genocide. While in this statement. the witness 

recounted the existence and functioning of roadblocks in general, he did not describe specific 

events at roadblocks'. 

114. Witness BM:£] explained in his testimony that he did not, in these previous statements, 
' mention the setting i up of a roadblock in front of the Appellant's house and the commission of 
I 

crimes by policeme~ under the Appellant's control because he was not asked any questions about 

them. This ex.pla:nation is consistent with the subject-matter of these statements.235 The Appellant 
I 

has not demonstrated that no reasonable trier of fact could have found that these omissions did not 
' 

affect Witness BMU7s credibility. 

115. Pointing to the alleged contradktion between Witness BMU's testimony and the 2002 
I 

Statement regarding: the number of roadblocks in Nyamir.unbo, the Appellant claims that the 
' 

"inflated number ofi roadblocks clearly shows Witness BMU' s desire to aggravate the charges 
I 

against Karera".236 'fhe Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber addressed this alleged 

inconsistency and a~cepted the explanation provided by the witness that in the 2002 Statement he 
i 

was asked only abou:t the number of roadblocks on the main road from the regional stadium to the 

centre of town. and: not about the entire sector_'n7 The Appellant has not shown that the Trial 

Chamber erred in reaching this conclusion. Witness B:MU's explanation is consistent with the facl 

that in the 2002 Stat~ment, the number of roadblocks was mentioned in relation to his own role in 

distributing weapons! at roadblocks in the sector. 238 In addition. the ·Appeals Chamber notes that the 

Appellant's assertiotj that the witness inflated the number of roadblocks to aggravate the charges 

against him is mere speculation. 

116. The Appellarit further contends that, of the three witnesses who testified to the presence of 

policemen at a road~lock in front of the Appellant's house, only Witness BMU estabHshed a link 

between che policemen and the Appellant. and that chis link was too tenuous to support a finding 
I 

that the Appellant exercised any authority over the policemen. 239 The Appellant asserts that .. [a]ll 

234 1998 Statement. pp. 3-5. 
235 TrlalJudgemcnt,, !)at'~ 115. 116. 
236 Appellant's Brief, para. 95. In addition, tbe Appclla.nt points to the Trial Chamber's observation al paragraph 116 of 
the Trial Judgement lha.t jWitness BMU stated in his 1998 Statement that he was astonished to notice the roadblocks 
.some time after 10 April ~994. whc:rcas at trial he testified that he had previously received reportS about the roadblocks. 
Appellant's Brief, para. 95. However, the Appellant does not claim that the Trial Chamber erred in aca:pting Witness 
BMU' s explanation for ~t apparent discrepancy. 
237 Trial Judgement, para. ,116. 
238 ' 2002 Statement, pp. 4, 5. 
23

" Appellant's Brief, pua. 98. 
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what [sic] Witness BMU said on this point is that the policemen boasted that they reported to 

Karera rather than to Renzaho, the pref et of Kigali-Ville". 240 

117. The Appeals Chamber disagrees. The link established by Witness BMU between the three 

policemen and the Appellant was not tenuous. According co Witness BMU, the policemen, who 

were aware of the witness's official position, told him that they were obeying instructions of the 

Appellant and were working for him, not for Renzaho, the prefect of Kigali-Ville prefecture . .24
1 In 

addition, the Trial Chamber's finding on the Appe]lant's position of authority over the policemen 

does not stand on Witness BMU' s testimony alone. Tiris aspect of bis testimony was corroborated 

by the testimonies of.Witnesses BMF, BMH, BMG, and BME.242 

118- The Appe11ant's contention that the Trial Chamber erred in the assessment of Witness 

BMU's evidence is therefore dismissed. 

(b) Witnesses BMA: and BLX 

119. The Appellant submits that he cannot .. comprehend how Witnesses BMA and BLX could 

have been believed on the issue of commune policemen. whereas the [Trial] Chamber rejected their 

testimonies in relation to [other allegations against the Appellant and] also rejected Witness BLX's 

testimony as to the distribution of weapons in Nyamirambo". 243 

120. The Appeals Chamber recalls that jt is not unreasonable for a Trial Chamber to accept some 

parts of a witness's t?slimony while rejecting others. 244 The Appellant ha~ not shown how the T1ial 

Chamber erred in a~cepting only portions of the evidence of these witnesses. The Appellant's 
I . 

contention is therefore dismissed. 
I 

' I 
(c) Witnesses BMF and BMH 

I 
121. The Trial Chamber found that "[t]he testimonies of[. __ ] Witnesses BMF and BMH, are 

generally consistent about the police officers. They said that Karera left Nyamirambo but continued 

to visit there, that policemen remained at his house, regarded Karera as their superior and 

communicated with film by phone, that they committed crimes, distributed machetes, and ordered 

others to commit crin;;_es.''245 

2'IO Appellant's Brief, para.. 98. 
241 T. 23 January 2006 P- 24_ See also T. 24 January 2006 pp. 3, 6, 7. 
212 See Trial Judgement, paras. 112. 117, 118. 
243 Appellant's Brief, p~ 97_ 
244 See .,upra Chapter !Y Alleged Errors Rcla.Ling to the Appellant's Involvement in the MR.ND and his Aul.horlty over 
the /nteraliamwe (Ground·of Appeal 4). para.. 87. 
245 Trial Judgement, para_ 112. 
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122. With regard to Witness BMF, the Appellant claims that she provided many details regarding 

the presence of co~une policemen in front of the Appellant's house, but that notrung in her 

testimony shows that a superior-subordinate relationship existed between him and the policemen.246 

123. The Appeal~ Chamber find.s that contrazy to the Appellant's contention, Witness B.MF's 

testimony supports !flle finding that the Appellant exercised authority over the three policemen. 

Indeed, the witness; testified that she knew the policemen and that they had been guarding the 

Appellant's house b~fore April 1994.247 She also testified that in the second half of May 1994, she 

heard policeman Kalim.ba tell his colleague Habimana that the Appellant had instructed him by 

telephone to spare s~me Tutsi fam.ilies.248 The Trial Chamber was therefore entitled to take these 
I 

aspects of Witness BMF' s testimony into account in assessing whether the Appellant exercised 

authority over the P9licemen. 

124. The Appellaq.t submits that Witness BMH lied with regard to the relationship between the 

Appellant and the ~]icemen and that the Trial Chamber erred in assessing the evidence on this 

point.249 Toe Appellbt argues that Witness BMH could not have witnessed the Appellant ordering 
I 

the policemen to des:troy houses of Tutsi between 10 and 15 April 1994, since she was not present 
I 

in the area during that period. as evidenced by her 1998 Statement where she said that prior to 22 
\ 

May 1994, she had [spent one and a half months in a place olher than her house.250 He fwther 

submits that when ~on:fronted with this discrepancy, she provided an explanation that even the 

Prosecution did not: believe and which. therefore, should not have been accepted. by the Trial 
I • 

Chamber. The App+Uant asserts that Witness BMI:I's explanation to the effect that she had 

informed the Prosecµtion that there was an error in her 1998 Statement one year prior to heT 

testimony contradic~ the Prosecution's assertion that this information had been made available to it 

only twenry-four holJ!S before her testimony.251 

125. These argum~nts were already addressed and dismjssed by the Trial Chamber.2S2 Toe 

Appellant has not shown how the Trial Chamber erred in accepting Witness BMH' s explanations as 

to the discrepancies between her trial testimony and prior statements. This contention is therefore 
I 

dismissed. 

2'6 Appellant's Brief,~ 101. 
247 Trial Jud,gement. para. '97. 
248 TrialJudgemcnt, paras~ 137, 171. 
249 Appellant's Brief, para. 102. 
250 Appellant's Brief, par~. 103. 1bc Appellant's Brief refers to a statement of 19 August 2006. le is apparent from the 
conlcxt as well a£ I.he ezjtlbit number that the Appellant meant to refer to tb.e Statement of t9 Auiust 1998. 
zsi Appc1Iant's Brief, par➔. 104-106. 
"

2 Trial Judgement, paras: 163, 164. l 
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126. The Appellant further contends that the testimonies of Witnesses BMF and BMH were not 

accepted by the Tri~ Chamber in several respects, namely with regard to the Appellant's presence 

during an attack on 8 April 1994, the order to kill Kabuguza,'and the circumstances of his death.253 

He argues that Witness BMF's testimony regarding the killing of her younger brother and twenty 

Tutsis was also noi admitted.254 He further submits that the Trial Chamber did not find these 

witnesses credible with regard to the events of 8 April 1994 and should have rejected these 

testimonies in their ~ntirety .255 

127. With regard ~o the attack of 8 April 1994, 1\he Trial Chamber found that Witnesses BMH and 

BMF were generallt credible and concluded baied on their testimony that the attack had taken 
I I 

place.256 However, it did not find established beyond reasonable doubt that the Appellant observed 
: I 

the attack and that ~embers of bis family were al~o present, despite the evidence provided by both 

witnesses to this eff~ct. The Appellant claims thatjsince the Trial Chamber's findings suggested that 

Witnesses BMF and\ BMH had falsely attempted to implicate him, the Trial Chamber erred in law 
I I 

"in believing the rest of their testimonies."257 The1 Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber 
I I 

had the discretion to accept only part of the witnesses' evidence. The Trial Chamber reached its 
; I 

conclusion on the e~dence of these witnesses *fter having carefully considered the credibility 

challenges made by the Defence, focluding the allegation of collusion.258 It did not fim.l thaL lhesc 
! I 

witnesses had attempted to falsely implicate the !Appellant, but merely refrained from entering a 
, I 

findfog on the presbnce of the Appellant at th~ attack because it was not persuaded beyond 
I I 

reasonable doubt witµ respect to the part of their 9lvidence tbat directly implicated the Appellant. 259
. 

The Tri.al Chamber e~pressed doubt as to whethe~ it would have been possible for the witnesses to 
' I ' 

recognize someone from their vantage points, gi-Jen the circumstances of the attack. 260 The Trial 

Chamber's reasoning' shows that it did not disbelieye the witnesses' accounts of the attack but that it 

applied. additional caµtion to their identification ofi the Appellant and declined to enter a conviction. 
' I 

on the basis of their ~vidence. The Appellant has r{ot shown how the Trial Chamber erred in failing 

to disregard the testimonies of these witnesses in ~eir entirety. 
I 
I 
' 

i 
( d) Witness BME ' 

I 

128. The Trial Chamber found credible Witness ~ME•s evidence regarding a meeting held on the 

rooming of 15 April :1994 at the Appellant's houJe where the Appellant ordered a large crowd to 
; ! 

,-.53-A_ppe ___ ll_an_t'_s_B-ri_et_, p_ara;._: _1_00_,-refi-eni.ng to Trial Judgement, ~aras. 133, 139, 140, 145. 
254 Appellant's Brief, paral, 100. referring to Trial Judgement, iPara. 199. 
lSS Trial Judgement., para.sf 107. 108. i 
156 Trial Judgement, para .. :135. I 
2S7 Appellant's Brief, para', 108. I 
:i.s: Trial Judgement paras/ 130-13.5. 
25, Trial Judgement, para. ;135. 
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I 

destroy houses of Tutsis.:261 It noted that the witness testified that the policemen who stayed at the 
I 

Appellant's house participated in the meeting and concluded that her testimony corroborated the 

evidence given by o~er witnesses regarding the Appellant and the policemen.262 

129. Toe Appellant claims that the testimony of Witness BME at best permits a finding that he 
I 

gave orders to the cc;,mmune policemen on the morning of 15 April 1994, but does not support any 

inference that he ex~cised authority over them during the entire month of April 1994.263 

I 

130. The Appeals!Chamber agrees that the evidence of Witness B.'.ME alone could not support a 
I 

:finding of the Appellant's authority over the policemen through April 1994. However, the Trial 
i 

Chamber only con~dered this evidence as corroborative of other evidence regarding the 
I 

relationship between: the Appellant and the policemen. From a review of the relevant portion of the 

Trial Judgement, it !is evident that the Trial Chamber considered that Witness B.'.ME' s evidence 

corroborated the testimonies of Witnesses BMF. BMH, BLX. BMA, BMU, and BMG in relation to 

the presence and role of the po]jcemen at the Appellant's house and the nature of their relationship 

with the Appellant.~64 Witness BME' s testimony was not only corroborative of these other 

testimonies, but alsoisupported a finding that, on 15 April 1994, the Appellant was in a position to 

give orders to the policemen. 

131. The Appell.aD;~ further contends that the testimony of Witness BME could not be believed.265 

I 

He avers that, if beli,ieved, this testimony would conflict with the Prosecution's allegation that the 

Appellant was in Ntarama on the same day.2615 He further claims that Witness BME's evidence that 
I . 

the Appellant orde~ a crowd to kill Tutsis and destroy houses belonging to Tutsis on 15 April 

1994 also contradic~ the Trial Chamber's findings that the kiUings resulting from these orders had 

been committed pnru\. to that date.267 These submissions will be considered below under Section C. 

(e) Witness BMG : 
I 

132. With regard ~o Witness BMG. the Appellant merely states that the Trial Chamber did not 
I 

believe him regarding the killing of Felix Dix and Kabuguza and recites bis testimony that the 
' 

Appellant's house was guarded by commune policemen. namely Kalimba, Habimana. and 

260 Trial Juogeme.ot, paraJ. 133,134. 
261 Trial JudgenumL paralt 103. 118. 
162 Trial Judgement. pan1...li 18. 
203 Appe]Jant's Brief, paras. 109, 110. 
264 Trial Judgement. para.It 18. 
265 Appellant's :Stief, para. 111. 
266 Appellant's Brief, para. 111. l 
267 Appellant's Brief, pa.ra. 111, tefeiring to other sub-sections of the Appellant's Brief dealing wilh the ldll1ngs of 
Ka.buguza, Kahabayc. Mutekezi, and Ndingutse. 

I 
I 
I 
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i 
Kabarate.268 The AP,pellant acknowledges that Witness BMG gave details of the links which existed 

between these polic~men and the Appellant and points out that the witness clearly explained that he 
I 

did not see the Appellant committing or ordering any crime. 269 

I 

133. The Appell.ant does not attempt to show an error on the part of the Trial Chamber in 
I 

assessing this witness's evidence. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber rejects the Appellant's vague 

and unclear assertioJis in relation to Witness BMG. 

I 

3. Alleged Error in Failing to Give Proper Weight to Defence Evidence 

I 
134. At the outset of its assessment of the Defen~e evidence related to the Appellant's authority 

I 
over the policemen,: the Trial Chamber recalled its findings under a previous section of the Trial 

Judgement that it a1orded "limited weight" to the evidence of the Appellant's relatives, Witnesses 

ATA, K.D, and BBK;.270 The Trial Chamber then proceeded to consider the testimonies of Defence 
I 

Witnesses KBG, KNK, and ZBM, but accorded them limjted or no weight In so doing, it reasoned 
' I 

that ''Witness KBG~ who did not notice anything peculiar, only passed by Karera's house in 
I 

Nyamirambo about three times in April (1994]".271 It noted that .. [a]lthough be did not personally 

see crimes being dommitted, he confirmed that the people who manned the roadblock in 
I 

Nyarugenge committed crimes against civilians.',212 With regard to Witness KNK, the Trial 
l • 

Chamber noted that !her eVldence that ''there was no roadblock near Karera's house was based on 

her visits in the ar~a between January and 6 April 1994, whereas the roadblocks were set up 
l 

later''.273 The Trial Chamber found that Witness ZBM "lacked first-hand knowledge about the 

events," and that "[fois testimony that he was not told about the involvement of Karera or the 
I 

policemen in the killings in Cyivugiza in 1994 carries limited weight compared to direct and 
I 

consistent evidence from other witnesses implicating them in the killings."274 

I 
135. The Appell~t submits that the Trial Chamber ened by ''unreasonably dismiss[ing] the 

I 

testimonies of Witne,sses ATA. KD, BBK, KBG, KNK and ZBM, without providing satisfactory 
I 

explanations for sue~ a decision.''275 

I 

136. The Appeals '\Chamber notes that eight Defence witnesses, namely, the Appellant, three 
I 

witnesses related to film (Witnesses ATA, KD, and BBK), and Witnesses KBG, KNK, ZBM, and 

268 Appellant's Brief, pari. 112. 
2159 Appellant's Brief,~ 112. 
270 Trial Judgement, para. 119. 
271 Trial Judgement, para. 119. 
272 Trial Judgement, para. 119. 
273 Trial Judgement, para. 119. . 
274 Trial Judgement, para. 119 -
275 Appellant's Brief, Pllr8!- 114, referdng to Trial Judgement, para. 119. 

! 

i 
Case No.: ICTR-01-7~A 

' I 
I 

38 
2 February 2009 



02/02 '09 11: 53 FAX 003.1705128932 
14) 043 

lff2/I 
B:MP, testified in relation to the Prosecution's allegation that the Appellant was present in 

Nyamirambo in Ap~ 1994 and that he gave orders to the policemen under his authority.276 

I 

137. In the cours~ of its assessment of the relevant Defence evidence, the Trial Chamber stated 

that it accorded limited weight to the evidence of witnesses who were related to the Appellant on 
I 

the ground that "[ w ],bile these relationships do not, in themselves, discredit the witnesses, they may 

account for the witnesses' inclination to resolve any lapse in their recollections in a manner 
i 

favourable to Karera/'277 These observations merely demonstrate that the Trial Chamber viewed the 

evidence from Def~nce witnesses who had close relationships with the Appellant or bis family 
I 

members with cauti?n and does not demonstrate per se that the Trial Chamber erred in law in its 

assessment of this evidence. 

i 
138. The Appeal~ Chamber notes that Witnesses ATA, KD, and BBK were away from the 

' 
Appellant's house i~ Nyan:rirambo after 7 April 1994.278 Therefore, the evidence of these three 

witnesses was not significant with regard to the presence and role of the three policemen at the 

Appellant's house af:ter 7 April 1994. In these circumstances, the Appeals Cb.amber sees no error in 
I 

the Trial Chamber a~cording limited weight to the evidence of these witnesses on this point. 
I 

139. With regard : to Witnesses KBG, KNK. and ZBM, the Trial Chamber considered their 
I 

testimonies but it is ~pparent fr.om the Trial Judgement that it did not find their evidence relevant or 
I 

significant regarding the Appellant's authority over the three policemen and their role in the 

commission of crim~ in Nyamirambo. 279 The Appellant has not shown any error in this approach. • 

140. The Appeals \chamber recalls that the\the task of weighing and assessing evidence lies, in 
' i 

the first place, with the Trial Chamber. The Trial Chamber had therefore the discretion to assess the 
' I 

relevance and weight of evidence given by both Prosecution and Defence witnesses when reaching 
' i 

a decision as to the 'Appellant's authority.2110 i'The Appellant has not demonstrated how the Trial 
' ' 

Chamber abused its 
0

disc.retion in this respec~ Accoi:cfingly. the Appeals Chamber dismisses this 
l 

sub-ground of appeal. ' 

276 Trial Judgement. paras~ 104-109. 
m Trial Judgement, para. !499_ i 
2711 See Trial Judgement, para.. l OS for the summary of the witnc..~ses• testimonies. 
179 Trial Judgement, para. '.119. \ 
180 Musema Appeal Judgement, para. 18; Rutaganda Appeal Judgement, para. 392; Ku.preikic et aL Appeal Judgement, 
para. 31. I j 

I 
' 
! 
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B. Alleged ~ttors relating to the Appellant~s Orders to Kill Kabuggza's Famil! 
' 
' 

~044 

141. The Trial ~ham.her found that between 7 and 10 April 1994, the Appellant gave, via 

telephone, an order to kill Kabuguza 21:n At the same time, the Trial Chamber held that it could not 
I 

conclude beyond r~asonable doubt that Kabugt17..a was killed by the policemen stationed at the 

Appellant's house, s~ce the time and place of the killing were unclear, no one observed the alleged 
I 

killing, and no one 1fard anyone assume responsibility for iL 282 

I 
I 

142. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erred jn law by making this finding based on 
I 

contradictory and *plausible evidence.283 Since the Trial Chamber based its finding on the 
I 

testimonies of Wi~esses Bl\1H, BMU. and BMF, the Appellant first reiterates his previous 
I 

submissions that the testimonies of these three witnesses should be rejected in their enfuety.284 
I 
I 

Next, the Appellatj.t recalls that the Trial Chamber listed the various contradictions and 
I 

inconsistencies in the testimonies of Witnesses BMF and BMH and claims that there were 
I 

additional inconsist~cies that the Trial Chamber did not note.285 However, he points to only one 
I 

example: the fact ~t Witness Bl\1F testified that the Appellant ordered that Kabuguza's entire 

family be killed, while Witness BMH stated that the Appellant instructed that the other members of 
I 

Kabuguza's family be spared.186 The Appellant contends that Witnesses BMF, BMH. and BMU 
I 

lied in their testimoiµes.2
fr7 He argues that the Trial Chamber "speculated in order to make up for 

the shortconrings of\the Prosecutor's case," thus ignoring the "reasonable possibility that Katera 
I 

had nothing to do with the killing.''288 The Appellant asserts that this finding has impacted on the 
i 

Trial Chamber's conclusion that the Appellant exercised authority over the policemen in 
I 

9 I 
Nyamirambo. 28 

: 

143. The Prosecut:i,~n responds that this sub-ground of appeal is unfounded.190 It submits that the 
i 

Trial Chamber duly Jxamined the witnesses' evidence, considered the contradictions, and provided 
\ 

a reasoned explanati¢m for accepting the testimonies.291 It claims that the Appellant has failed to 
I 

show how the Trial! Chamber's explanation was unreasonable or unfounded.292 Moreover, the 
I 

Prosecution notes th~t even though the Trial Chamber found that the Appellant ordered Kabuguza 

2111 Trial Judgement. para.1145_ 
282 Trial Judgement, para.1145. 
2Al Notice of Appeal, paras. 94. 95~ Appellant's Brief, para. 127; AT. 28 August 2008 pp. 14, 42, 43. 
2114 Appellant's Brief, pri. 92-96, 120. 
285 Appellant's Brief, paral. 125. dting Trial Judgement, paras. 140-144. 
2116 Appellant's Brief, paraL 125. 
217 Appellant's Brief, paral 126. 
2111 Appellant's Brief, P~- 127, 128. 
289 AT. 28 August 2008 p.114_ 
290 Respondent's Brief. para. 101. 
i9i Respondent's Brief. pat-a. 99. 
2112 Respondent's Brief, para. 99. 
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to be killed, a ••reading of the Trial Chamber's legal findings shows that it did not hold the 

Appellant responsible for this murder."293 The Prosecution concludes that the Appellant has not 

demonstrated the impact that a possible error as to bis role in Kabuguza's killing could have had on 

the verdict and that this sub-ground of appeal should accordingly be dismissed.?94 

144. The Trial Chamber's impugned finding stands on the evidence of Witnesses BMU, BMF, 

and BMH. The Trial Chamber found that "Witnesses BMF and BMH gave a generally consistent 

account about overhearing a policeman talk on the telephone in Karera's house about killing 

Kabuguza".295 However, it noted a number of problematic elements in the evidence related to the 

Appellant's alleged order to kill Kabuguza and to his alleged murder. Specifically, Witness BMU 

stated that the killing of Kabuguza occurred between 7 and IO April 1994, Witness BMH did not 

provide a date for the phone conversation, but implicitly situated it in Aprll 1994, and Witness BMF 

said that both the phone conversation and the killing of Kabuguza took place in May 1994. 1n 

addition, Witness BMF s testimony indicated that several days separated the phone conversation 

and the killing of Kabuguza while Witness BMF testified that the killing took place on the moming 

after the conversation. Furthermore, Witness B:MF testified that Kabuguza's entire family was 
' killed, infonnation corroborated by Witness BMU, while Witness BMH stated that the Appellant 

had decided that Kabuguza's wife and children could live.296 On the basis of these inconsistencies, 

the Trial Chamber considered that the circumstances, the location, and the time of the killing 

remained unclear and as a consequence, refrained from concluding ''beyond reasonable doubt that 

Kabuguza was actually killed by the police officers statiqned at Karera's house".297 

145. The Appeals Chamber finds, however, that the TriaJ Chamber should have adopted a more 

cautious approach in its assessment of the Prosecution evidence regarding the person who ordered 

the killing. The testimonies of ~itnesses B:MF and BMH were not corroborative as to the period of 

the Appellant's purported order to kill Kabuguza. The evidence provided by Witness BMH is 

speculative as to the identity of the person who ordered the killing.291 Furthennore, no clarity exists 

as to whether the scdpe of the order was to kill the entire family of Kabuguza or to spare bis wife 

and children. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that, 
' between 7 and 10 April 1994, the Appellant ordered the murder of Kabuguza. 

i 
146. Nevertheless~ :this error could not lead to a miscarriage of justice since no conviction was 

entered on the basis of the alleged order to murder Kabuguza. The Trial Chamber's assessment of 

2113 Respondent's Brief, pa:ra. 100, citing Trial Judgement, paras. 538. 559. 
294 Respondent's Brief, para. 101; AT. 28 Angu.,;l 2008 pp. 42, 43. 
295 Trial Judgement, para. '139. 
296 TriaJ Judgement,. paras. 139-144. 
297 Trial Judgement, para. 145. 
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the Appellant's authority over the policemen is primarily based on the evidence that in 1994, they 

lived in and guarded his house, that they received orders from him, that they referred to him as 

''boss" and that they manned a roadblock near his house.299 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber 

dismisses this sub-ground of appeal. 

C. Alleged Errol"S relatino to the Finding that the Appellant Ordered the Killing of Tut.eds 

and Destruction of their Homes in Nyamiram.bo 

147. The Trial ~ber found that between 7 and IS April 1994, the Appellant gave orders to 

kill Tutsis and destroy their houses in Nyamirambo at locations near bis house.300 It further found 

that between 8 and 10 April 1994 or around these dates, the policemen who guarded the Appellant's 

house destroyed the 'houses of Kahabaye and Felix Dix with the assistance of the Interaha.mwe.301 

In finding that these events took place pursuant to the Appellant's orders, it relied on the evidence 

provided by Witnesses BME, BMG, BMH. BMF, BMU, and BLX.302 

148. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law and fact in finding that he had 

ordered the killing of Tutsis and the destruction of their property in Nyamirambo.303 

149. The Appeals Chamber will consider the Appellant's arguments in tum.304 

1. Alleged Error in Making a Finding of Fact on a General and Redundant Allegation 

150. The Appellant first contends that the Prosecution's underlying allegation itself was "general 

and redundant" and that the Trial Chamber erred by making a finding of fact from evidence jn 

support of such an allegation.305 This argument is summarily dismissed as the Appellant only raised 

it in the Notice of Appeal and did not develop it sufficiently to enable the Appeals Chamber to 

assess the alleged error. 

291 See Trial Judgement, P,ara.. 136. 
299 Trial Judgement, paras. 110-122. 139-145, 162-168, 173, 182, 192, 195-196, :203. 
3ou Trial Judgement. para. 168. 
301 Trial Judgement, para. :168, cross-referring Section ll.4.7 of the Trial Judgement where these killings are discussed. 
302 Trial Judgement. psras.. 159-166. 
303 Notice of Appeal. para. 99; Appellant's Brief. paras. 129•145. 
304 The Appellant's arguments in relation to his alibi (Appellant's Brief. para. 130) are considered below under Chapter 
IX. ' 3
0$ Notice of Appeal, para..,;;. 96. 99. 
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2. Alleged Error in the Assessment of Prosecution and Defence Evidence 

151. The Appellant next contends that the Trial Chamber committed a number of errors, which 

are detailed below: in the assessment of Prosecution and Defence evidence related to this 

allegation. 306 

(a) Alleged Inconsistencies in Dates and Times Provided by Prosecution Witnesses 

152. The Appellaz:it lists and highlights alleged inconsistencies in the dates and times provided by 

Prosecution witnesses in relation to the alleged orders. m He contends that "[i]t is absolutely 

unbelievable that the Chamber found, on the basis of this evidence, that Karera gave orders, 
I 

between 7 and 1S April 1994, to kill the Tutsi and destroy their houses in Nyamirambo and that, 

consequently, between 8 and 10 April 1994, the policemen who were guarding [bis] house 
I 

destroyed. the house~ of Kahabaye and Feli,c Dix, with the assistance of the Jnterahamwe''.308 He 

suggests that "[t]he evidence must have been examined in an offhand manner to make the finding 

that an impossible fact has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt~•.309 

I 

153. The Appellant argues that the testillloru.es of the Prosecution witnesses who testified about 

the alleged order to~ Tutsjs were "so contradictory" that the Trial Chamber "ought to admit" that 

they were probably speaking of different events.310 He further submits that the Tri.al Chamber erred 
I 

in concluding that there were several stages of destruction resulting from more than one order given 

by the Appellant, de~pite the fact that all the witnesses who testified about the destruction of th~ 

houses ofTutsis stated that it occurred immediately·after the order had been giveo.311 

154. The Prosecution responds that the Appellant simply lists inconsistencies in the Prosecution 

witnesses' evidence 'iW'ithout demonstrating specifically and in a well argued manner how the Trial 

Chamber failed to m~e good use of its power to assess the evidence."312 It submits that the Trial 

Chamber duly considered the testimonies of all the witnesses, including Defence witnesses, and 

recalls that it is witbi~ a Tri.al Chamber's discretion to assess the contradictions in light of the entire 
I 

evidence and de~e a witness's credibility.313 

' 

155. The Appeals ~amber recalls that the task of weighing and assessing evidence lies, in the 

first place, with the Trial Chamber and that it is within the Trial Chamber's discretion to assess any 

3~ Appellant's Brie!, par~. 131-144. 
307 Appellant's Brief, para;;. 131-136, summarizing the testimonies of Witnesses 13MU, BMG, B::MF, BMH and 'BME. 
JOR Appellant's Brief, P8I'Sl- 137 (emphasis in original), re!CII:ing to Trial Judgement, para. 168. 
309 Appellant's Brief, para. 137 (emphasis in original). 
310 Appellant's Brief, para'.. 138. 
311 Appellant's Brief, para. 139, referring to T.rlal Judgement. para. 166. 
312 Respondent's Brief, para. 103. 
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inconsistencies in ~e testimony of witnesses and to determine whether, in light of the overall 

evidence, the witnesses are nonetheless reliable and credible. 314 

156. The Appeals
1 
Chamber notes that. under Section 4.7 of the Trial Judgement. 315 the Trial 

Chamber found that :"the Interahamwe in Nyamirambo followed after Kahabaye, killed him in [the 

neighbouring commune of] Butamwa between 8 and 10 April [1994], and reported to Karera's 

policemen that the killing had taken place" and that "[t]he killing was a consequence of Karera' s 

OTder".31
<i As to the: killing of Felix Dix, the Trial Chamber found that "it must have occurred 

' 
between 8 and 15 April [19941, when the Tutsi houses were destroyed" but declined to enter a 

conviction on that b~sis, reasoning that there was not "sufficient evidence to find beyond reasonable 

doubt that the three policemen were responsible of killing Felix Dix [sic]."317 

157. There is no d6ubc that the Trial Chamber's 
1
mention of the destmction of houses of Tutsis in 

this section of the Trial Judgement is a reference, to its prior findings in Section 4.5 of the Trial 

Judgement.318 There 1the Trial Chamber held that "between 8 and 10 April 1994 or around these 

days, the policemen who guarded Karera' s house destroyed the houses of Kahabaye and Dix. with 

the assistance of the Interaham:we".319 

158. It is apparent that in making this finding. the Trial Chamber relied chiefly on Witness 

BMU's testimony.320 The Trial Chamber also considered the testimonies of Witnesses BMG, BMF, 
' 

BMH, BLX, and B~, and it appears to have, found them corroborative of Witness BMU's 

testimony on this point.321 The Trial Chamber considered the differences in these testimonies as ta 

the date of the events and did not find that these differences amounted to a conflict in the 

evidence.322 The Appeals Chamber notes that the range of dates provided by Witnesses BMG, 

BMF, BME, and BMH included the shorter time-frame given by Witness BMU. Toe Trial Chamber 

specifically concluded that "Witness Bl'V.IH's testimony that Karera gave the order to destroy houses 

between 10 and 15 April [1994] does not contradict Witness BMU's evidence that Kahabaye's and 

Dix's houses had been demolished by 10 April [1994]" and that the "evidence suggests that there 

was more than one order and several stages of destruction".323 The Appellant has not demonstrated 

313 Respondent's Brief, para.. 104. 
m See Bagilt:Shema Appeal Judgement, para. 78. 
JJs Trial Judgt.-ment. Section 4.7 (Killings of Joseph Kahabaye and F6lix. Dix). 
316 Trial Judgement, paras. 182, 183. 
317 Trial Judgement, paras. 184, 185. 
311 Trial Judgement, Section 4.5 (Order to Kill Tutsi and Destroy their Houses). 
319 Trial Judgement, para. 168. 
no Trial Judgement, paras. 152, 166, 167. 
321 Trial Judgement, paras. 159~166. 
321 Trial Judgement, para. 166. 
323 Trial Judgement, para. :166. 
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that no reasonable ~er of fact could have concluded that the evidence of Witnesses BMG, BMF, 

B:MH, BLX. and BME was consistent as to the date of the events. 

159. The Trial <;hamber, found Witness BM.E's t.estimony credible and accepted that her 

testimony that the e:vents in question occurred Ion 15 April 1994 was given honestly.324 It however 

concluded that .. it [~as] likely that Witness BF erred regarding the precise date of the event, in 

view of her traumat;ic situation" and the circumstances. 325 The Trial Chamber considered whether 

her testimony contrildicted Witness BMU's evidence that Kahabaye•s and Dix's houses had been 

destroyed between 7; and 10 April 1994.'326 It concluded that Witness BME' s evidence that the order 

to destroy houses took place on lS April 1994 did "'not exclude that Kahabaye's and Dix's houses 
i 

had already been ~emolished".327 The Appeals Chamber .finds that the Appellant has not 

demonstrated that the Trial Chamber erred ill making such a finding. 

160. The Appeals!Chamber finds no en-or in the Tri.al Chamber's fin.ding that "between 7 and lS 

April 1994. Karera gave orders to kill Tutsi and destroy their houses in Nyami.rambo, at locations 

near his house."328 This finding is supported by the evidence given by Witnesses BMU, BMG. 

BMF, BMH, BLX. and BME. which the Appellant has not successfully challenged. The Appeals 

Chamber will address below, under Sections E, F. G. and H. the Appellant's atguments related to 

the link between the 11lleged killings and these orders. 

I 
(b) Allegation of a Reasonable Possibility that i:be Houses Had Been Destteyed before ~ 

Appellant Allegedly Ordered their Destruction 

161. The Appellant claims that the Trial Chamber's holding leaves open the "reasonable 

possibility that the houses were destroyed before [be) gavd, the order to destroy them."129 
I 

162. The Appeals Chamber notes that in its reasonjng leading to the conclusion that the 

Appellant con:unitted genocide based on the killing of Kabahaye, Murekezi, Ndinguts~ and 

Nyagatare the Trial Chamber found that they .. were k:ifLied pursuant to Karera's orders to the 

policemen and Interahamwe to kill Tutsi[s] and destroy thefr homes, whfoh were given between 7 
• I 

and 15 April [1994]"330 and that the Appellant's order to destroy the houses of Kahabaye and Felix 

Dix also demonstr~te bis genocidal inteut331 The 'J;'rial Chamber considered the alleged 

324 Trial Judgement, paras. 159-161, 162, l 6ij, 
325 Tr.ia1 Judgement. para.· 160. 
3211 Trial Judgement. para. '166. 
3l 7 Trial Judgement. para. .166. 
au Trial Judgement. para. 168. 
329 Appellant's Brief. para:. 140. 
:iao Trial Judgement, para. ;538. 
131 Trial Judgement, para. ~39. 
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inconsistency betw~en the time-frames identified by some witnesses of the order and the timing of 

the houses' destruction. While one witness stated that the Appellant ordered the destruction of 

houses on 10 April 1994, another witness testified that the order was given on 15 April 1994, and 

two other witnesse~ testified that similar orders were made on or after 8 April 1994. The Trial 

Chamber reasoned that "[t]be evidence suggests that there was more than one order and several 

stages of destruction''332 and accepted the possibility that Kahabaye's and Dix's houses had already 

been destroyed on ~O April 1994. The Appeals Chamber sees no error in thjs reasoning and finds 

therefore that the Appellant has not shown that no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the 

conclusion that the Appellant ordered the destruction of the houses on the basis of the evidence. 

Furthermore, the Appellant has not shown that no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the 

conclusion that his order to destroy houses of Tutsis as well as the destruction of the houses of 
' 

Kahabaye and Felix Dix illustrate bis genocidal intent. 

(c) Afle~ed Differehtial Treatment of Defence and Prosecution Witnesses 

163. The Appellant further alleges, without elaboration, differential treatment of Defence and 

Prosecution witnesses by the Trial Chamber and claims that the Trial Chamber failed to explain 

why it did not believe the Defence evidence. 333 

164. A review of1 the Trial Judgement reveals that the Trial Chamber took into account the 

totality of the eviden~e and discussed in detail the evidence given by both Prosecution and Defence 

witnesses.334 Contraiy to the Appellant's claim, the Trial Chamber explained why the evidence 
I 

given by Defence witnesses "did not weaken the evidence adduced by Prosecution witnesses":335 

Witness KGB :confirmed that, generally. those who manned the roadblocks attacked and looted 
civilians. Witn,ess ATA's testimony confinns that Kaha.baye's house had been destroyed between 
7 April 1994 ;µid 1997. Witness KD, who said that it was demolished in late June 1994, did not 
observe its destruction and her account was based on infon:na.tion from others and is not in 
conformity with evidence from other witnesses. 336 

165. The Appellant has not demonstrated how the Trial Chamber erred in making this finding. 

His appeal on this point is therefore dismissed. 

ll
2 Trial Judgement, parJ.. .166-

333 Appellant's Brief, paras. 142, 143, 145. 
334 Trial Judgement. paras! 146-167. 
335 Trial Judgement, para. ,167. 
336 Trial Judgement, p11ra. ,167. 
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(d) Alleged Shifting of the Burden of Proof 

166. Toe Appellant alleges that the Trial Chamber's statement that the Defence witnesses did not 

weaken the Prosecution evidence illustrates that it erroneously shifted the burden of proof.337 

167. The Prosecution responds tba.t the Trial Chamber did not reverse the burden of proof and 

that "[h]aving seen and heard the witnesses testify, the Trial Chamber could very well prefer the 

testimonies [of the] Prosecution witnesses [ ... ] to the extent that these witnesses gave reliable and 

credible descri.ptions:of what they observed in person, although with minor contradictions."338 

168. The Appellant has not shown how the statement in question demonstrates that the Trial 

Chamber shifted the burden of proof. 

3. Conclusion: 

169. For the foregoing reasons, this sub-ground of appeal is dismissed. 
I 

D. Alleged Errors relating to the Finding that the Appellant Ordered that Certain Houses of 

Tutsis be Spared 

' i 
170. The Trial Cha:mber concluded chat in the period between 7 and 15 April 1994, the Appellant 

ordered that certain houses of Tutsis should not be destroyed.339 In malting this finding, the Trial 

Chamber relied mainly on the testimony of Witnesses BMF and ~MI-1340and also considered that 

Witness BMG's evid~nce corroborated that of Witness BMF about sparing the life of a Tutsi man 

named Callixte Kalisa. 341 

171. The Appellant submits that the Trjal Chamber's assessment of the evidence of these 

witnesses and its finding that certain houses of Tutsis were spared on the Appellant's orders are 

erroneous.342 The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly assessed the evidence 

concerning the order ~at certain houses of Tutsis be spared. 343 

I 

172. Toe Appellant first contends that Prosecution Witnesses BMG, BMF, and BMH do not 

corroborate each other since none of them "gave the same reasons advanced by [the Appellant] or 

m Appellant's Brief. pa.ral 144, citing Trial Judgement. pan.. 167'. 
m Respondent's Brief. para. 107 (citations omitted), citing Trial J;udgement, paras. 159. 162, 165. 
339 Trial Judgement, para. ~ 73. 
340 TrialJudgemenL,paras; 173, 174. 
341 Trial Judgement, para. il.74. 
342 Notice of Appeal, para.: 102; Appellant's Brief, para. 149. 
343 Resp0ndent' s Brlef, paras. 110. 11 J. 
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by those persons who were quoting him, as to why the lives and houses of some Tutsi had to be 

spared. "344 

\ 

173. The Appeal~ Chamber recalls its holding in the Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement that: 

two t.estimo~cs corroborate one another when one pri.ma facie credible ccstimony is compatible 
with the other primafacie cre(tible testimony regarding the same fact or a sequertcc of linked facts. 
It is not necessary that both testimonies be identical in all aspects or describe the same fact in the 
same way. E'~cry witness presents what he bas seen from his own point of view at the time of the 
events. or according to how he understood the events recounted by others. It follows that 
coaoboration! may CJdst even when some details differ between testimonies. provided that no 
credible testilllony describes the facts in question in a way which is not compatible with the 
description giyen lo another credible testimony.345 

I 

174. The Appeals1Chamber further recalls that minor inconsistencies commonly occur in witness 

testimony with.out rendering it unreliable and that it is within the discretion of the Trial Chamber to 
i 

evaluate such incon~istencies and to consider whether the evidence as a whole is credible, without 

explahring its decisimn in every detail. 346 

175. While the T~al Chamber did not explicitly address this matter, the Appeals Chamber finds 

that the alleged inconsistency is minor and that it is not relevant to the material facts underlying the 

conviction. Accordi:b.gly, the Trial Chamber's failure to address this issue does not render its 
I 

reliance on the witnesses erroneous. 

176. Toe Appellapt next alleges that Witness BMG's testimony is "very confusing" and 

contradicts Witness .BMF as to the time period of the ord.ers allegedly given by the Appellant. 347 

I 

177. The Appeals~ Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber chiefly relied on Witness BMF's 

testimony, not Witn~s BMG's, in making the finding on the Appellant's order to spare the lives of 

certain Tutsis.348 Wl#le Witness BMG's testimony suggests that the order to spare Callixte's life 
I 

was given sometime;before 15 April 1994, Witness BMF testified that the order was given in the 
I 

second half of May 1994.349 In reaching its conclusion that the evidence of Witness BMG 

corroborated that of ~itness BMF "about the sparing of Callixte",350 the Trial Chamber reasoned 
i 

that it was not clear:from Witness BMG's testimony whether he personally heard the Appellant 
I 

make the order, or learned about it from others351 without addressing the apparent discrepancy 
I 

between the dates iddntified by the two witnesses as to when the Appellant ordered that the life and 

344 Appellant's Brief, p~. 148. 
;44$ Nahi.mana et al. Appe.(J. Judgement, para. 428. 
346 Kvo& et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 23. 
347 Appellant's Brief, p3r8!.. 148. 
:141 Trial Judgement. para. il 7 4. 
349 Trial Judgement. paras! 137, 171. 
lSO Trial Judgement, para. iI74. 
351 Tri.al Judgement, para. \174. 
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house of Callixte ~sa be spared. While it would have been preferable for the Trial Chamber to 

address such an apparent discrepancy, the Appeals Chamber does not find that this omission 

amounts to an error since the testimonies are not incompatible. 

178. The Appella.~t finally submits that Witness BMH's evidence must be dismissed since it was 

"obtained from other persons and does not tally with the evidence of the two other witnesses [BMF 
I 

and BMGJ."352 This!unsubstantiated submission is dismissed since the Appellant has not explained 
' 

what differences exi:st between the testilllony of Witness BMH and Witnesses BMF and BMG. To 

the extent that the 4ppellant is _challenging the hearsay nature of Witness BMH's testimony, the 

Appeals Chamber recalls that "hearsay evjdence is admissible as long as it is of probative value," 

and that a Trial Chamber has the discretion to cautiously consider hearsay evidence and to rely on 

it. 353 

179. The Appeals 1Chamber finds that the Appellant has not shown that the Trial Chamber erred 

jn relying on Witnesses BMF, BMH, and BMG in reaching its finding on this point. 

180. This sub-grol!lnd of appeal is therefore dismissed. 

E. Alleged Errors relating to the Finding that Kababaye was Killed on the 

Appellant's Orders 

181. The Trial Chamber found that, pursuant to the Appellant's order to kill Tutsis, Interaha.mwe 
' ! 

in Nyamirambo foll~wed Joseph Kahabaye and killed him in Butamwa between 8 and 10 Apri1 

1994.354 The Interah~zwe then reported the killing to the Appellant's policenien.355 Partly on the 

basis of these find~gs, the Trial Chamber found the Appellant guilty of ordering genocide and 

extermination and mfuder as crimes against humanity_ 356 

I 

182. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Kahabaye was killed on 

his orders357 and co~tends that the Trial Chamber erred in the assessment of the evidence. 3511 The 

352 Appellant's Brief, para. 148. See also Notice of Appeal, para. 101. 
353 See supra para. 39. : 
354 Trial Judgement, paras. 182, 536. 
"

5 Trial Judgement, para.., I 82. 
356 Trial Judgement., paras. 540, 555, 557, SS9, 560. 
357 Notice of Appeal. para.-;. J03-11S; Appellanl's Brief, paras. 150-165_ 
35

A Appellant's Brief, paras. 151-165. The Appellant cites paragraphs 108-113 of the Tri~ Judgement to demom;trate 
that the Trial Chamber was wary of Witness BMU and "noted all the same that he was lying." The Appeals ChambeC' 
notes that the Trial Chamber held that Witness BMU's testimony should be considered with caution (since he may have 
been influenced by a wish to positively affect the criminal proceedings a,,,nainst him in Rwanda) but, contrary to lhe 
statement in the Appellant's Brief, the Trial Chamber did not con~udc that the witness was lying. Trial Judgement, 
para. 113. Therefore, the Appeals Chamber need not address the unsubstantiated argument that this fact was never 
pleaded in the Amended Indictment. Notice of Appeal, para. 112. 
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Appellant contends ithat all three Prosecution witnesses, upon whom the Trial Chamber relied in 

making the above finding, Witnesses BMU, BMF, and BMG, gave hearsay evidence and provided 

no direct evidence ~plicating the Appellant in Kahabaye's murder.359 He claims that the Trial 

Chamber relied on ! the "incomplete accounts" of witnesses and particularly opposes the Trial 

Chamber's accep~ce of the testimony of Witness BMU in light of its prior assessment of this 

witness.360 He furth~r alleges that no causal link was established between the order and Kahabaye's 

~g.361 The Appellant claims chat tbe Trial Chamber failed to examine the factual contradictions 

in the witnesses' testimonies and erroneously made its finding even though "it has not been proved 

beyond a reasonable;doubt that Kahabaye was killed on Karera's orders."36
i 

' 
183. The Prosecu#on responds that the Trial Chamber correctly found that Kahabaye was .killed 

on the Appellant's orders-363 It submits that the Trial Chamber relied on the testimonies it deemed 

G"Tedible and found \that the Appellant had given orders to the Interahamwe and policemen?64 

I 

Further, the Prosecution points to the Trial Chamber's previous findfog that the Appellant exercised 

authority over the :1nteraham:we and the three policemen guarding his house.365 Thus, the 
' 

Prosecution conclud~s that .. the death of Kahabaye was undoubtedly the direct consequence of the 
I 

Appellanl' S orders, and the Trial Cham.ber did not commit any error in thiR TegarcL .,g66 
' ' 
' 

184. The Appeals!Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber relied on the testimonies of Witnesses 
I 

BMU, BMG, and B~ in making its finding on this point_3
·
67 Witness BMG stated that he heard 

that Kahabaye had been killed in Butamwa, a location outsjde Ny~ambo, but did not know by 

whom. 368 Witness BMF observed the Appellant telling Kalimba that he no longer wanted to see the 
I 

"filth" of houses of Tutsis in front of his house, pointing to the houses nearby, such as those of 

Joseph Kahabaye, Felix, and Vianney Hitimana. 369 He testified that Kahabaye was arrested and 

ltilled by Interaham:v,,e in April 1994.370 As summarized by the Trial Chamber, Witness BMF also 

testified that lnterahamwe boasted "to the policemen about having killed [Kahabaye]".371 Witness 

339 Appellant's Brief, para. 163. See also Brlefin Reply, para. 33. 
300 AppelJant' s Brief, para. 152. 
361 Appellant's Brief, para. 159. 
362 Appellant's Brief, para. 159. 
363 Respondent• s Brief, para. l 12-
3r,., Respondent's Brief, para. 114. 
365 Respondent's Brief, para. 114, citing Trial Judgement, paras. 563,567. 
3156 Respondent's Brief, para. 11S. 
367 Trial Judgement., paras. 175-~80, 182. 
368 Trial Judgement, pataS. 177. 182: · 
369 Trial Judgement. para. 178. 
370 Trial Judgement. paras. 178, 182. 
371 Trial Judgement. para;. 178. No specific infonnation is given as to the identity of the said policemen. lt seems that 
the Trial Chamber infcrr~ from the coneo.xt that the people involved here were the policemen guarding the Appellant's 
house. Witness BMF testified that he was not present when Kahabayc was killed but tha.l '"[t]his infomiation l---1 was 
related to [.him]_" He~ stated that .. 111.terahamwes [sic] were boasting about what they had done., and so Ibey had 
no reason to li.e''. He specified tha1. he did ••not remember exactly the name of the person from whom [he} got that 
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i 

BMU received a telephone report from a subordinate that 0 'the policemen at Karera's roadblock had 

killed Joseph Kahabaye and Felix Dix and their families [and that] they also destroyed their houses, 

accoropanied by IntJrahamwe" _ 372 He further testified that on the same day he personally saw the 

ruins of the houses and noticed that "Joseph Kahabaye's folks" had been killed.373 

185. The Appeals Chamber notes that no direct evidence supports the Trial Chamber's 

conclusion that the "'lnterahamwe in Nyamirambo followed after Kahabaye, killed him in Butamwa 

between 8 and 10 April [1994], and reported to Karera's policemen that the killing had taken 

place".374 The Trial:Judgement is insufficiently clear as to how the Trial Chamber reached this 

conclusion. Furthe~ore, in finding that 0'the killing was a consequence of Karera's order"375 the 

Trial Chamber omitt,ed to specify which order it referred to and did not reveal how it established a 

link between the murder of Kahabaye and any order given by the Appellant. 

186. Based on the Trial Chamber's factual findings, the Appeals Chamber finds that no 

reasonable trier of fact could have concluded beyond reasonable doubt that Kahabaye's murder was 
a consequence of an ·order to kill Tutsfa given by the Appellant. The evidence regarding the location 

; 

of the crime and the identity of the perpetrators accepted by the Trial Chamber was not 

corroborated and, in.fact, remained conflicting. Witness BMG testified that the murder occurred in 

Butamwa. while Witness BMU seemed to place it in Nyamirambo. Witness BMF testified that the 

murder had been pexpetrated by lnteraha.mwe while, according to Witness BMU, the perpetrators 

were the policemen under the Appellant's authority. The Trial Cha,mber itself recognized that there 

was "limited information concerning the specific circumstances of hls death [and that] no witness 

observed the killing"376 but entered a finding that "the killing [of Kahabaye] was the consequence 

of Karera' s order'', 377 without explaining how it reached this conclusion. 

187. In sum, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Joseph 

Kahabaye's killing was .. a consequence of Karera's order". Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber 

grants this sub-ground of appeal and reverses the Appellant's convictions for genocide and 
I 

extermination and murder as crimes against humanity based on this event. 

:information. but [that] there were many Interaho.mwes [sic] passing by this location, and they came to brief the 
policemen regarding lhe\pcoplo that Ibey had killed". Finally. he staled that he .. heard this from the lnterahamwe.s [sic] 
themselves because they wcn, :reporting lo !he policemen, They were not telling me about the incident. They were 
talking to the policemen..·· T. 18 January 2006 p. 7. 
372 Trial Judgement, paras. 177, 182. 
373 Trial Judgement, p~. 179. 
374 Trial Judgement,. par3:- 182_ 
373 Trial Judgement. para. 182.. 
376 Trial Judgement, par~ 182. 
377 Trial Judgement, para'... 1 R2. 

' 
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F. Alleged Errors relating to the Finding that the Appellant Ordered Policeman Kalimba to 

Kill Mu.-ekezi 

188. The Trial Chamber found that between 8 and 10 April 1994, policeman Kalimba forced a 

man to kill Murekezi, a Tutsi, at the roadblock near the Appellant's house and later boasted that he 

had carried out the killing following the Appellant's order.378 It found that the testimonies of 

Witnesses BMU and BMG corroborated each other and were reliable despite their hearsay 

nature. 379 Partly on this basis, the Trial Chamber found the Appellant guilty of ordering genocide 

and extermination and murder as crimes against humanity.380 

I 

189. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had ordered Kalimba 

to kill Murekezi.381
, The Appellant claims that the Trial Chamber based its finding on "purely 

circumstantial evidence" and that this finding "amounts to speculation and is, therefore, 

erroneous."382 

190- The Appellai:it chums that the testimonies of Witnesses BMG and BMU, on the basis of 

which the Trial Chamber made this finding, are inconsistent and fail to provide a sufficient link 

between him and the; murder.383 The Appellant highlights that the Trial Chamber ''never mentioned 

or explained how it could be satisfied that conflicting evidence which it treated with caution proves 

a contested fact beyond reasonable doubt "384 

191. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber_ did not err. in making this finding_385 

192. The Trial Chamber relied primarily on the testimony of Witness BMG in making the 

impugned :fincling.386 It also found that Witness BMU's evidence corroborated Witness BMG's 

evidence. 387 The Appeals Chamber has recalled above that two testimonies corroborate one another 

when one prima facie credible testimony is compatible with the other prima facie credible 

testimony regarding the same fact or a sequence of linked facts and that it is not necessary that both 

testimonies be identical in all aspects or describe the same fact in the same way_388 It follows that 

corroboration may exist even when the testimonies differ on some details, provided that no credible 

371 Trial Judgement, para. 192.. 
379 Trial Judgement, para.. 189. 
380 Trial Judgement. paras. 540, 551, 560. 
3111 Notice of Appeal, para.c;. l l 6-127; Appellant's Brief, _paras. 166-173; Brief in Reply, para. 34_ 
382 Notice of Appeal, para. 125. 
313 Notice of Appeal, paras. 118, 119, 121; AppcIJant's Brief, para. 169; Brief in Reply, para... 34_ 
lu Brief in R.1..-ply, para. 34. 
33

' Respondent's Brief, pllrJ..'1. 116-119. 
386 Trial JudgemenL paras. 186, 188-190. 
387 Trial Judgement, para. 189. 
ll.lij See supra para.173. 
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testimony describes the facts in question in a way which is incompatible with the description given 

in another credible testimony.389 

193. Contrary to the Appellant's contention, the evidence of Witnesses BMO and BMU is not 

inconsistent or conflicting. The witnesses corroborate each other as to the fact that Mutekezi was 

killed and as to the -location of his killing. Witness BMG saw policeman Kalimba force a young 

man to .kill Murekezi at the roadblock in front of the Appellant's house between 8 and 15 April 
I 

1994.390 Subsequently, .Kalimba boasted that the Appellant had ordered him "to go and get 

Murekezi and bis wi;fe", but that he did not find the wife.391 Witness BMU testified that between 7 

and 10 April 1994 ~ subordinate reported to him over the phone that the lnterahamwe and the 

policemen who guarded the Appellant's house had killed Murekezi and bis two sons at the 

roadblock in front of the Appellant's house.392 The time-frames provided by the two witnesses are 

consistent. The Appellant has not shown how the Trial Chamber erred in finding these testimonies 

corroborative. 

194. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber relied on evidence containing ''three 

hearsays" and favoured Witness BMG without providing an explanation for why it found his 

evidence reliable. 393 

195. The _Appeals: Chamber dismisses the Appellant's contention. The Trial Chamber chiefly 

relied on the testimony of Witness BMO who saw policeman Kalimba force a man to kill Murekezi. 

WitneF-s RMG was therefore an eyewitness to the killing. He was also a direci witness to Kalimba: 

boasting that he had carried out the Appellant's order ''to go and get Murekezi and bis wife. "394 

196. In any case, ~e Appeals Chamber has already recalled. that it is for the appealing party to 

demonstrate that no ,reasonable trier of fact could have taken into account hearsay evidence in 

3119 See supra para. 173. 
l!ID Trial Judgement, para. 186. 
391 Tdal Judgement, para., 186. 
392 Trial Judgement. para. 187. 
m Appellant's Brief. para. 170. 
394 Trial Judgement, para. 186. Witness BMG stated that: ''[h]c was brought there by Tnterahamwe.1 who were 
acco.m.panied by a policeman who was guarding [the Appellant's] house, and when they got next to [the Appellant'sJ 
house, the policeman led Murelcezi and compelled him to lie down, and then he ordered a young man to kill him, but 
the: young man ref.usc:d to do that. I no longer remember the na'lllC of I.bat young mal'J. So when I.be young man refused 
to do so, the policeman loaded his rifle and - in order to fire - to shoot al the young man. So when the yollllg man saw 
tbal, he just took his machete and killed Murckczi. That was the circumstance of Murekc2.i's death. He bad been taken 
from a place which wa..~ fllnher away from there, and he was brought to the roadblock in order to be killed. And I would 
also like to add that lhc ~liceman's name was Kalimba. Later on, he boasted that it was [the Appellant] who ordered 
him t.o go and get Murekezi and Helen, that is Murekezi's Wife, but the policeman did not fmd Mureke2i's wife. He 
provided this information Jater, but I was there when he brought Murekezi there at the roadb1ock." T. 9 January 2006 p. 
21. 
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reaching a specific finding.395 The Appellant has not done so in this instance and therefore his 

contention that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on hearsay testimony is dismissed. 

197. Finally. the Appellant reiterates his argument made at trial that he was not cross-examined 

about his denial of the incident and submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law by nor considering 

that such unchallenged denial constitutes tacit acceptance of bis account. 396 

198. The Appeals. Chamber recalls that a Trial Chamber has the discretion as to whether or not to 

infer that statements which have not been challenged during cross-examination are true_397 It has 

already rejected the general contention that the Trial Chamber erred in not making such an 

inference from the fact that the Prosecution did not cross-examine the Appellant 398 Contrary to the 

Appellant's assertidn, the absence of cross-examination does not imply that the Prosecution 

accepted the Appellant's denial of this incident. The Appellant's argument is dismissed. 

199. This sub-grom1d of appeal is therefore dismissed. 

G. Alleged Errors relating to the Finding that the Appellant was Involved in the 

Murder of Ndingutse 

200. The Trial Chamber fom1d that on 10 April 1994, Jean Bosco Ndingutse, a Tutsi, was 

arrested and killed not far away from the Appellant's house by Interaha.mwe and the policemen 

who were guarcling the AppeUant's house.399 The Trial Chamber found that this killing was; one of 

the killings pe.rpetra~d pursuant to the Appellant's orders given to the policemen and Interahamwe 
I 

between 7 and 15 Agri] 1994 to kill Tutsi members of the populati.on.400 In making this finding, the 

Trial Chamber primadly relied on Witness BMU who testified that he saw Ndingutse being arrested 
' 

by the policemen du;ring the afternoon of 10 April 1994, about 300 metres from the Appellant's 

house.401 Later that day, one of Witness BMU's subordinates reported to him that Ndingutse had 

been killed by the policemen and lnterahamwe.402 Partly on this basis, the Trial Chamber found the 

Appell.ant guilty of ordering genocide and extermination and murder as crimes against humanity.403 

3u See. supra para. 39. 
396 Appellant's Brief, para.. 171. 
397 See supra para. '29. 
391 See supru para. 30. 
399 While the Trial Chamber did not specify which policemen pexpctrated the crime, it is clear from the context lha.t jt 
meant Lo refer to the policemen who. under the authority of the Appellant, guarded his house in Nyarn.irambo. See Trial 
Judgement, paras. 193, 196, 535. 
400 Trial Judgement, paras. 535, 536, 538. 
401 Trial Judgement, paras: 193-195_ 
402 Trial Judgement, para.. 193. 
403 Trial Judgement.. paras. 540,551,560. 

S4 
Case No.: ICTR.-01-74-A 2 February 2009 



02/02 '09 12:05 FAX 0031705128932 !CTR 14)059 

201. The Appell~t submits that the Trial Chamber made an erroneous finding since the evidence 

did not show that he ordered the murder of Ndingutse.404 He contends that the Trial Chamber relied 

solely on the hearsay testimony of WHness BMU. which did not provide any direct evidence of the 

Appellant's involve~ent in the incident leading to Ndingutse's murder.405 

202. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly assessed the evidence concerning 
• I 

the murder of Nclin~tse.406 It submits that the Trial Chamber was within its discretion in finding 

Witness BMU credible and relying solely on bis testimony.407 

203. The Appeals :Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Ndingutse had been 
I 

killed pursuant to th~ Appellant's orders given between 7 and 15 April 1994 to the policemen and 
' 

lnteraha.mwe .to kin; Tutsi. The Trial Chamber found that the killing occurred shortly after the 

Appellant had given :an order to kill Tutsis and destroy their houses and in a place near the location 
' 

where the order was\ given. However, Witness BMU was the only witness who testified about this 

event and the Trial :Chamber decided to consider bis testimony with caution, 408 since he might 

"have been influenc~d by a wish to positively affect the criminal proceedings against [him] in 

Rwanda". 409 

204. Witness BMµ testified that he saw the policemen guarding the Appellant's house arrest 

Nclingut.~ and that l4ter they .. took two vehicles [belonging to Ndfogutsel, a minibus and a Peugeot 

504" to the AppeBkrs compound.410 He also testified that he was told by a subordinate that 
I 

Ndingutse was killed by "Karera's policemen" and lnterahamwe. 411 The Appeals Chamber finds· 
I 

that no reasonable tri~ of fact could have accepted this witness's uncorroborated hearsay testirnony 
I 

that the policemen "fho killed Ndingutse were the policemen who guarded the Appellant's house. 

Furthermore, no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded on the basis of that circwnstantial 

evidence that the only reasonable inference was that Ndingutse had been killed pursuant to the 

Appellant's orders to kill Tutsis. 

205. In sum, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in fact in finrung that 

Ndingutse had been killed pursuant to the Appellant's order. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber 

grants this sub-ground of appeal and reverses the Appellant's convictions for genocide and 

extermination and murder as crimes against humanity based on this eveot. 

.- Notice of Appeal, para. 13 J: Appellant's Brief, para. 179. 
405 Brief in Reply, para. 34; Appellant's Brief, para. 176. 
4116 Respondent's Brief, para. l20. 
407 Respondent's Brief, para. 122, citing Ntyitegelw Appeal Judgement.. para. 171. See also Muhimana Appeal 
Judgement, para. 101; Ntji.t~geka. Appeal Judgement, para.. 92; Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement.. para. 72. 
408 ·rna1 Judgement, para.:113. 
409 Trial Judgement.. para. 113. 
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H. Alleged Errors relating to the Killing of Nyagatare on the Appellant's Orders 

206. The Trial Chamber found that a Tutsi man named Palat:in Nyagatare was killed at a 

roadblock by policeman Kalimba on 24 April 1994 and that this followed the Appellant's ordeTs to 

kill Tutsis in Nyamirambo.412 Partly on this basis, the Trial Cb.amber found the Appellant guHty for 

ordering genocide and extermination and murder as crimes against humanity.413 

207. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact in finding that he was 

responsible for the Iqlling of Pala tin Nyagatare. 414 He contends that even assuming that he gave the 

order to kill Tutsis in Nyamirambo, the Trial Chamber committed a factual error in finding that this 

order resulted in Nya.gatare's killing.415 The Appellant recalls that the witnesses who claimed that 
I 

he gave such an ordl?f pojnted to the time period between 7 and 15 April 1994, whereas Nyagata:re 

was killed on 24 /}pril 1994.416 Tbis, the Appellant contends, coupled with the fact that the 

Prosecution was unable to prove that the Appellant gave a specific order to kill Nyagatare, 

illustrates that there is no evjdence that Nyagatare's murder was the result of his alleged order.417 

He further claims that the Trial Chamber failed to meet its obligation to provide a reasoned opinion 

on this finding.418 

208. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly found that the Appellant's order 

resulted in the .killin~ of Nyagalare.419 First. it submits that Witnesses BMH and BMF corroborated 

each other on the facts of the killing.420 Second, the Prosecution argues that the Appellant's 

contention relating td the ten day difference between the aaie of the alleged order and the killing is· 

"without merit" since "the period of ten days is not too far removed .. and the Trial Chamber found 

beyond reasonable d~ubt that policeman Kalimba killed ~yagatare on Che Appellant's orders. 4lI 

209. In making the impugned finding, the Trial Chamber relied on the circumstantial hearsay 

eVldence of Witnesses BMF and BMH. Both witnesses stated that Nyagatare was killed on 24 April 

1994 and mentioned the involvement of Kalimba, one of the policemen who were guarding the 

Appellant's house, in the killing of Nyagatare.422 Witness BMF testified that Kalim.ba confirmed to 

410 T. 23 January 2006 pp. 17, 24. 
411 Trial Judgement. para. 193. 
~

12 Trial Judgement. para. 203. 
413 Trial Judgement, paras~ 540, 557, 560. 
414 Notice of Appeal, para.. 140; Appellant's Brief, para. 181; Brief in Reply, para. 33. 
415 Notice of Appeal, para: 135; Appellant's Brief, para. 181. 
416 Notice of Appeal, paras. 136, 137; Appellant's Brief, para. 181. 
417 Appellant's Brid, para~ 181. . 
41

' Appellant's Brief, para:. 183. 
419 Respondent's Brief, paras. 123, 124. 
420 Respondent's Brief, para. 123, 
421 Respondent's Brief, para.. l.23. 
4n Trial Judgement. paras. 200, 201. 
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her that he (Kalimba) had ordered Nyagatare•s execution.423 Witness BMH stated that Nyagatare 

was killed by a gro~p which included lnterahamwe and the Appellant's policemen.424 Witness 

BMH further testified that Kalimba subsequently told the assailants at Nyagatare's house to spare 

his chHdren, stating "we have just killed their father''. 425 

210. In assessing the testimonies of Witnesses BMF and BMH on this point, the Trial Chamber 

noted: 

The testimOny' of the two Telatives was consistent in relation to tbe time, location and pc.,-rpelrators. 
They both testified that Palatin [Nyagatare] was killed on 24 April and beard Kalimba admitting lo 
bcing involve~ in the killing. The Chamber recalls that che witnesses were personally acquamtfld 
with Kalim.ba, 1and that Witness BMF enjoyed bis protection[ ... ]. It is also clear thal Palatin was 
killed at a roadblock in the area [ ... ].426 

211. The Appeals Chamber recalls that a person in a position of authority may mcur 

responsibility for ordering another person to commit an offence427 if the person who received the 

order subsequently commits the offence. Responsibility is also incurred when an individual in a 

position of authority ~orders an act or omission with the awareness of the substantial likelihood that 

a crime will be committed in the execution of that order, and if that crime is committed by the 
I 

person who received'the order.428 No formal superior-subordinate relationship between the accused 

and the perpetrator is, required; it is sufficient that there is proof of some position of authority on the 

part of the accused tmat would compel the perpetrator to commit a crime pursuant to the accused's 

order.429 

212. The Appeals \chamber notes that, contrary to the Appell~t's contention, the Prosecution 

was not compelled to prove that the AppeJJant gave the specific order to kill Nyagatare. However, 

the Appeals Chamber is not satisfied, in the circumstances of the case, that the elements of the 

mode of responsilnHty of ordering were established beyond reasonable doubt. While the evidence 

demonstrates that Kalimba was involved in the murder of Nyagatare, a relatively long time lapsed 

between the Appellant's general order to kill Tutsis and the killing of Nyagatare, and no clear link 

bas been established between the order and the evidence re]ating to the murder. The Appeals 

Chamber finds therefore that no reasonable trier of fact could have found that the only reasonable 

conclusion available from the circmµ.stantial hearsay evidence of Witnesses BMF and BMH was 

that Nyagatare was killed as a result of che Appellant's general order to kill Tutsis in Nyamirambo. 

423 T. 18 January 2006 p. 31; Trial Judgement, para. 200. 
424 Trial Judgement, para.. ·201. 
425 Trial Judgement, para...;201. 
4lli Trial Judgement, para. ,202. 
427 Nahi.mana. et al. Appeal Judgem~t, para. 481. See also Galic Appeal Judgement, para. 176: Ntagerura et aL Appeal 
Judgement, para. 365; Kordir! and Cerkez AppeaJ Judgement, paras. 28, 29. 

: I 
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213. Accordinglyl this sub-ground of appeal is granted. 

I. Conclusion 
I 
I 

~062 

214. The Appeals Chamber grants the Jii'ifth Ground of Appeal in part and reverses the 

Appellant's convictions for ordering genoci~e and extermination and murder as crimes against 
I 

humanity, based on the alleged murders of Kahabaye, Ndingutse, and Nyagatare. 

4211 Nahimana. et al. A~ Judgement., para. 481. See al.so Galic Appeal Judgement, paras. JS2, 157; Kordic and 
terkez Appeal Judgement:. para. 30; Blas7dr! Appeal Judgement, para. 42.. 
429 Semanza Appeal Judgomerit, para. 361. I 
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l 

Vll. ALLEGED ERRORS RELATING TO THE KILLING OF TIJTSIS IN 

NTARAMA (GROUND OF APPEAL 6) 

215. The Trial Cliamber found that at a meeting at Ntarama sector office on 14 April 1994, the 

Appellant promised'. to provide security by bringing soldiers to protect the refugees.430 It further 

found that on 15 April 1994, the Appellant encouraged a group of lnterahamwe and soldiers to 
I 

attack the refugees ~t the Ntarama Church instead of provicling the security he had promised.431 

Several hundred Tutsis were killed during the attack.432 Based on these findings, the Trial Chamber 
I 

found that the Appellant "substantially contributed" to the attack and thus instigated genocide.433 

Additionally, the T.dal Chamber found that the Appellant was present during the attack and that he 

participated in it by; shooting, thus co~mitting genocide.434 Based on these findings, the Trial 
l 

Chamber also found: that the Appellant instigated and committed extemrination as a crime against 

humanity,435 and ins#gated murder as a crime against bumanity.436 

216. The Appellru;it challenges these :findings and contends that the Trial Chamber committed 

errors of fact and law in reaching them.437 He submits that the Trial Chamber erred in its assessment 
I 

of the evidence and that it should have found that the allegation that he was present and participated 
I 

in the attack at the Ntarama Church was "pure fabrication".438 The Appellant claims that the Trial 

Chamber's :findings 4re "unreasonable"439 and that, at the very least, there is reasonable doubt as to 

his participation in t¥s attack. 440 The Prosecution responds that ttu's ground of appeal has no merit 

and should be snm:roarily dismissed.441 The Appeals Chamber will consider the Appellant• s specific 

contentions in tum.442 

I 

A. Alleged Errors in the Assessment of Pros~ution Evidence 

217. The Appellan~ submits that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on wjtnesses who lied.443 He 

also submits that the; Trial Chamber erred by admitting testimonies of Prosecution witnesses who 

430 Trial Judgement, paras:. 246-254. 
431 Trial Judgement, paras~ 292-315. 
432 Trial Judgement, para. 1315. 
433 Trial Judgement, paras: 541-544. 
434 Trial Judgement. para. iS43. 
-m Trial Judgement, paras\ 554, 557. 
~

36 Trial Judgcmont, para. ~60. 
4ri Notice of Appeal. paras. 141-179; Appellant's Brief, pal'aS. 185-225. 
43

R Appellant's Brief, paras. 188-225, sp. pa.ta. 211. 
439 Appellant's Brief, para+ 191. 
440 Appellant's Brief, para!. 211. 
441 Respondent's Brief, pllf"a. 127. 
442 The Appellant's contention that bis alibi raised a reasonable doubt will be considered below in Chapter IX. 
443 Appe1Jant'& Bric::f, para: 191. 
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colluded among themselves to implicate him, 444 and that the inconsistencies in the evidence of the 
i 

Prosecution witnesses raise reasonable doubt as to his involvement in the attack on the Ntarama 
I 

Church on 15 April 1994.445 

I 

1. · Alleged Error in Relying on Prosecution Witnesses Who Ued 

I 

218. The Appellai'it argues that Prosecution Witnesses BMI and BMK lied and that the Trial 

Chamber erred in ex~laining or accepting inconsistencies in their testimonies. 446 

' 
(a) Witness BMI ' 

' 
219. Witness B~ testified that on 15 April 1994, the Appellant, in the company of soldiers, 

gendarmes, and lnte~aha.mwe, attacked the Ntarama Church.447 The witness described the Appellant 

as a "commander" ~ho directed the attackers.448 The Trial Chamber accepted Witness BMI's 

evidence as to the Appellant's involvement in the attack on the Ntarama Church.449 The Trial 
I 

Chamber considered\that there were similarities between Witnes·s BMI's account of the events and 

the accounts of the 1\bree othei- Prosecution Witnesses BMJ. BML, and BMK who testified about 

this attack. 450 
I 

220. The Appell~t contends that Witness BMI lied451 and claims that the Trial Chamber 

provided an explanation for Witness B:MI' s "lies" without any basis in the evidence. 452 

221. The Prosecutipn responds that even if the Trial. Chamber did find that it had not been proved. 

beyond reasonable d~ubt that, as testified by'Witness BMI. the Appellant issued, on 9 April 1994, 

an order to kill Tutsis and loot th.cir property, the Trial Chamber had discretion to accept other 
I 

aspects of the witnes~ • s evidence. 453 

I 

I 

222. The Appellant argues that the Trial Chamber did not believe Witness BMI when he testified 
I 

that, at a meeting in ~atoro cellule on 9 April 1994, the Appellant ordered the killing of Tutsis and 

the looting of their ioperty.454 In this regard, the Trial Chamber stated that "Witness BMI was not 
I 

clear'' in that he testifed not only to the alleged meeting in April 1994 but also to an event in 1992 

' ' 
444 Appellant's Brief, pads. 200-205. 
445 Appellant's Brief, pad. 209; AT. 28 August 2008 pp. 25, 26. The Appellant asserts that tbe Trial Chamber examined 
th~se inconsistencies at paragraphs 293 to 303 of the Trial Judgement. Appellant's Brief, para. 209. 
446 Appellant's Brief, para;s. 188, 196-199. 
447 Trial Judgement, parasL 269-274, su.mmariz:ing Witness BMI' s testimony. 
441 Trial Judgement, para. 1272. 
449 Trial Judgement, para.1303. , 
450 Trial Judgement, para.. ~94. 
451 Appellant's Brief. paraL 196. 
4

$
2 Appellant's Brief,~ 198, referring to Trial Judgement, para. 229. 

4s3 Respondent's Brief, para. 129. 
4S

4 Appellant's Brief, para+ 196; COnigendum to the Appellanl • s Brief, para. 2. 
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' 
and that his ''testimony also raised other issues".455 Tue Trial Chamber stated that even if some of 

the discrepancies in pis testimony could be ascribed to the fact that he was not accustomed to court 

proceedings and tha~ he had communication problems.456 the witness's seeming confusion of two 

different meetings rehl.ained a matter of concem.457 The Trial Chamber took into account the lack of 

corroborating evidence and concluded that the allegation relating to the meeting in Gatoro cellule 

had not been proved beyond reasonable doubt. 458 

I 

223. The Trial Chamber's reasoning does not suggest that it found Witness BMI to be dishonest 

or to otherwise lack credibility. Rather, it suggests that the Trial Chamber considered that the 

substance of the witi:1ess' s evidence, particularly since he was the only witness to testify about the 

alleged meeting in Gatoro cellule, did not support a finding beyond reasonable doubt in relation to 

this allegation. 1bis ;finding did not preclude the Trial Chamber from considering and relyfog on 

Wjtness BMI' s evjdence in relation to other allegations- As already recalled. it is not unreasonable 

for a Trial Cham.bci' to accept some parts of a witness's testimony while rejecting others.459 

Consequently, the Appellant's argument is rejected. 

224. The Appellant further argues that there is a discrepancy between Witness BMI's prior 

statement of 4 May; 2001460 and bis testimony at trial in relation to the burning down of his 

house.461 Toe Appe~s Chamber notes that the evidence at trial was that the witneSs discovered that 

bis house was bumdd down on 14 April 1994.462 The witness's prior statement of 4 May 2001 

indicates that bis house was burned down on 8 April 1994.463 The Appellant also argues that 

Witness BMI denied meeting a member of the Prosecution ream after 18 January 2006, yet the 

Prosecution's will-say statements indicate that the wjtness informed the Prosecution on 23 January 

2006 and 26 January 2006 that there we-re errors in his written statement.464 A review of the 

transcripts indicates that. under cross~examination, the witness testified that he arrived in Arusha on 

16 January 2006 and met the Prosecution on 18 January 2006 and that he did not meet with the 

Prosecution on 23 or 26 January 2006.465 

225. Having obsen-ed Witness BMl in court, the Trial Chamber considered that the witness was 

not accustomed to · court proceedings and had problems communicating, and that some 

4
" Trial Judgement, para. ~228. 

456 Trial Judgement, para. !229. 
451 Trial Judgement. para. :229. 
458 Trial Judgement, panis1 229, 230. . 
459 See supra para. 88. , 
4(,() Appellant's Brief, p~ 197. rcfemng to Exhibit D19 containing Witness SMI's statement of 4 May 2001. 
461 Appellant's Brief, p~ 197. 
4(1~ Trial Judgement, paras. 227, 241. 
46.1 Exhibit D19A. · 
464 See Exhibits D20, D2f 
~ T. 31 January 2006 p. ~-
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' 

inconsistencies couJd be attributed to this. 466 The Trial Chamber expressly noted the inconsistencies 

relating to the date fw°itness BMI' s house was burned down and the date when be met with the 
I 

Prosecution prior to: bis testimony.467 The Appeals Chamber recalls that it falls within the Trial 

Chamber's discretion ro determine whether an inconsistency is sufficient to cast doubt on a 

witness's credibility;468 The Appellant's arguments fail to show that the Trial Chamber erred in 

assessing Witness BMI' s credibility and in relying on his evidence. 

(b) Witness BMK j 

I 

226. Witness BMK testified that, on 14 Afxil 1994, he attended a meeting chaired by the 

Appellant at the N-a sector of:fice.469 He I stated that the Appellant opened the meeting by 

announcing the death of the President.470 Toe witness also stated that the Appellant addressed the 
' 

Tutsis at the meeting and claimed that they. were the ones who killed the President and that they 

were "going to pay. for that".471 Witness BMK further testified that, on 15 April 1994, the 

Appellant, in the company of lnterahnmwe and soldiers, arrived in Nta:ram.a sector on board one of 

six buses. 472 He stated that the attackers, including the Appellant, emerged from the buses and 

started to shoot at th~ refugees473 who were in the vicinity of the Ntarama Church, the sector office, 

and the school. 474 

227. The Trial Ch~ber found that it had not been established beyond reasonable doubt that the 

Appellant threatened !Tutsi refugees in a meeting at the Nta:rama sector office on 14 April 1994.475 It 

reasoned that a threat of this nature ''would be of a dramatic character and not easy to forget" and· 
' 

that it was "signifidnt" that only one of the three Prosecution witnesses who testified about this 

meeting, Witness B¥1(,476 mentioned this threat.477 The Trial Chamber found, nevertheless, no 

basis to conclude that Witness BMK lied.478 

' 
228. The Appellant contends that Witness BMK. lied and "tried to implicate [him] falsely" in the 

events at the Ntarama Church.479 In this regard, he claµns that the witness also falsely testified that 

466 Trial Judgement, pata...'229. 
467 Trial Judgement. para. :229, fn. 288. 
468 Seromba Appeal Judgement., para. 116, referring lo Rutaganda Appeal Judgement, para.. 443; Musema Appeal 
Judgement, para. 89; Celebici Appeal Judgement, para. 497; Ku.preili.c et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 156. 
469 Trial Judgement., para. ·237. 
470 Trial Judgement., para. :238. 
471 Trial Judgement. pru:a. 1238. 
472 Trial Judgement. para. :262. 
47

J Trial Judgement, para.. 263. 
474 Trial Judgement, para. 262. 
◄n Trial Judgement. para. .253-
176 See Trial Judgement. para. 253. 
477 Trial Judgement, para.. 253. 
471 Trial Judgemcnl, para. ~07. 
479 Appellant's Brief, p~ 199. 

Case: No.: ICT'R-01-7+:A 
62 

2 February 2009 



02/02 '09 12:11 FAX 0031705128932 14)067 

the Appellant ''tbr~atened thousands of Tutsjs" at a meeting the day before the attack on the 

Ntarama Church. 480 

229. The Prosecution responds that even if the Trial Chamber found that it had not been proven 

beyond reasonable ~oubt that the Appellant threatened Tutsi refugees, it did not conclude that 

Witness BMK's entire evidence was not credible.4n 

230. The Appeals: Chamber considers that the fact that the Trial Chamber did not rely on this 

witness's testimony :about the Appellant threatening Tutsis at this meeting does not mean that his 

testimony about che ~ppellant's involvement in the attack at the Ntarama Church on IS April 1994 

lacked credibility. A~ stated above. it is not unreasonable for a Trial Chamber to accept some parts 

of a witness's tes~ony while rejecting others.482 Consequently, the Appellant has failed to show 

that the Trial Chamber erred in relying in part on Witness BMK's evidence. 

2. Alleged Collusion by Prosecution Witnesses 

231. The Appella.~t submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law by admitting, without 

corroboration. the t~timonies of Prosecution Witnesses B:ML, BMJ, BMK. and BMI, despite 
I 

having found implic~tly that it was likely that there was collusion among them.483 He asserts that 

these witnesses coll~ded to implicate him. ~84 The Appellant argues that there were details in the 

witnesses' testimonies that they would not', have remembered without discussing them with each 

other. particularly si+ce they testified to an event which had occu':'l"ed twelve years carlier.485 The_ 

Appell.ant states that: all four witnesses testified that. on 15 April 1994, buses 'With soldiers and 
, I 

lnterahamwe arrived· in Ntararna and that the Appellant alighted from the second bus carrying a 

long rifle and wearirig a long coat. 486 He submits that Witnesses BML and BMJ were interviewed 
I ' 

on the same day and, at the same location, and that on another occasion Witnesses BMI and BMK 
I ' 

were also interviewed on the same day and iat the same location. 487 The Appellant also claims that 

Witnesses BMJ and, BML made similar :•corrections" to their statements, as well as similar 

"mistakes",488 and that there were striking similarities in the descriptions they provided.489 He 

ai:gues that the discrepancy in the testimonies of the four witnesses with regard to their "mutual 
!. 
i: 

! 480 Appellant's Brief', para. 199; AT. 28 August 2008 p. 26. 
481 Respondent's Brief, para. 129. •', 
4G ' See supra para.. 88. i· 
413 Appellant's Brief. paras. 200, 224. I 
4114- Appellant's Brief, paras. 204,205. 
~ Appellant's Brief, para. 202. 
4

11o Appellant's Brief, para. 202. 
m Appellant's Brief, para. 195. 
411 Appellant's Brief, para. 201. The App::11.anl claims that both witnesses initially stated that Bizimana was a school 
director and later changed·thcir statements to say that he was a.prison director. 
""

9 Appellant's Brief, p3n;- 205. 
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'tlf 'ff R 
acquaintances" is ••suspicious" and asserts that Witness BMI admitted that they all stayed in lhe 

I 

same witness prot~tion house while in Arusha and even shared their meals.490 The Appellant 

submits that the on1y rational conclusion that could be drawn from this is that the witnesses had 

discussed the events: and that their attempt to deny this fact should have urged the Trial Chamber to 

dismiss their testimo~es in their entirety.491 

232. The Appellaiit also submits that pJagraphs 250 and 307 of the Trial Judgement contain 
I 

contr-aclictory :findings.492 He argues that in paragraph 250 of the Trial Judgement, the Trial 

Chamber did not ex~lude that there might ht ve been collusion, while in paragraph 307 of the Trial 

Judgement, the Trial Chamber found no basis for the Defence contention that the witnesses 

discussed the events before testifying.493 
/ 

233. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly dismissed. as "unfounded", the 

Appellant>s allegation of collusion.494 It submits that the Appellant's arguments do not show an 

error on the part of the Trial Chamber495 and argues that the fact that there were similarities in the 

descriptions of the events by Witnesses BMK, BMJ, BW.., and BMI does not in itself amount to 

collusion. 496 

234. The Appeals 'Chamber notes that collusion can be defined as an agreement, usually secret, 

between two or mor~ persons for a :fraudulent, unlawful, or deceitful purpose.497 If an agreement 

between witnesses for the purpose of untruthfully incriminating an accused were indeed 

established, their evi~ence would have to be ~eluded pursuant to· Rule 95 of the Rules.498 In the 

present instance, the Trial Chamber rejected the possibility of collusion between the four 

490 Appe.llant's Brief. para. 203. 
491 Appellant's Brief, para. 204. 
◄!12 Notice of Appeal. paras. 169, 170. 
4
9l Notice of Appca]. paras. 169, 170. 

494 Respondent's Brief, paras. 132-137. 
493 kospondent's Blief, para. 132. 
~

96 Respondent's Brief, para. 133. 
497 The Appeals Chamber notes that Black's Law Dictionary, 6m Edition defines collusion as •'[a]n agreement bclwee.n 
two or mote persons to defraud a person of bis rights by the forms of law, or to obtain an object forbidden by Jaw. It 
implies the existence of fraud of some ldnd. the employment of :fraudulent means, o, of unlawful means for the 
accomplishment of an unlawful purpose". 
498 Rule 95 of the Rules states: ••No evidence shall be admissible if obtained by methods which ca.st substantial doubt on 
its reliability or if its 11.dmission is antithetical to, and would s~usly damage, the integrity of lhe proceedmgs." See, 
also, m.utatis mutandis, Nahimana et aL where the Appeals Chamber dismissed the testimony of a witness insofar as it 
was not co:n:oboratcd by other credible evidence., having found that even if the evidence was ''insufficient to establish 
with certainty that llhis witness] was paid for bis testimony against [the accused], it [wasJ nonetheless difficult lo ignore 
this possibility. which undeniably casts doubt on the aedibility of this witness." It also ru1ed that ••if chc Trial Chamber 
had been aware of the fact that the Prosecutor's investigator questioned the Witness' moral character, suspecting him of 
having been involved in ,he subornation of other Witnesses and of being prepared to testify in retum for money - the 
Trial Chamber would have been hound to find that these matters cast serious doubt on [this wirncss'sl credibility. 
Hence, like any reasonable trier of fa.ct, it would have disregarded his testimony, or at least would have required that it 
be corroborated by other erodible evidence." Nahimana et aL Appeal Judgement, para. 545. 
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Prosecution witnesscis testifying about the events in Ntarama.499 The Trial Chamber held that it 
l 

could not .. exclude ~at the witnesses may have discussed the events of 1994, in spite of [their] 

general denials of ~ving done so".500 It took into account that two of the witnesses gave their 
I 

respective statemen~ to investigators on the same day at the same place and that the other two gave 

their statements on ru,other day at the same location. soi It also considered that all four witnesses 
I 

lived in the same are~, travelled together to Arusha in connection with the trial, and had their meals 

together in the safe Jhouse.502 However, the Trial. Chamber reasoned that the differences in the 

testimonies of the fo'.ur witnesses did not support the allegation of collusion503 and concluded that 

there was no basis jro find that they colluded to untruthfully implicate the Appellant 504 The 

Appellant has failed ~o show that the Trial Chamber erred in reaching this conclusion. 

I 

235. Furthermore, ~e Appeals Chamber is not convinced by the Appellant's claim that the Trial 

Chamber contradicte~ itself at paragraphs 250 and 307 of the Tri.al Judgement. The Trial Chamber 
I 

consistently stated ini both paragraphs that it did not exclude the possibility that the witnesses may 
I 

have jointly discuss~ the events of 1994 but that there was insufficient basis to conclude that they 

colluded amongst themselves in order to untruthfully implicate the Appellant. Consequently, the 
I 

Appellant's argum.en~ is rejected. 

; 3. Alleged Inconsistencies in the Prosecution Evidence 
I 

236. The Appellant contends that the inconsistencies in the evidence of Witnesses BMK., BML, 
I 

BMI, and BMJ raise ~ reasonable doubt as to his alleged involvem~nt in the attack on the Ntarama 

Church on 15 April i 1994505 and that the Trial Chamber down-played these inconsistencies by 

finding explanations i for them. 506 He also suggests that the forensic report507 tendered by the 
' . 

Prosecution as well~ the Trial Chamber's observations during its site visit are inconsistent wjth 
I 

the evidence of the .Pliosecution witnesses.5011 Also in this regard, he claims that Prosecution Witness 
l 

BME testified that thr Appellant was not present in Ntarama in the rooming of 15 April 1994, but 
I 

rather that he was iniNyamirambo.509 He also contends that the site visit showed. with respect to 

I 

m Trial Judgement, paras\ 250, 308, 313. 
500 Trial Judgement. paraJ 250. See also Trial Judgement, para. 308 ("[a]s observed previously, it cannot be excluded 
that t:he witnesses may l3a:~e discussed the events of 1994, either previously or in conaection with travelling to Arusha 
or taking theh' meals togel\her."). 
sot Trial Judgement. para. 250. 
soz Trial Judgement, para. Q.50. 
503 Trlal Judgement., para. ~O. 
504 Trial Judgement, para. 608. 
505 Appellant's Brief, papi. 209. The Appellant asserts that the Trial Chamber examined these inconsistencies at 
fcaragrapbs 293 to 303 of tibe Trial Judgement. 

06 Notice of Appeal. paras. 150, 167. 
M Exhibit P30. ; 
soe Appellant's Brief, paras. 43, 20'/. 
SO!I Appellant' 11 Brief, pnrn! ?..10, 
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' 
Ntarama, ''that it was impossible to see the school from the Church [and] that the rear of the Church 

was more damaged than the front''.510 The Appellant submits that this "could mean that the 

attackers came from: the hill rather than from the road" .511 The Appellant further contends that since 

"the doors of ONATRACOM buses opened to the right and not to the left, as asserted by the 

witnesses suspected :of collusion" if the buses were coming from Kigali, the Prosecution witnesses 

who testified on the :circumstances of the attack could not have seen the people who were alighting 

from them.512 

237. The Prosecution responds that the differences and variations in the testimonies of these 
' 

witnesses can be reasonably ex.plained.513 It submits that the Appellant has not demonstrated that 

there are no reasonable explanations to justify these discrepancies and variations.514 

238. The Appeals, Chamber recalls that a Trial Chamber, as the primary trier of fact, has the 

responsibility to consider inconsistencies that may arise among the testimonies of witnesses. 515 In 

undertaking this responsibility, the Trial Chamber is reqwred to consider any explanations offered 

for these inconsistencies when weighing the probative value of the evidence.516 In the present case, 

the Appellant does n~t specify any of the alleged inconsistencies, but refers generally to paragraphs 

293 to 303 of the Trial Judgement where, be notes, the Trial Chamber examined the 

inconsistencies.517 The Trial Chamber held that the four Prosecution witnesses described the attack 

similarly in terms of location. time, attackers, mode of transport, and the Appellant's presence. 518 It 

considered that there were variations in the evidence in rela~on to the Appellant allegedly 
. . 

addressing the attackers, but held that these variations did not affect the credibility of the 

witnesses.519 The Tnal Chamber reasoned that these witnesses may not have heard some parts of 

the Appellant's "alleged statement because their positions were different" and also because "their 

memories may vary, due to the lapse of time since the event".520 The Appeals Chamber accepts that 

different people may :see and hear things differently from different vantage points.521 Consequently, 

the Appeals Chamber is not satisfied that the Appellant has demonstrated that the Trial Challlber' s 

finding is unreasonable. 

510 Appellant's Brief, para. 43. 
511 Appellant's Brief, para. 43. 
:H2 Appellant's Brief, pa:i:a. 43. 
m Respondent's Brief, pa'ra. 135. 
514 Respondent's Brief, plira. 135. 
515 Simba Appeal Judgement, para. 103. 
516 Muhimana Appeal Judgement, para. 58; Niyicegeka Appeal Judgement, para. 96. 
517 Appellant's Briel, para. 209. 
5111 Trial Judgement, pll.Jll. 294. 
51

~ Trial Judgement, para. '295. 
520 Trial Judgement, para. 295. 
~

21 See Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement, para. 80. referring to Niyitegeka Appeal Jud.gement, para. 142. 
' 
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I 

239. With regard to the Appellant's contention that jt was impossible to see the Ntarama school 
' 

from the Ntarama ~urch, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Appellant is merely rciterating an 

argument which he already presented at trial and whicll was fully addressed in the Trial Judgement. 
i 

The Defence challenged Witness BMK's testimony, who stated that, from his vantage point, 
I 

somewhere in the valley, below the Ntarama school, he saw the Appellant attacking the Ntarama 

Church on the mo~g of 15 April 1994.522 The Trial Chamber, in assessing the credibility of 

Witness BMK, cons~dered the evidence of Defence Witnesses ZAC and NKZ to the effect that it 

was impossible to se~ the school from the church because eucalyPtus trees and banana plantations 

were blocking the vi~w.523 The Trial Chamber concluded that Witness BMK was credible on this 

point. In reaching ~s conclusion, the Trial Chamber took into account the following elements: 
I 

Witness ZAC was no:t in a position to assess the visibility conditions; Witness BMK. who ''was at a 
I 

considerable distance from the school. towards the church'', stated that while there was an 

eucalyptus forest nearI,y. at his location the land was free of vegetation.5:z4 The Appeals Chamber 

finds that the Appe~t has failed to show how the Trial Chamber erred in its assessment of 

Witness BMK's tes~ony on this point. The Appeals Chamber defers to the finmng of the Trial 
I 

Chamber and notes that it legitimately exercised its discretion in determining which version of the 

events relating to the 1attack on the Ntarama Church was credible.5zs 

240. With respect to his argument that the forensic report tendered as a Prosecution exhibit is 

inconsistent with other Prosecution evidence in relation to the attack on the Ntarama Church, 526 the 
\ 

Appellant asserts that the forensic report indicates that the weapons found at the site were a. 

machete, a knife, several clubs, one lance, and one broken arrow; that the assault took place through 

holes made below th~ Church windows with the massacre taking place in the middle of the Church; 

and that most of the yictims were killed with machetes or blows to the head. 527 The Appellant also 
I 

states that it is evid~nt from the site visit and the pbotographs in the forensic report that the 
I • 

attackers entered the pmrch through the front, which faced the bill.528 He claims that this scenario 

is in conformity with!the Defence evidence that the attack commenced on Kinkwi Hill and that the 

Tutsis were chased to the Ntarama Church, and that it is inconsistent with the Prosecution• s 
I 

evidence that the atra~kers arrived at the Church jn buses.529 

I 

.S2l Trial Judg~ntpara. ~05; T. 17 AugusL 2006 p. 15. 
523 Trial Judgement, para. :305. 
524 Trial Ju~ement, para. ;305. 
525 See supra para.. 10. : 
S2l.i Appellant's Brief, paras. 192-194, 207,208. 
n 7 Appellant's Brief. par~ 194. 
m Appellant's Brief, paral 207. 
529 Appellant's Brief, para'. 207. 

I 
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lflf3/R 
' 
I 

241. The P:rosecu?oo responds that the forensic report is not conclusive regarding the weapons 

that were used by th~ attackers. 530 

' 
' I 

242. The Trial ChfUD1>er is primarily responsjble for assessing and weighing evidence presented 

at trial and it is incufnbent on the Trial Chamber to take an approach it considers most appropriate 
I 

ia. this regard.531 In the present case, the Trial Chamber had the discretion to consider the forensic 
I 

report in its assessment of the totality of the evidence. WhHe the Trial Chamber acknowledged the 
I 

existence of the forensic report, 532 it only referred to it in relation to ilS finding that. at Ntarama, a 
I 

large number of re~gees were killed. 533 Although certain evidence may not have been referred to 

by a Trial Chamber, in the particular circumstances of a given case it may nevertheless be 
I 

reasonable to assum~ that the Trial Chamber took it into account.534 

243. The Appeals :Chamber agrees with the Prosecution's submission that the forensic report is 
I 

not conclusive regarq.ing the weapons that were used by the attackers, and that the forensic doctors 
I ' 

identified the causes: of death only from the skulls they bad analy:?..ed.535 The Appeals Chamber 
' 

further notes that thej forensic report does not per se contradict the Trial Chamber's .findings, based 

on Prosecution evidepce, that the attackers of Ntara:ma Church used guns, traditional weapons and 
i 

grenades.536 Indeed, : the forensic report acknowledges that the number of bodies examined is 
I 

appreciably less thanjthe number of people killed. 537 The forensic report also notes the existence of 

the impact of sbrapJeI "on the comer of the builcling".538 Jn these circumstances, the Appeals 
I 

Chamber considers ~at the Appellant has failed to demonstrate th.a~ the Trial Chamber erroneously 

failed to consider any. inconsistency in the Prosecution's evidence arising from the forensic report. 

244. With regard t~ the claim that the site visit and the photographs in the forensic report show 

that the attack commenced on Kinkwi Hill and that the Tutsis were chased to the Ntarama Church is 

inconsistent with the' Prosecution's evidence that the attackers arrived at the church in buses, the 
! . 

Appeals Chamber o~serves that the Trial Chamber concluded that several hundred attackers 

participated in the att~ck against Ntarama Church which started at 10.00 a.m. on 15 April 1994 and 

that several hundred' Tutsis were killed during the attack. 539 The Appeals Chamber notes that 
I 

contrary to the Appellant's contention. the forensic report does not necessarily show that the attack 
! 

started on Kinkwi Hil:1· Furthermore, the fact that the attackers might have come from a surrounding 

530 Respondent• s Brief, ~- 140. 
531 Rutaganda Appeal Judgement. para. 188. 
532 Trial Judgement. paras; 256, 292, fn. 354. 
533 Trial Judgement, paras: 257-315, sp. 292. fn. 354. 
534 Simba Appeal Judgem.e.at, para. 152, refeuing to M,isema Appeal Judgement, para. 19. 
535 Respondent'::; Brief. p11r11. 140. 
536 Trial Judgement, para. ~92: Fore~-ic Report. p. 15. 
5

:1
7 Respondent•s Brief, para. 140. 

s.u Exhibit P30. 
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/./42/4 
bill does not necessarily contradict the Trial Chamber's findings that the Appellant and other 

assailants came in buses and that the Appellant "encouraged a group of Interahamwe and soldiers to 

hurry up and attack the refugees" assembled in the church.S40 Finally, the Appeals Chamber finds 

that since the question at stake is related to the chronology of the attack the Appellant could not 

have been prejudiced by the absence of a record of the site visit on this point. 

245. The Appellant claims that Witness BME testified that the Appellant was not in Ntarama but 

rather in Nyamirambo on the morning of 15 April 1994.541 He furtbei- contends that in finding that 

the Appellant was at Ntarama on 15 July 1994, the Trial Chamber failed ''to address the con:t1icting 

evidence by Witness BME, who allege[d] that on 15 April 1994, between 9 a.m. and 10 a.m.., 

Karera was instead in Nyamirambo".541 The Appellant avers that, if believed, this testimony 

conflicts with the Prosecution's allegation that he was in Ntarama on the same day.543 

246. The Appellant merely reiterates an argument that he presented at trial and that the Trial 

Chamber addressed and dismissed.544 He does not show how the Trial Chamber erred in doing so. 

Toe Appeals Chamber notes that Witness BME's testi.rtlony that the Appellant was at Nyamirambo 

between 9.00 am. and 10.00 a.m.545 might conflict+ the testimonies of Prosecution Witnesses 

BMK. and BMI pl~g the Appellant at the Ntarama pmrch on the same day at or around 10.00 

a.m.546 However, w:hile the Trial Chamber found rtness B:ME credible with regard to her 

testimony that she saw the Appellant instructing a large crowd to kill Tutsis and destroy their 

houses,547 it found it :•likely that Witness BME erred regarding the J?Iecise date of the event, in view 

of her traumatic situ3ition'.54
S and thus refrained from ent~ring any specific finding as to the date and. 

time of that event based on her testimony. In these circumstances, it was within the discretion of the 

Trial Chamber to consider that Witness B:ME's testimony that the Appellant was in Nyamirambo on 

15 April 1994 did not raise any reasonable doubt as to his presence in Ntarama on the same day. 

The Appellant has t:J:?.erefore failed to show how the Trial Chamber erred in not considering that 

Witness BME's evidence raised a reasonable doubt as to his involvement in the attack on the 

Ntarama Church on 15 April 1994. 

247. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses this sub-ground of appeal . 

. m Trial Judgement, paras. 292, 315. 
"'

0 Trial Judgemt."llt, para. 315. 
541 AppeJl.11.nt's Brief, para. 210. 
542 Brief in ~Iy, para. 54. 
543 Appellant's Brie!, para. 11 1. 
541 See Trial Judgement, pa.a. 160, referring to Defence Closing Brief, para. 229. 
54' See Trial Judgement, para. 147. 
S4G See Trial Judgement, paras. 262, 269. 
~

7 Trial Judgement, paras. 147, 159. 
J4S Trial Judgement, para. 160. 
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B. Alleged Errors in the Assessment of Defence Evidence 

248. The Appellant contends that the evidence ]presented by the Defence, through Witnesses 

NKZ, ZIH, ZAC, MZN, and DSM, renders the ina1 Chamber's findings unreasonable,549 He 

provides his account of the testimonies of these; five w:itnesses,550 but only makes specific 

arguments in relation to Witnesses NKZ, ZIH. and· ZAC . .ssi The Appellant argues that the Trial 

Chamber erred in Jaw by failing to consider "a reas0nable probabHity" offered by his alibi that he 

was not present at the attack at the Ntarama Churcb552 and by failing to accept the corroborating 

testimonies of the Defence witnesses who testified that he did not participate in this attack.553 He 
' I 

asserts that this evidence raises a reasonable doubt µi the Prosecution's case554 and that the Trial 
' ' 

Chamber erred in fi';lding that he participated in the attack in view of the inconsistencies in the 

testimonies of the Prosecution witnesses when weighed against the probative value of the Defence 

evidence.555 ' 

249. The Prosecution responds that the Appellant's submissions should fail as they are 

insufficient to call into question the Trial Chamber's approach in assessing the Defence evidence or 

rhe reasonableness o( the impugned findings.556 

' 

250. Witnesses NKZ and ZIH both testified that ~ey participated in the attack and did not see 
' I 

the Appellant. 557 The Appellant challenges the Trial Chamber' .s oh!.ervation that it was possible for 
' I 

him to be present without Witnesses NKZ and ZIH s~eing him.558 The Appeals Chamber notes that 
: 

in assessing the evidence of Witness NKZ, the Tri~.Cb.amber rook into account that the witness· 
I ' 
I 

was not certain about the date of the attack but learned about it from others, that be had seen the 
' i 

Appellant only once before, when the Appellant wa,s bourgmestre of Nyarugenge commune, and 
' ' 

that jt was not clear when in this period (from 1975 to 1990) the witness had seen him. 559 The Trial 
! 

~ Appellant's Brief, paras. 212-219. : 
sso Appellant's Brief, paras. 213-219. The Appellant asserts inter alia lhat Witness NKZ, who participated in the attack, 
testified that he did not see the Appellant and that the Appellanr was not mentioned in the Gacaca hearings in relation 
to tho attack; Wimess ZIH. who participated in the attack, did not see the Appellant and also did not hear that the 
Appellant was involved in the attack when he anendcd the qacaca hearings; Witness ZA.C, who participated in a 
"committee similar lo that of the Gacaca Courts" (italics added) as well a., in tbe Gacaca hearings and who heard 
twenty prisoners testify about the Nta:rama attacks. including cc\Dfcssions of Witnesses NKZ and ZIH, did not hear the 
Appellant's name mentioned in relation to this attack until recently when four persons returning from Arusha testified 
to his involvement; Witness MZN, a soldier who was acquittbi of genocide, te.,,;tified that he did not hear that the 
Appellant wa.s involved in the attack; and Witness DSM. a polic~ office, did not hear of the Appellant being involved ill 
the a1tack. ; 
m Appel1ant•s Brief, paras. 212-219. ; 
552 The Appellant's submissions concerning alibi wm be adclrc.:sspd below in Chapter IX. 
ss3 Appellant's Brief, para. 223. 1 

SS4 Appellant's Brief, para. 2.23. 
555 Notice of Appca1. para. 177. 
556 Respondent's Brief, para. 148. 
5!i7 Trial Judgement, paras. 279, 282, 283, 286. : 
5511 Appellant's Brief, para. 221, referring to Trial Judgement, para. 309. 
559 Trial Judgement, para. 309. i 

I 
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Chamber also took into account that the witness was not present when the attack commenced and 

would not therefore have observed the Appellant's anival.560 Furthermore, the witness did not 

observe any buses, ~hich contradicts the consistent evidence of four Prosecution witnesses.561 The 

Trial Chamber concluded that Witness NKZ's evidence had "limited weight".562 

' 
251. In relation to Witness zm, the Trial Chamber took into account that a friend had pointed 

out the Appellant to· the witness when the Appellant was bourgmestre and that between 1978 and 

1994 the witness bad seen the Appellant on only three occasions.563 The Tri.al Chamber considered 

that under these circumstances, the witness's ability to recognjze the Appellant in the midst of "a 
' 

high number of perspns running helter-skelter" would be limited and that the witness's asswnption 

that Tbaddee Sebuhindo, who by the witness's account led the attack,564 would have pointed out the 

Appellant to the witness was speculative.565 The Trial Chamber concluded that the witness's 

evidence had limited reliability. 566 

252. It is within a Trial Chamber's discretion to accept or reject a witness's testimony after 

seeing the witness t~stify and observing him or her under cross-examination.567 The Appellant has 

failed to show that the Trial Chamber erred in assigning limited weight to the evidence of Witnesses 

NKZandZilI. 

253. In relation to' Witness ZAC, the Appellant argues that the Trial Chamber's assessment of 

this witness's evidence demonstrated its .. biased manner" when it reasoned that the evidence was of 

limited significance because it was hearsay.568 Witness-ZAC testified that he was a prisoner who· 

chaired the ''Urumali committee" and listened to the confessions made by Witnesses NKZ and Zill 

and three other prisoners relating to the Ntarama attacks.569 In addition, the witness listened to 

approximately twenty civilian prisoners describe the Ntarama attacks at the Gacaca proceedings 

and, according to him. none of them mentioned the Appellant.570 The witness asserted that it was 

only in the Gacaca proceedings in 2006, and after having testified before the Tribunal, that four 

survivors indicated that the Appellant was present at the attacks in Ntarama.571 Toe Trial Chamber 

560 Trial Judgement. para. 
1
309. 

~
61 Trial Judgement, pa.ra.:309. 

562 Trial Judgement, para. ,309. 
563 Trial Judgement, para. '310. 
564 Trial Jl.'ldgcment,. para. Q.83. 
5

6$ Trial Judgement. para_ ·310. 
566 Trial Judgement, para. 

1

310. 
501 Seromba Appeal Judgement, para.. 116, referring t.o Akayesu Appeal Judgement, para. 147. 
568 Appellant's Brief, para:. 222. 
S6i> Trial Judgement. para. 287. 
'
70 Trial Jud&emcmt, para. ~87. 

m Trial Judgement, para. 288. 
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assessed the evidence of Witness ZAC and concluded that it had "limited significance" because it 

was "hearsay" evide~ce. 572 

254. The Appeals ~hamber notes the Appellant's argument concerning bias on behalf of the Trial 

Chamber Judges. As, stated in previous judgements of the Appeals Chambers of this Tribunal and 

the ICTY, it is for the appealing party alleging bias to rebut the presumption of impartiality enjoyed 

by Judges of the Tri~unals.573 In this respect, the Appeals Chamber consistently held that there is •·a 

high threshold to reach in order to rebut the presumption of impartiality'' that attaches to a Judge or 

a Tribunal.574 

I 

255. In support of his contention that the Trial Chamber was biased, the Appellant argues that the 

Trial Chamber did pot hesitate to. convict him "solely on questionable hearsay evide11:ce, and 

sometimes by triple hearsay, but was not swayed by the honest and consistent testimony of an 

individual like Witness ZAC".575 The Appellant refers to paragraphs 162, 167, 168,576 and 192 to 
I I 

194 of the Trial Judgement in support of his argum~nt.577 

256. Hearsay evidence is admissible if it has trobative value, and the Trial Chamber has the 

discretion to consider this evjdence.578 In paragraph 162 of the Trial Judgemen~ the Trial Chamber 

expressed its satisfaction that Prosecution Witnesses BMG, BMF, and BMH gave truthful accounts 

· of what they had observed. Witnesses BMG, BMF, and BMH testified to what they had heard the 

Appellant say, but their testimonies must be distinguished from Witness ZAC's testimony, which 

was based on what he heard from third parties. These three witnesses also provided their respective-
I 

observations of what.the Appellant was doing and whom he was addressing. In these circumstances, 

it was reasonable for,the Trial Chamber to prefer the direct evidence of Witnesses BMG, BMF, and 

BMH to the hearsay evidence of Witness ZAC. 

257. In view of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Appellant has failed to 

demonstrate bias on the part of the Trial Chamber as a result of its assessment of Witness ZAC' s 

evjdence. The Appellant has also not shown that a reasonable trier of fact would have found that the 
' 

evidence of Defence·, witnesses raised reasonable doubt about the Appellant's participation in the 

attack at the Ntarama Church and that the Trial Chamber's finding is unreasonable. The Appeals 

Chamber therefore di'smisses this sub-ground of appeal. 

572 Trial Judgement. para.: 31.2. 
513 See e.g. Fryitegeka Appeal Judgement, para. 45; Rutaganda Appeal Judgement. paras. 39-125. 
57

' Nahiman.a et al. Appeal Judgement, paras. 47-90. See also Furundi.ija Appeal Judgement. para. 197. 
m Appellant's Brief, par.,_. 222. 
'

76 ln paragraph 168 of ~e Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber found thal the Appellant had ordered the ~g of 
Tutsis and the de.'!tructioh of their houses and that the policemen guarding the Appellant's house had destroyed tho 
houses of Kahahaye and -r,:>;x. This finding has no direct signific.ance to the Appellant's argument 
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C. Conclusion 

258. The Appeals : Chamber finds Chat the Appellant has failed to demonstrate any error in the 

Trial Chamber's findings in relation to bis participation in the meeting at the Ntarama sector office 

on 14 April 1994 and his partidpation fo an attack at the Ntarama Church on 15 April 1994. 

Accordingly, this ground of appeal is dismissed in its entirety. 

577 Appellant's Brief, par~ 222. 
578 See supra para. 39. , 
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VIII. ALLEGED ERRORS RELATING TO THE KILLING OF TUTSIS IN 

RUSHASID COMl\flJNE (GROUNDS OF APPEAL 1 AND 7 AND GROUND 

OF APPEAL 2, IN PART) 

259. The Trial Chamber found that many Tutsis were killed in Rushasbi commune starting on 7 

April 1994.579 The :Trial Chamber found that the Appellant was aware that. from that date, 

roadblocks bad been' set up in Rushashi commune where Tut~is were killed.sso The Trial Chamber 

also found that betw~en April and June 1994, the Appellant held meetings in Rushashi commune, 

where he raised money for weapons, encouraged youths to join the lnterahamwe, and urged the 

commission of crim~ against Tutsis.581 The Trial Chamber found that in April or May 1994, the 

Appellant brought more than twenty guns to the Rusbasbi commune office, which were 

subsequently used to kill Tutsis at roadblocks. 58l Based on these findings, the Trial Chamber 

convicted the Appe~ant, pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute, for instigating and aiding and 

abetting genocide an~ extermination as a crime against bumanity.583 

260. The Trial Chamber also found that in April or May 1994, at a roadblock in Rushashi 

commune, the Appellant instigated the killing of Theoneste Gakuru.584 Based on this finding, the 

Trial Chamber con~cted the Appellant, pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute, for instigating and 

aiding and abetting murder as a crime against bumanity.585 

261. The Appellan'.t raises several challenges to the Trial Chamber's .findings which the Appeals. 
I 

Chamber addresses in turn. 

A. Alleged Errors relating to Roadblocks 

262. The Trial Chamber foUJJd that 

several roadblocks, at least four, were established in R05hashi commune following the President's 
death on or about 7 April 1994. Civilians, including Interahwnwe, were amongst those who 
manned them. Tutsis were targeted al the roadblocks. The Chamber is sll.lisficd that Karera visited 
Rusbashi briefly between 7 and 10 April and that he was full.Ji aware that roadblocks existed there 
and that Tutsi were being killed at them from April onwards. 15 

579 Trial Judgement, para,, 545, refer.ring to the factual findiugs in Section 11.6 of the Trial Ju'4,~nt. 
580 Trial Judgement., para.1546, referring to the fa.ct.ual .findings in Section II.6.3 of the Trial Judgement. 
5111 

Trial Judgement., para.: 546, referring to the factual findings in Section II.6.4 of the Trial Judgement. 
5112 

Trial Judgement., para.; 547, refer.ring to the factual .fmdings in Section H.6.5 of the Trial Judgement. 
saa Trial Judgement, paras. 548,557. · 
sa+ Trial Judgement. para.

1
559, refening lo the factual findings in Section ll.6.6 of the Trial JudgemenL 

3~ Trial Judgement, para.: 560. 
5115 Trial Judgement, para., 376. See also Trlal Judgement, para. 546. 
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I 

In making this fimfi~g, the Trial Chamber relied on Prosecution Witnesses BMR. BM:M. BMO, and 

BMB.ss7 While the :Trial Chambet" did not rely solely on the aforementioned finding to enter a 

conviction against ~ Appellant, it considered this finding in holding that the Appellant's conduct 

during the meetings held in Rushasbi between April and June 1994 amounted to instigating 

genocide and exterm,ination as a crime against humanity.588 Similarly. the Trial Chamber's finding 

is relevant to it~ finding that he brought 11uns to the Rushashi commune office •'which were aimed 

for the use at the roadblocks."589 

I 

263. The Appellant's mail) contention 1s that the Trial Chamber erred in prefening Prosecution 

evidence to Defenceie\idence in order to hna that the Appellant was present in Rushashi before 19 

April 1994 and was ~ware that there were f°adblocks and that Tutsis were being killed at them from 

April onwards."'°~ Appeals Chamber ill address this submission below.591 

264. The Appellant further submits that the Trial Cb.amber's finding that the decision to erect . I 
roadblocks could no~ have been taken without consultation with senior officials at the prefecture 

office did not support the Trial Chamber' l finding that he was aware of the existence of roadblocks 

before 19 April 1994.592 The Appellant ~gues that he could not have been one of those "senfor 

officials" because he had exercised no aubority in Rushasbi commune prior to his appointment as 

prefect of Kigali prefecture on 17 April 1
1r94. and he did not have a direct link with the commune 

authorities. 593 
· 

i 

265. The Appellant also sub:arits that tlite Prosecution594 and Defence witnesses595 presented the 

Trial Chamber with ''two diametrically obposed versions of testimonies" regarding the killings at 

roadblocks.596 Accor~g to the Prosecutidn witnesses, the Appellant "was indifferent to the kiJJings 

at roadblocks", wh~as Defence witnessI
1
s testified that he "did his best, and not without success, 

5117 Trial Judgement, par~. 363-376. 
588 Trial Judgement, para. 546, referring to the ctna.1 findings in Section lI.6.3 of the Trial Judgement (see Trial 

' I Judgemenl, para. 376); Trial Judgement. p~- 555-557. 
5119 Trial Judgement, pn 547. I . 
590 Notice of Appc:al, paras. 188-190; Appellant's ~rief, paras. 240-243. The title of this sub-ground of appeal (Notice 
of Appeal, p. 20, title of Section 7 .1: •'The Triiq Chamber en-ed in finding that Karera was involved in setting up 
roadbloclcs at Rushasbi"; :Appellant's Brief, p. 4~ of Section 7.1: "'The Trial Chamber erred by finding that Karera 
was involved in the erection of roadblocks in Rus "") is misleading. While the title refers Lo alleged em,rs in finding 
that the Appellant was inyolved in setting up road,lQclcs in Rushashi, the Appellant has not developed this argument in 
his Appellant's Brief an<Ji in fact. bas acknowledged that the Trial Chamber made no finding to this effecL Appellant's 
Brief, para. 239, referring to Trial Judgement., panl 367. 
591 See infra Sections (B) :and (C) and Chapter IX. I 
592 Notice of Appeal, paras. 192, 193 . 
.:1

93 Notice of Appeal. p~ 192. In this regard, he recalls Witness BMl{'s account tha.1 the commune authorities had 
o~anized thi:, cctll.11iun uf lhe madblocks. Notice oflAppcal. para. 192. rcfexring to Trial Iudgement, para. ~2'/. 
5 The Appellant refers to the testimony of Prosctulion Witnesses BMR. BMM, BMB, BMO, and BMN. Appellant's 
Brief, paras. 226-231. I 
s~ The Appellant refers to his own testimony as 1ell as the testimony of Defence Witnesses YNZ. YCZ, Y AH, and 
MZR.. Appellant's Brief, paras. 232-238. 
'

116 Appellant's Brief, para. 240. · 

7S 
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to pacify the region where he was station~ ... 597 The Appellant finally submits that the Trial 

Chamber "presumed bis liability" and "accqrded weight only to the evidence which supports a 

finding of the Appellant"s liability"_598 

266. A review of the Trial Judgement rev~s. however, that the Trial Chamber did not "presume 
I 

bis liability" or iely ·On its implicit finding that he was a senior official at the prefecture office to 

conclude that the Appellant knew about the erection of roadblocks in Rushashi prior to 19 April 

1994. Instead it relied on the evidence of Pro ecution Witnesses BMM, BMR. and BMO, who saw 

him at roadblocks.599 

267. Accordingly, :this sub•ground of appe j s dismissed. 

268. The Trial Chamber found that betw n April and June 1994, the Appellant held several 

meetings in Rushashi commune, where he rai ed money for weapons, encouraged youths to join the 

Interahamwe, and urged the commission of chm.es against Tutsis. 600 The Trial Chamber found that 

"[t]hese statements instigated the commissiJn of crimes against Tutsis", that "[a]s an authority 

figure, Karera' s encqw-agement would have J substantial effect in the killings which followed" and 

that "[h]is threats against those who did not participate in anti-Tutsi acts would be taken 

seriously."601 The Trial Chamber relied on these factual findings in convicting the Appellant for 

instigating genncide and extermination as a crime against humanity~602 

269. The Appellarit submits that the Trial Chamber committed errors of Jaw and fact in making 

these findings.603 The Appeals Chamber will consider each of these alleged errors in tum. 

L Alleged Errors relating to a Meeting Held at Rwankuba Secondary School jn April 1994 

270. The Trial Chamber found that "[a]t ~e Rwankuba secondary school in April 1994, Karera 

spoke in favour of establishing and reinforcing roadblocks and encouraged the youth to co•operate 

with the army."1504 It found that "[t]his was done in a period when Tutsis were being targeted at 

m Appellant's Brief. para. 240. 
SH Notice of Appeal, paras. 189, J 90. 
599 Trial Judgc:mcnl, paras. 368-370. 
6oO Trial J udge:ment, :paras. 417, 546. , 
601 Trial Judgement, para. 546. : 
602 Trial Judgement, paras. 546, 548, 555 (referring ~ Trial Judgement, Section ll_6 and to the legal findings on 
~nocide), SS7. : 

Notice of Appeal, paras. 198,201,204; Appcllanl's Brief, paras. 245-258. 
60-I Trial Judgement., para. 417. See also Trial Judgement, para. 406. 
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'f,Olf/~ 
roadblocks by Jnterahamwe."(,()5 In making this finding, the Trial Chamber relied. on the evidence of 

Witness BMB.606 The Trial Chamber also considered the Appellant's testimony "that he held a 

pacification meeting :at the school on 22 or 23 April .. and did not find it convincing .. [t]o the extent 

this is alleged to have been the same meeting as the one referred. to by Witness BMB.''607 The Trial 

Chamber further found that .. [h]is evidence that it was decided to remove roadblocks from certain 

p]aces [in Rushashi] [ was l unclear, and not corroh?rated by other evidence". (IJS 

271. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law and in fact when it rejected bis 

account concerning the alleged meeting in Rwankuba in April 1994.009 He contends that, contrary 

to the Trial Chamber's finding, his testimony was corroborated by Witness YAH.610 The Appellant 

further subrni ts that the Trial Chamber erred in law in relying on the uncorroborated evidence of 

Witness BMB while requesting corroboration for the Appellant's testimony.611 The Prosecution 

responds that the Appellant has not demonstrated that the Trial Chamber abused its discretion.612 

272. The Appellant's contention that the Trial Chamber erred in fact in falling to find that his 

testimony was corroborated by Witness Y AH is unfounded. While the Appellant testified. about a 

meeting held at R wanku.ba secondary school on 22 'or 23 April 1994. 613 Witness Y AH testified 

about a meeting held: in the second week of May 1994 in Rushashi commune,614 without describing­

more specifically the location where the meeting was held or the persons who al]egedly attended 

it. 615 Thus the fact that the Trial Chamber did not make a finding to the. effect that Witness Y AH 

referred to the same meeting as the Appellant and therefore corroborated the latter's account reveals. 

no error. 

273. Turning to the Appellant's contention that the Trial Chamber erred in accepting Witness 

BMB's uncorroborated. testimony, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it is well established that a 

Trial Chamber has the discretion to decide in the circumstances of each case whether corroboration 

of evidence is necessary.616 The Trial Chamber observed that Witness BMB was about sixteen 

metres away from the Appellant when listeniog to his speech and was satisfied. that the witness 

605 Trial Judgement, para. 417. 
606 Trlul Judgement, para. 406. , 
001 Trial Judgement. paras. 392, 406. 
BOS Trial Judgeme.D.t, para. 406, referring to Trial Judgement, Section II.6.3. 
609 AppeJla:at·s Bric.u, para. 252. · 
610 Appellant's Brief. para. 2.52, referring to Trial Judgement, para. 399. 
611 Notice of Appeal, paras. 200, 201. Appellant's Brief, paras. 25,l, 252. 
611 Respondent's Brief, para. 158. 
613 Trlal Judgement, para. 392. 
61 

.. T.11 May2006pp. 67-70; T. l2May 2006 p. 2. 
1115 T. 11 May 2006 pp. 67-70; T. 12 May 2006 p. 2. 
615 See. ,tu.pr-a para. 45. 
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"must have heard what he said''.617 The AppeUant challenges the Trial Chamber's reliance on 

Witness BMB • s testimony on the sole basis that it lacked corroboration without advancing any 

reason why Witness BMB' s testimony would have required. corroboration. As noted above, 

acceptance of and reliance on uncorroborated evidence, per se, does not constitute an error in law. 

274. The Trial Chamber rejected the Appellant's testimony in relation to this incident noting that 

it was unclear and not corroborated by other evidence. 618 IiJ. light of Witness BMB 's account, which 

the Trial Chamber found credible, and in light of its observations about the Appellant's testimony in 

relation to this incident, the Appeals Chamber does not find that the Trial Chamber acted 

unreasonably in rejecting the Appellant's uncorroborated testimony. Accordingly, this sub-ground 

of appeal is dismissed. 

2. Alleged Errors relatinJLto a Meeting Held at Rushashi Sub-Prefecture Office in June 1994 

275. The Trial Chamber found that "[a]t the Rushashi (sub-prefecture] office in June 1994, 

Karera asked whether the 'work' had been done, which in that context meant the killing of Tutsis, 

and asked why Vincent Mundyandamutsa [sic], a moderate Hutu belonging to the MDR party, had 

not been killed .•• 619 In making this finding, the Trial Chamber relied oo the account of Witness 

BMB which it found credible. noting that it was generally in conformity with the witness's prior 

statement to investigators.620 

276. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber. erred in fact and in law in making this. 

finding.621 Toe Appellant contends that, according to Defence Witnesses YCZ and YAH, be bad in 

fact protected Vincent Munyandamutsa. 622 In bis view, the Trial Chamber erred in law by failing to 

find that their testimonjes on this point shed reasonable doubt on the Prosecution's evidence.623 The 

Appellant also submits that the Trial Chamber comnutted an error of fact in its assessment of the 

credibility of Witnesses YCZ and YAH.624 He argues that the Trial Chamber's approach shows 

bias. 625 Toe Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber correctly rejected the evidence given by 

Witnesses YCZ and Y AH that the Appellant had protected Vincent Munyandamutsa. 626 

617 Trial Judgement. para.. 406. 
r,iv Trial Judgement, para. 406. 
61

' Trial Judgement, para. 417. 
620 Trial Jud~ent,. para. 408. 
621 Appellallt's Bri~r. para. 253. l 
m Appellant's Brief, para. 253, referring to Trial Judgement, paras. 357, 360. 
623 Appellanl's Brief, paras. 253, 254, referring to Trial Judgement. para. 374. The Appellant also submits that he and 
Witnesses YNZ and MZR testified that be had held several meetings for the restoration of peace in Rusha.,;hl commune. 
~otice of Appeal. para. 202. 
<i24 Appellant's Brief, paras. 255,256, referring co Trial Judgement, para. 416. 
~ Appellant's Brief, para. 258. 
626 Respondent's Brief, paras. 159, 160. 
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277. A review of the Trial Judgement reveals that the Trial Chamber explicitly considered that 

"'Witnesses YCS [sic]627 and Y AH testified that Vincent Munyandamutsa, a Tutsi, was protected by 

Karera", but rejected their testimony.628 The Tri.al Chamber assessed the evjdence given by these 

witnesses as follows: 

Witness Y AH lesti.fied abqut a meeting held by Karera in May 1994. saying that the commune had 
become calm. However, he also stated that bis wife continued to be threatened by bandits. This 
contradiction weakens his credibility. Furthermore, the witness said that lhc meeting in the third 
week of May in. Musasa was co-chaired by Karera and a civil defence officer, who was responsible 
for recruiting yolll.hs to reinforce the military. Witness YCZ also said that Karera and a mililaI}' 
officer were the key speakers at an outdOQr meeting in Musasa in June 1994. It i$ SllIJ)rising that 
meetings ohaked by military 3Ild civil defence leaders were aimed at contributing to reconciliation 
and pacification, rather than encouraging youth.S to join the battle. The Chamber has some doubts 
abouc these two testimonies.629 

278. The Appeals Chamber sees no error in the Trial Chamber's assessment of the evidence of 

Witnesses Y AH and YCZ. The Appellant has nor submitted any argument to demonstrate that it 

was unreasonable for the Trial Chamb, to pref er the Prosecution evidence on this point. 

Furthermore, the Appellant has failed to advance any argument in support of his submission that the 

Tri.al Chamber's reasoning shows bias. 

3. Conclusion 

279, For the foregoing rea~ons, this sub• ound of appeal is dismissed. 

I 

'c. Alleged Errot"S :re ting to ''Pacification Meetings'' 
I I . 

280. The Appellant submits that the Trial phamber was faced with two conflicting versions of 

events regarding meetings held in Rushashi between April and June 1994.630 Based on the evidence 

given by the Prosecution witnesses, the AJenant notes, the Trial Chamber found that between 
I 

April and June 1994, he paiticipated in six meetings in Rushashi during which he incited the looting 

and killing of Tutsis.631 On the other hand,lhe notes that the Trial Chamber deduced from bis 

testimony and the evidence given by Defi,nce witnesses that he might have participated in 

''pacification meetings" in Rushashi and MusJ.sa. 632 The Appellant contends that the Trial Chamber 

erred in law by failing to address the conflicttjlg evidence in respect of the meetings. and by failing 
i 
I 

! 
I 

627 It is apparent from the context of this paragraph that th,; Trial Chamber was refening to Wilncss YCZ. 
628 Trial Judgement, 'Para. 374, referring to Trial Judge~nt. Section Il.6.4. 
629 Trial Judgement. para. 416. ! 
630 Appellant's Brief, para. 247. I · 
m Appellant's Brief, paras. 245 (referring to Trial J~dgemcnt, paras. 379-389), 247 (referring to Trial Judgement, 
faras· 401-411). 1 

~
2 AppellanL's Brief, paras. 246 (referring to Trial Judgement, paras. 390, 400), 247 (referring to Trial Judgement, 

paras. 402, 403). I 
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to conclude that it cast a reasonable doubt on the Prosecution evidence.633 In particular. the 

Appellant challenges the Trial Chamber's statement that it would "focus on the meetings at which 

Karera. according to the Prosecution Witnesses, allegedly was present ... 634 He submits that this 

statement reveals that the Trial Chamber incorrectly assessed the evidence and "might have even 

shifted the burden of proof' to him, raising the issue of bjas.635 

281. The Appellant argues that the Trial Chamber in the Mpambara case was faced with a similar 

situation where the witnesses gave two different versions of events, one in which the accused 

encouraged killings and the other in which he discouraged attacks. 636 The Appellant notes that in 

that case the Trial Chamber gave the accused the benefit of the doubt in light of the conflicting 

evidence, and contends that the Trial Chamber in his case should have at least articulated its reasons 

for not relying on the conflicting evidence it had previously accepted. 637 

282. The Prosecution responds that the Appellant's arguments are premised on a 

misinterpretation of the facts and of the Trial Chamber's finding. 638 It submits that the Appellant 

merely summarizes the evidence of Prosecution and Defence witnesses as recounted in the Trial 

Judgement and suggests "another way to assess the evidence" without establishing any error on the 

part of the Trial Chamber. 639 It argues that the fact that Prosecution and Defence witnesses gave 

contradictory accounts of the events does not in itself imply a reasonable doubt. 640 

283. The Trial ~ber assessed the Defence evidence relating to the "pacification meetings" in 

detail. 641 While it found that these meetings, e;:ic:cept for one, 64
:i did not relate to any of the meetings· 

alleged by the Prosecution, 643 it noted that the evidence could '"arguably throw some light'' on what 

the Appellant may have said at other meetings. 644 When reaching its findings about the 

incriminating meetings held in Rushashi, the Trial Chamber explicitly stated that it did not "exclude 

that [the] so-call,ed pacification mee1:i,ngs were held'' and that it "3.8sessed the totality of the 

evideJlce" on this point. 645 

633 Notice of Appeal, para. 198; Appellant's Brief, paras. 27-29, 249. 250; Brief in Reply, paras. 77, 78. The ApPcllant 
contends that the only reasonable inference the Trial Chamber could have made from the evidence was one simjJar to 
the inference made by the Trial Chamber in Mpambara. 
634 Appellant's Brief, para. 248, citing Trial Judgement. paras. 404, 415. 
w Appellant's Brief, para. 248. 
635 Appellant's Brie.f, para. 243, pointing to Mpambara Trial Judgement, paras. 64-68, 70. 
537 Appellant's Brief, paras. 27, 28, refetrlng to Mpambara Trial Judgement, paras. 70, 144, 146. 
638 Respondent's Brief, para. 151. 
639 Respondent's Brief, paras. 152, 153. 
640 Respondent's Brief. para. 153. 
641 Trial Judgement, pa.as. 402, 403, 415, 416. 
542 Trial Judgement, pan. 406. See infra Sub-section 2, discussing alleged errors relating lo thi.s meeting. 
643 Trial Judgement, paras. 415,416. 
11,U Trial Judgement, para. 404. 
64

~ Trial Judgement, para. 417. 
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284. In accepting that .. pacification meetings" had taken place,646 the Trial Chamber observed 

that the evidence was "not clear as to whether such pacification meetings were aimed at preventing 

crimes being committed between the Hums (for instance by the Abaseso from Ruhengeri against the 

Abambogo ). preven~g infiltration by unknown persons, achieving reconciliation between extreme 

and moderate Hums, or mitigating animosity between Hutu and Tutsi."647 However, the sole fact 

that the Trial Chamber made no determinative conclusion regarding the purpose of these meetings 

does not constitute an error. In the instant case, the remaining doubt about the purpose of these 

meetings was to the benefit of the Appellant. because the Trial Chamber made its findings based on 

the presumption that such meetings had taken place. 648 It j s implicit from the Trial Judgement that 

the Trial Chamber considered the fact that the Appellant held these "so-called pacification 

meetings" was not ~econcilable with the fact that he participated in other meetings in Rushashi.649 

It is well established that a Trial Chamber does·not have to articulate every step of its reasoning.650 

Taking into account that the aim of the "so-called pacification meetings" was unclear, the Appeals 

Chamber finds no merit in the Appellant's contention that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a 

reasoned opinion with regard to the alleged conflict between the evidence regarding the 

"pacification meetings" and the evidence in relation to the Appellant's participation in meetings 

encouraging crimes in Rushashi. 

285. A review of the Trial Judgement further reveals that the Appellant cited the Trial Chamber's 

statement that it would focus on the meetings alleged by the Prosecution out of conrext. The 

Appeals Chamber finds that this statement651 simply reflects the Trial Chamber's approach to first. 

consider the evidence related to the meetings alleged by the Prosecution, and to subsequently assess 

whether the Defence evidence cast reasonable doubt on it. As noted above, the Trial Chamber 

explicitly recognized that statements the Appellant made at meetings which did not fonn part of the 

Prosecution's case might have some relevance as to "what he [was] likely to have stated elsewhere 

in the same period" and it thus explicitly considered the Defence evidence in this regard. 652 Toe 

Appellant has not demonstrated that the Trial Chamber's approach shows bias or that it shifted the 

burden of proof. Accordingly, this submission is dismissed. 

616 Trial Judgement,. para. 1375_ 
647 Trial Judsement, para. ,375. 
641 Trial Judgement, paras'. 375,417. 
649 Trial Judgmcmt, para. 417. See, irr.ter alia, tho Trial Cha.inber's findings that (i) at the sector office in Rushasbi, the 
Appellant publicly ord~ed lhe looting and the killing of Tutsis; (ii) outside the commune office., be sought 
contributions for weapons in order to fight the Inkotan:yi, their accomplicc::s and the MRND opponents; and (iii) outside 
the commune office, be ~ought contdbutium; a.ntl encouraged .hundreds of administrative, intellectual and business 
J.c:adcrs lo fight the Jnkotanyi Rayine that there liliould be no survivors at the: roadblocks. 
850 Simba Appeal Judgement, para. 152. 
651 Trial Judgement, para.. 404, 
s.,;:i Trial Judgement, pataS. 404,415,416. 
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286. The Appeals 'Chamber finds that the Appellant has not substantiated his allegation that the 

evidence that he participated in ''pacification meetings" is incompatible with evidence that he was 

involved in the killings in Rushashi and Nyamirambo. Although the Trial Chamber did not make a 

specific finding on how the Appellant could have been involved in the killings in Rushasbi and 

Nyamirambo while he participated in "so-called pacification meetings", this omission does not 

amount to an error. Toe Trial Chamber legitimately exercised its discretion in determining which 

version of events was more credible and the Appeals Chamber defers to this finding. 

287. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses this sub-ground of appeal. 

I 

D. Alleged Errors relating to the Distribution of Weapons 

288. The Trial Chamber found that during April and May 1994, the Appellant transported 

weapons to the Rushashi commune office and that these weapons were given to the conseillers and 

subsequently reached the Interahamwe at the roadblocks, where they were used to kill Tutsis.653 

The Trial Chamber held that "(b]y bringing guns,. the Appellant assisted. in the killing of Tutsis and 

convicted him pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute for aiding and abetting genocide and 

extennination as a crime against humanity. 654 

289. Under his First GroWld of Appeal, the Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erred in 

law in entering his conviction for aiding and abetting genocide and extermination as a crime against 

humanity based on this event.655 The Appellant primarily contends that he did not have adequate 

notice of these charges since the allegation of weapons distribution in Rushasbi was not pleaded in 

the Amended Indictment.656 He also argues that the Trial Chamber erred in its assessment of the 

evidence.657 The Appellant finally submjts, under his Seventh Ground of Appeal. that the 

Prosecution failed to establish a nexus between the Appellant and the events at the roadblocks.658 

290. With respect to the lack of adequate notice. the Appellant submits that the allegation that he 

distributed weapons in Rusbashi did not feature in the Amended Indictment and that, as a matter of 

law, the omission of this allegation could not have been cured through timely, clear, and consistent 

m Trial Judgement. para. 438. 
654 Trial Judgement. paras. 547,548,555, 557. : 
c.ss Notice of Appeal, paras. 9-15, 205-210; Appellant's Brief, paras. S, 2.'59-280. 
656 Notice of Appeal, paras. 9~15, 205; Appellant's Brief, paras. ~9-274. 
657 Notice of Appeal, paras. 9-15, 206-210; Appellant's Brief, paras. '.?.75-286. 
651 Not.ice of Appeal. para. 191; Appellant's Brie!, para. 244. · 
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information.659 He claims that this omission could have been cured only through an amendment of 

the Amended Indictment, 660 which the Prosecution failed to request.661 

291. Toe Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber correctly found that the Appellant had 

received sufficient notice of the allegation of weapons distribution in Rusbashi and that any defect 

in the Amended Indictment bad been cured by subsequent timely, clear, and consistent information 

provided to the Appellant 662 The Prosecution submits that the distribution of weapons in Rusbashi 

was not a new charge but rather' a material fact underpinning the charges of genocide and 

extermination and murder as crimes against humanity.663 

292. The charges against an accused and the material facts supporting those charges must be 

pleaded with sufficient precision in an indictment so as to provide notice to an accused.664 Whether 

a fact is .. material" depends on the nature of the Prosecution's case. 665 The Appeals Chamber has 

previously held that where it is alleged that the accused planned, instigated, ordered, or ajded and 

abened 'in the planning, preparation, or execution of the alleged crimes, the Prosecution is required 

to identify the "particular acts" or "the particular course of conduct" on the part of the accused 

which forms the basis for the charges in question.666 

293. An indictment which fails to set forth the specific material facts undeq,inning the charges 

against the accused is defective.667 The defect may be cured if the Prosecution provides the accused 

with timely, clear, and consistent information detailing the factual basis underpinning the charge.668 

However, a clear distinction has to be drawn between vagueness in an indictment and an indictment 

omitting certain charges altogether. 669 While it is possible, as stated above, to remedy the vagueness 

6S!l Notice of Appeal, paras. 9-15, 205; Appellant's Brief, paras. 265, 267. 
660 Appellant's Brief, para. 267; AT. 28 Au_rrust 2008 pp. 52, 53. 
661 Appellant's Brief, para. 259; AT. 28 Au~st 2008 p. 52. 
662 Respondent's Brief, paru. 28, 38. 
663 Respondent's Brief, paras. 36, 37; AT. 28 August 2008 p. 34. 
1564 Muvunyi Appeal Judgement, para. 18; Seromba Appeal Judgement, paras, 27, 100. See 4lso Simba Appeal 
Judgement, para. 63, refi::ning to Muhimana Appeal Judgement, p-.iras. 76, 167, 195; Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgemenl, 
lkara. 49. 

Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 322; Ndindabahiti Appeal Judgen1E:nt, para. 16; Nlagerura et al. Appeal 
Judgement, para. 23. 
666 Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 27, citing Ntagerura et aL Appeal Judgement, para. 25. 
661 NLagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 22; Niyitegeka Appeal Judgement, pm-a. 195; Kupr~kic et al. Appeal 
Judgement, para. l 14. 
663 Muvunyi Appeal Judgement, para. 20, refen:ing lo Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 100; Simba Appeal Judgement, 
para.. 64; Muhimana. Appeal Judgement, paras. 76. 195, 217; Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgemenl, para. 49. See also 
Ntagerur4 et aL Appeal Judgement, paras. 28, 65. 
669 Ntagerura et aL Appeal Judgement, para. 32. See aLro MILVun:yt Appeal Judgement, para. 20, citing Bagosora et al., 
Decision on Aloys Ntabakuzc' s Interlocutory Appeal on Questions of Law Rabtxl by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber T 
Decision on Motion for Exclll5'icm of F.virlenm'l, para. 30. 
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of an indictment, omitted charges can be incorpo ted into the indictment only by a formal 

amendment pursuant to Rule 50 of the Rules. 670 

294. The Tri.al Chamber found that the distribution of weapons in Rushashi did not form part of 

the Amended Indictment and that, as a material fact dexpinning the counts relating to genocide 

and extermination as a crime against humanity, it •1:: have been pleaded thei:cin.''" However, 
the Trial Chamber further found that the Appellant received sufficient notice of this allegation 

through the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and the s aries of the anticipated testimonies of 

Witnesses BMA, BLY, B:MM, and BMN. which wert! annexed to the Prosecution Pre-Tri.al Brief, 

as well as the Prosecution Opening Statement.672 The Trial Chamber found that since the Defence 

had "at no time during the trlal"673 objected to e admission of evidence concerning the 

distribution of weapons in Rushashi, the burden of prJof bad shifted to it to .. demonstrate that lack 

of notice prejudiced Karera. "674 The Tri.al Chambe]I held that the Defence failed to meet this 

burden.675 

295. None of the paragraphs in the Amended dictment makes an allegation of weapons 

distribution in Rushashi. The Amended Indictm~t includes two allegations of weapons 

clistributioo. Paragraphs 9 and IO allege that the kppejlant distributed weapons to commune police 

or civilian militias in Nyamirambo and that as b direct consequence of his conduct. many TutSi 

civilians were killed by commune police or ci~an ~litias and local residents in Nyamirambo in 

April and May 1994.676 Paragraphs 25, 26, and b1 o1tbe Amended Indictment allege that from 7 I . . 
April 1994, the Appellant organized and ordered i campaign of extermination against Tutsi 

I , I 
civilians in the commune of Nyart1genge, which inclualed, inter alia, the distribution of firearms to 

commune police. 677 These paragraphs are not vague, ~ut specifically describe the circumstances of 

two particuhlr incidents of weapons distribution in locrons other than Rushashi. 6711 

296. Therefore, in alleging the distribution of weapons in Rushashi, the Prosecution Pre-Trial 

Brief, the annexed witness summaries, and the Prosec+on's Opening Statement did not simply add 

670 Ntagerura et aL Appeal Judgement. para. 32. See also Muv~J.i Appeal Judgement, para. 20, citing Bagosora et al., 
Decisfon on Aloys Nca.ba.lcu7..e' s Interlocutory Appeal on Question of Law Raised by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber I 
Decision on Motion for Exclusion of Evidence, para. 30. 
671 Trial Judgement. paras. 418, 419. 
r,n Trial Judgement. paras. 420, 421. 
613 The Trial Chamber noted that "[o].nly [the Defence] Closing rief contained an objection." Trial Judgement, para. 
421. 
674 Trial Judgement, para. 421. 
675 Trial Judgement, para. 421. 
676 Amended lndicbnent, paras. 9, 10. 
677 Am.ended Indicbnent, paras. 25-27. 
67s Tb.e Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber addressed in two different sections of the Trial Judgement the 
allegation in paragraphs 9 and 10 of the Amended IIl.dictment. See Trial Judgemen~ Section 4.14, addressing the 
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greater detail to a more general allegation already pleaded in the Amended .Indictment Rather, 

these submissions expanded the charge8: specifically pleaded in the Amended Indictment by 

charging an additional incident of weapon~ distribution at a new location. Thls is an impermissible. 

de facto amendment of the Amended InclictmenL 

297. For the foregoing reasons, the A~peals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in 

:finding that, as a matter of law, the Prose~ution's post-fodictment communications could cure the 

failure to include the allegation of the Rushashi weapons distribution in the Amended Indictment 

and that they in fact did so. The Appeals Chamber therefore need not address the Appellant's 

remaining argwnents under the First and ~eventh Grounds of Appeal in relation to the Rushashi 

weapons distribution. The Appeals Chamber grants the First Ground of Appeal and reverses jn pait 

the Appellant's convictions for aiding and, abetting genocide and extermination as a crime against 

humanity in so far as they are based on the Rushasbi weapons distribution. 

E. Alleged Errors relating to the Murder of Gakuro, Consemer of Kimisange Sector 

298. Relying on Witnesses BMR, BMO, BMN, and BMM, 679 the Trial Chamber found that 

in April or May 1994, Karcra said to the Interahamwe al the Kinyarl centre roadblock that Gakuru, 
the ccmseiller of Kimisange sector, was an Inkotarryi or lnyenzi and ordered that he be arrested. By 
doing :;u, Kan:ra leil him in the hands of lntcrahamwe. Under the prcvai1ing ciTCumstanee.s,. he 
must have understood that Gakuru would;be killed. tiRll 

' 

299. The Trial Chamber concluded from the Appellant's conduc~ at several locations, including 
• ! . 

the incident at the Kinyari centre roadblock, that ''the principal perpetrators as well as Karera had 

the intention to kill prior to the act of killing. ,.6Sl It found that by these acts, the Appellant "intended 

to bring about the death of these persons or, at the very least was aware of the substantial likelihood 

that murder would be committed as a result of bis conduct."682 Based on this event, the Trial 

Chamber convicted the Appellant for instigating and aiding and abetting murder as a crime against 

humanity.683 

300. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber er.red in law in entering this conviction.684 In 
I 

this section, the Appeals Chamber considers three principal questions arising from the Appellant's 

contentions discussed below: (i) whether; the Trial Chamber erred in relying on Prosecution 

Witnesses BMR. BMO, BMN, and BMNf despite contradictions between their testimonies; (ii) 

allegation of weapons distribution in Nyamirambo; 3lJd Trial Judgement, Section 6.5. addressing lhe allegation of 
weapons distribution in Rushashi. ' 
679 Trial Judgement, paras. 44H56, 
610 Trial Judgement, para. 4S6. 
611 Trial Judgement, para. 560. 
682 Trial Judgement, para. 560. 
6113 Trial JudgemenL paras. 560, 561. 
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whether the Trial Chamber erred in rejecting the Appellant's testimony w:ithout providing adequate 

reasons; and (iii) whether the Trial Chamber erred in holding him responsible for instigating and 

aiding and abetting Gakuru's murder when it was unable to determine the place, the date, and the 

perpetrators thereof. 

L Alleged Inconsistencies between the Testimonies of Witnesses BMR., BMO, BMN and B~ 

301. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erred in assessing the evidence by finding 

that he was involved in the killing of Gakuru. 685 He contends that the Trial Chamber "mainly relied 

on the testimonies of [Witnesses] BMR and BMO to constroct the narrative of this event" and 

alleges a number of contradictions between the testimonies.686 He submits that the Trial CbaID.ber 

erred in law in failing to address these contradicti.ons.687 The Appellant submits that in light of the 

differences between the various accounts given by the witnesses, the Trial Chamber erred in finding 

that the allegation was proven beyond reasonable doubt.688 

302. The Appellant, in particular, highlights the following inconsistencies; 

- Whness BMR testified that the event occurred at the end of May 1994 while Witness BMO 

testified that it was sometime in April 1994;689 

- Witness Bl\-fR testified to having seen Gakuru arrive in a Toyota Corolla while Wirness 

BMO claimed he saw a Peugeot 505.690 The AppeHant submits that the Trial Chamber relied 

on the evidence of Witnesses BMR and BMO who allegedly had seen the Appellant using· 

Gakuru.' s vehicle after he had been killed. In bis view, this fin.ding "is of little relevance" in 

light of the contradictory accounts regarding the vehicle driven by Gakuru, as well as the 

fact that the Appellant owned a car similar to the car described by Witness BMO. 691 

- Witness BMR testified that the conseiller, bis wife, and a driver were inside the car while 

Witness BMO testified that he saw the conseiller, bis wife, and their two children.692 

303. The Prosecution responds that the Appellant has not advanced any argument establishing 

that the passage of time, referred to by the Trial Chamber, was not a reasonable explanation for 

justifying the discrepancy in the testimony regarding the precise date and time relevant to the events 

614 Notice of Appeal, paras. 211-220; Appellant's Brief, paras. 281-290. 
csts Appellant's Brief, para. 290. 
~ 6 Appellant• s Brief, para. 284. 
687 Appellant's Brief, para. 289. 
488 Notice of Appeal, para. 219. 
689 Notice of Appeal, para. 216. 
690 Notice of Appeal, para. 216; Appellant's 'Brief, para. 284. 
6111 Notice of Appeal, para. 217; Appellant's Brief, paras. 284, 286. 
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42i,./R 
that led to the killing: of Gakuru. 693 It submits that the I Appellant has failed to challenge the comm.on 

features of the witnesses' accounts accepted by the rial Chamber. In its view, the Trial Chamber 

duly assessed the evidence before it, including e Appellant's arguments and the alleged 

discrepancies. 694 

304. As a preli~ary matter, the Appeals Cham r considers that the alleged inconsistencies 

should be viewed against the backdrop of the numerous similarities found by the Trial Chamber jn 

Witnesses BMR's and BMO's accounts which are not challenged on appeal: 

Both testified fuat the conseiller arrived at the .Kinyari centre roadblock in a white sedan car with 
others, that Karora and a man called Vianney Simparikubwabo were them, that Karera was asked 
to confirm the ~nserller's identity, that he ordered his arrest and detention, and that the con.seiUar 
was lat.er lcillecl. Thejse two witnesses. as well as Witness .BMM, also said that Karera had I.he 
power to save tbe coreiller. Jt is noted that they both $21.W Karera use Gakuru' s car after he was 
killed. 695 , 

Moreover, contrary to rhe Appellant's contention, the Trial Chamber explicitly addressed the 

alleged inconsistencies an~ noted that "[i]n light of the important similarities outlined above, the 

Chamber does not con~ider these discrepancies significant "696 It further explained that 

"[c]onsiderable time bas fsed since the event, and the witnesses may have recalled tho date and 

perceived the vehicle differently.'1697 

305. It is within a TriJ Chamber's discretion to assess any inconsistencies in the testimony of 

witnesses, and to de:::Jne whether, in the light of the overall evidence, the witnesses were 

nonetheless reliable and crluble. 698 The Appellant has not advanced. any reason to demonstrate that· 

the Tri.al Chamber's explJ.ati.on was unreasonable. 

306. Toe Appellan\ ~ submits that Witness BMR testified that the Appellant bad stated that 

the passengers at the fOadJ
1

1ock were Tutsis whereas, according to Witness BMO, the Appell~t did 

not mention their ethnicity. 699 He contends that this contradiction is particularly significant because 
. I 

it is central to the allegation that he told the lnterahamwe at the roadblock that Gak:aru was a 

Tutsi.700 

692 Notice of Appeal, para: 216; ~ppcllant' s Brief, para. 284. 
693 Respondent's Brief, para. 169. 
694 Respondent' .s Brief, para. 170. 
lillS Trial Judgement, para. ;450. , 
1196 Trial Judgement, paras. 451,452. 
6'n Trial Judgement, para. 452. 
6911 See supra para. lSS. ' 
c;w Notice of Appeal, para. 216; Appellant's Brief, para. 284. 
700 Appellant's Brief, para. 285. 
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307. The Trial Chamber explicitly addressed this difference and considered it insignificanc.701 It 

explained that ••[b ]oth witnesses conveyed that Karera created an impression that the conseiller or 

his companions were Tutsi or accomplices:•'02 Toe AppeJlant has not explained why this 

explanation by the Ti:ial Chamber was unreasonable. 

308. The Appellant subn-uts that Witnesses BMR, BMO, BMM, and BMN also differed in their 

testimonies as to the date and time when they had learnt about Gakuru's murder.703 He submits that 

Witness B'MR learned at 3 p.m. from people who "seemed" to have been eyewitnesses to these 

killings that the detainees had been killed.704 According to the Appellant, Witness BMO heard 

"later" when he returned to the area that the conseiller and bis 'Wife had been kill.ed.705 Witness 

BMM:706 had seen after 6 p.m., on a date he could not specify, four individuals killed at the 

commune office following an order from the Appellant. 707 Witness BMN testified that she saw 

Gakuru at the commune office at 1 p.m., that he was led away, and that she saw him again at the 

prison. Witness BMN further testified that she later heard some lnierahamwe boasting that they had 

killed Gakuru. 708 

309. The Appeals Chamber fails to see how the fact chat the witnesses learned about the murder 

of Gakuru at different times and occasions presents a contradiction in their accounts. Moreover. the 

Trial Chamber addressed the alleged contradiction between Witnesses B:MR's, BMO's, and 

B:MM's testimonies on this point in. the Trial Judgement and stated that "[t]he fact that one of the 

witnesses may have given an incorrect time estimate, thirteen years_ after the event, does not affect 

his overall credibility."709 The Appellant has not challenged the Trial Chamber's reasoning. This 

sub-ground of appeal is accordingly dismissed. 

310. Finally, the Appeals Chamber notes the Appellant's contention that Witness BMR testified 

that he and bis colleagues sent someone to look for the Appellant in a bar whereas Witness BMO 

testified that the Appellant was at the roadblock when the conseiller requested to speak to Mm. 710 

701 Trial Judgement., para. ,451. 
702 Trial Judgement, para. 451. 
703 Appellant's Brief, para:. 286. 
704 Notice of Appeal. para'. 218; AppeJJant's Brief, para. 286, citing Trial Judgement, para. 442. 
705

_ Notice of Appeal, para! l18. 
706 The Appellant erroneou.,<;Jy refers to Witness B:M:N. However, the conlcxt reveals that he lntencled to refer lo Wlmess 
BMM. 
707 Notice of Appeal, para.: 218; Appellant's Brief, para. 286. 
701 Notice of Appeal. para. 218; Appellant's Brief, para. 287. 
709 Trial Judgement, para. 454. 
7m Notice of Appeal, para. 216; Appellant's Bricf, para. 284. He also submits that Witness BMN testified that cbc 
Appellant was at the commune office while Witness BMM st.a.tcd that he was at Kinyari centre. Appellant's Brief, para. 
284. 

88 
Case No.: ICTR-01-74-A 2 February 2009 ~ 



02/02 '09 12:30 FAX 0031705128932 !CTR ~093 

311. The Trial Chamber did not explicitly address this matter. The Appeals Chamber recalls that 

minor inconsistencies commonly occur in witness testimony without rendering it unreliable and that 

it is within the iliscretion of a Trial Chamber to evaluate the testimony and to consider whether the 

evidence as a whole is credible, without explaining its decision in every detail.711 In light of the 

Trial Chamber's detailed ana)ysis of both similarities and differences in the wjtnesses' accounts, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that the alleged inconsistency is minor. The Trial Chamber's failure to 

address this issue does not render its reliance on the witnesses erroneous. 

312. Accordingly, the Appellant's appeal on this point is dismissed. 

2. Alleged Failure to Provide Reasons for Rejecting the Appellant's Testimony 
' 

313. The Appellant recalls that he testified at tlial that he knew Gakuru but that be had never 
I 

heard that Gakuru was present or that he was ~illed in Rushashi.712 He submits that the Trial 

Chamber erred in law in failing to justify its decisi9n to reject bis testimony on this point.713 

I 
314. The Appeals •Chamber bas previously hel~ that if a ''Trial Chamber did not refer to the 

evidence given by a ~itness, even if it is in contraliiction to the Trial Chamber's finding, it is to be 
I 

presumed that the Trial Chamber assessed and w1ighed the evjdence, but found that the evidence 

did not prevent it from arriving at its actual findinks."714 The Trial Chamber explicitly noted that it 

based its finding on the totality of the evidence ~fore it, including the Appellant's testimony.715 

, . I 
The Appellant has not shown that the Trial qhamber acted unreasonably by not explicitly 

I , 

discussing his evidence, particularly in light of th~ fact that the testimony was limited to denying 

the allegation against him. 716 Accordingly this appdal is dismissed. 
I 

3. Alleged:Failure to Detennine the ~lacb. Date. and Identity of the Pernetrators 
. . 

315. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law in finding that it had been proven 

beyond reasonable doubt that he had instigated and aided and abetted Gakuru's murder when in fact 

it was unable to determine the place, the date, and the perpetrators of that crime.717 The Appellant 

submits that the elem~nts of the modes of responsibility for which he was held responsible were not 

established.718 He contends that the evidence does not reflect that those persons who received his 

711 See supra para. 20. 
712 Appellant's Brief, para. 283. 
7J3 Appellant's Brief, para. 289. 
714 See :supra para. 20. 
715 Trial Judgement, para. '456. 
7111 Trial Judgement. para. 448. 
717 Notice of Appeal. para'. 220; Appellant's Brief, paras. 288,289; AT. 28 August 2008 pp. 27, 59. 
711 AT. 28 August 2008 p. 27. The French original version of the transcripts reflects that Counsel for the Appellant 
makes reference lo lhe Trial Judgement in Orie. See AT. 28 August 2008 p. 35 of the French transcripts. 
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"contribution" committed any crime.719 In bis view,i it was impossjb]e to establish the elements of 
' ' 

aiding and abettin~ since it was unknown who eventually killed Gakuru on whose orders, and 

where he was killed. 720 He submits that accordjng to the Prosecution evidence he never asked that 

Gak:uru be killed. but merely instructed that he be taken away and detained. 721 

316. The Prosecution responds that the Appellant prompted the lnterahamwe to commit the 

offence, and that ~e at least knew that Gakuru ~as likely to be kill.ed.722 It submits that the 

Appellant did not merely facilitate the killing of Gakuru. and that Gakuru had hoped that the 

Appellant would saye his life.723 When the Appellant was asked to confirm Gakuru's identity, the 

Appellant said that Ga1ruru was an •·Jnyenzi'. In the Prosecution's view this statement indicated to 

the lnterafiamwe that they had to kill Gakuru.724 The Prosecution also refers to Witness BMR's 

testimony, which the Trial Chamber found credible: accordjng to that witness, ·'these peop]e would 
' 

be taken to a place where everything was taken away from them, their clothes, shoes, watches and 

so on, and then they were killed." 725 

317. The actus reus of "instigating" implies prompting another person to commit an offence. 726 It 

is not necessary to prove that the crime would not have been perpetrated wirhout the involvement of 

the accused; it is sufficient to demonstrate that the instigation was a factor substantially contributing 

to the conduct of another person collJIIlitting the crime,727 

318. Contrary to the Appellant's contention, the specific identification of the perpetrators, who 

were identified in the Trial Judgement as lnterahamwe, was not required for a finding that the 
I 

Appellant instigated the killing of Gakuru. In any event, the Trial Chamber did identify the 

perpetrators. It is implicit, but certain, in the Trial Judgement that the Trial Chamber found that 

Galcuru was killed by the Interahamwe who were informed by the Appellant that Gakuru was an 

"lnyenzi'' and who received his order to arrest him. The Trial Chamber found that "[b ]y doing so. 
' 

Karera left him [Gakuru] in the hands of lnterahamwe'· and that "[u]nder the prevailing 

circumstances, be must have understood that Gakuru would be killed".728 That the Trial Chamber 

719 AT. 28 August 2008 p. 27. 
720 AT. 28 August 2008 p. 27. 
ni AT. 28 August2008 p. 27. 
721 AT. 28 August 2008 P.• 40. 
723 AT. 28 A'l,lgust 2008 P.· 40. 
724 AT. 28 August 2008 p, 40. 
?2S AT. 28 A\lgust 2008 p. 40. citing T. I February 2006 p. 24. 
126 Nahimo.na et al. Ap~al Judgement, para. 480: Ndindabalii?j Appeal Judgement, para. 117; Kordic and Cerkez. 
Mpeal Judgement, para. 27. 
72 Nahim.ana et aL Appeal Judgement, para. 480; Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement, para. 129; Kordic and Cerkez Appeal 
Judgement. para. 27. 
72ll Trial Judgement., para.,456. 
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made such a finding is implicit in its recollection of the evidence of Witnesses BMO and Bl\.1N_729 

While jt would have been preferable for the Trial Chamber to explic.itly state that it identified the 

perpetrators of Galci.uu• s murder as being the Interahamwe to whom the Appellant indicated that 

Gakuru was an "lnyenzi" and who received the order to arrest him, this omission does not amount 

to an error. 

319. However, based on the Trial Chamber's factual findings, the Trial Chamber could not have 

reasonably concluded that the Appellant prompted the perpetrators to kill Oakuru. The Trial 

Chamber made no factual findings supporting such a conclusion. It merely concluded that the 

Appellant had informed the lnterahamwe who later killed Gakuru that he was an "lnyenzi'' and 

ordered them to arrest him. The Trial Chamber should have further explained how, on the basis of 

these factual findings, it inferred that the Appellant had prompted the Interahamwe to kill Gakuru. 

In the absence of such an explanation, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Tri.al Chamber erred in 

convicting the Appell.ant for instigating Gakuru's murder. 

320. The Appeals Chamber now turns to the Appellant's submission that the Trial Chamber erred 

in entering a conviction for aiding and abetting murder as a crime against humanity. 

321. The actus reus of aiding and abetting is constituted by acts or omissions that assist, further, 

or lend moral support to the perpetration of a specific crime, and which substantially contribute to 

the perpetration of the crime_730 The mens rea for aiding and abetting is knowledge that acts 

performed by the ai~ and abettor assist in the) commission of the crime by the principal. 731 It is 

well established that it is not necessary for ail accused to know the precise crime which was 
I 

intended and which in the event was committed, but he must be aware of its essential elements. 732 If 

an accused is aware ·that one of a number of cdnes will probably be committed, and one of those 

crimes is in fact committed., he has intended to fabilitate the commission of that crime.733 

I 

322. The Trial Chamber found that the App~ant told the Intera"f&amwe that Gakuru was an 

"Jnyenzi" and that he ordered his arrest by the ln~erahamwe, which he must have understood would 

result in bis murder.734 On the basis of these Jdings, it was reasonable for the Trial Chamber to 
I 

conclude that the Appellant aided and abettetl the murder of Gakum. 735 By instructing the 
: I 

Interahamwe to arrest Gakum and telling th.em that Gakuru was an .. Jnyenzc', it was reasonable to 
I 

conclude that the Appellant substantially con,buted to the commission of his murder through 

729 See Trial Judgement, para.11- 445, 447. I 
730 Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 482. 
731 Nahimarta et aL Appc;il Judgement, para.. 482. 
732 Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 482. 
733 See Sta/de Appeal Judgement,. para.. 50; Na.himana et aL Appeal Judgement, para. 482. 
734 Trlal Judgemcnl, para. 456. 
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specifically assisting and providing moral support to the principal perpetrators. Furthermore, in 

light of the evidence adduced. the Appeals Chamber finds no error in the Trial Chamber's finding 

that the Appellant had the requisite mens rea. 

323. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber grants this sub-ground of appeal in part and 

reverses the Appellaht•s conviction for instigating murder as a crime against humanity based on this 

event. The Appellant's conviction for aiding and abetting murder as a crime against humanity based 

on the killing of Gakuru is upheld. 

F. Conclusion 

324, The Appeal~ Chamber grants the Appellant's First Ground of Appeal and reverses the 

Appellant's convicq.on for aiding and abetting genocide and extermination as a crime against 

humanity, based on the alleged weapons distribution in Rushashi commune. 

' 
325. The Appeals1 Chamber further grants the Seventh Ground of Appeal, in part. and reverses 

the Appellant's conviction for instigating murder as a crime against humanity based on the killing 

ofGakuru. 

735 Trial Jw:lgcment, para.:560. 
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IX. ALLEGED ERRORS RELATING TO THE ALIBI (GROUND OF 

APPEALS) 

l.f-18/fl 

326. At trial, the ~ppell.ant raised an alibi in his defence.736 He submitted that on 7 April 1994, he 

left bis house in Nyamirambo for bis son Ignace
1
's house at the Nyakinama campus of the Rwanda 

National University·in Ruhengeri prefecture.737 The Appell.ant stated that he arrived at the campus 

on that day and did not leave until 19 April 1994, when he moved to Rushashl to assume the post of 
I 

prefect of Kigali prefecture. 738 The Trial Chamber found that the Appellant and his relatives 
I 

travelled from Nyamirambo to bis son's house in Nyakinama on 7 April 1994739 and that he stayed 

there until 19 April 1994.740 However, the Tri~ Chamber concluded that the Appellant did not 
I 

remain "consistently and exclusively" in Ruhengeri prefecture and stated that it had no doubt that 
' he was present fo NyamiraI11bo and Ntarama sectors and Rushasbi commune when the crimes were 

committed.741 

327. The Appellant contends that the Trial Chaµiber erred in law and in fact in not finding that he 

remained in Ruhengeri during the period from ? to 19 April 1994.742 He submits that the Trial 

Chamber erred in its application of the burden' of proof, in its assessment of the possibility of 
I 

travelling from Rubengeri during the period covered by hjs alibi, and in its assessment of the 
' ' 

Defence evidence relating to the alibi. 743 

' A. All~ed Errors in the Application of the Burden of Proof 

328. The Appellant contends that the Trial Chamber incorrectly applied the burden of proof in 
I 

relation to his alibi.7:4' He submits that the Trial Chamber's consideration of his alibi at the very end 
' 

of the evidence con~timtes an "important indicatipn that the [Trial] Olamber shifted the burden of 

proof'. 745 He argues, that the Trial Chamber erroileously assessed the "plausibjlity'' of his alibi on 

the basis of whether the evidence of the Prosecution witnesses eliminated the reasonable possibility 

that he remained consistently in Nyakinama, 746 and assessed this issue in the context of the "number 

736 Notice of alibi pursuant to Rule 67 (A)(ii) of the Rules served on the Prosecution on 9 January 2006 (UI1Tedacted 
version) annexed to the J;>rosecution's Motion for Further and Better Alibi's Particulars, filed on 23 Janumy 2006 and 
lhe Coaigendum filed on 26 January 2006 (''Notice of Alibi"). See also Decision on Motion for Further Alibi 
Particulars, 7 March 2006 (TC); Trial Judgement, paras. 457-510. 
737 Trial Judgement. pn4S9. 
731 Trial Judgement, para.' 459. 
T.19 Trial Judgement, pat-a. 478. 
740 Trial Judgement, para.1 S 10. 
741 Trial Judgement, para. 510. 
742 Notice of Appeal, paras. 221-239; Appellant's Brief, paras. 291-309. 
743 Notice of Appeal, paras. 221-239; Appellant's Brief, paras. 291-309. 
744 Appellant's Brief, para. 291; AT. 28 August 2008 p. 15. 
745 Appellant's Brief, para. 30; Brief in Reply, paras. 9, 87. 
746 Appellant's Brief, para. 295; AT. 28 August 2008 p. 16. 
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of times" he was seen in Nyakinama, the possibility of travelling by road from Ruhengeri at that 

time, and the credib~ty and reliability of Prosecution evidence.747 He also argues that according to 

the Trial Chamber's reasoning, he was required to prove beyond reasonable doubt that he did not at 

any time between 7 and 19 April 1994 leave Nyakinama, if bis alibj were to be accepted.74
R He 

claims that the Tri.al Chamber erred in its analysis of the evidence by simply comparing the 

credibility of Prosecution and Defence evidence,749 as well as in its finding that the Defence 

witnesses who testified to the alibi had credibility problerns.750 

329. Toe Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber committed no error in its statement of the 

applicable law751 and that there is no merit in the Appellant's argument that the Trial Chamber 

misdirected itself in the application of the legal standards and evidential burden when considering 

the alibi.752 It argues that the approach adopted by the Trial Chamber is consistent with the 

established jurisprudence of the Appeals Chamber, and tha.t the Appellant has not demonstrated that 

the Trial Chamber reversed the burden of proof in re]ation to bis alibi.7s3 Toe Prosecution asserts 

that the Trial Chamber committed no error in considering the credibility and reliability of the 

witnesses and co:crec'tly placed the burden of proof on the Prosecution.754 

330. The Appeals Chamber recalls that where an alibi is pleaded, an accused denies that he was 

in a position to commit the crime for which he is charged because at the time of its commission, he 

was nol at the seen~ of the crime, but elsewhere.7ss It is sett1ed jurisprudence of the two ad hoc 

Tribunals that in putting forward an alibi, an accused need only produce evidence likely to raise a 

reasonable doubt in 1;he Prosecution's case.756 The onus remains on.the Prosecution to prove beyond 

reasonable doubt th~ facts underpinning the crimes charged.757 Indeed, it is incumbent on the 

Prosecution to establish beyond reasonable doubt that, despite the alibi, the facts alleged are 

nevertheless true. 758 

,,.7 Appellant's Brief, par~ 296. 
1411 Appellant"s Brief, para. 303. 
7◄9 Appellant's Brief, para. 304. 
750 Appellant's Brief, para. 306. 
751 Respondent's Brief, para. l8S. 
752 Respondent's Brief. paras. 72, 186. The Prosecution also submits that the Trial Chamber's placm, of the factual 
.findings in relation to the alibi evidence towards the end of the Trial Judgement .. cannot be construed as indicia of the 
reve.rsal of the burden of proof and an error of "law by the Trial Chamber''. Respondent's Brief, para. 60 (cir.arion 
omitted). 
753 Respondcml' s Brief, para. 186. 
754 Respo.adeul's Brief, para. 208. 
755 Kajelijeli Appeal Judgement, para. 42, citing Niyitegeka Appeal Judgement, para. 60, citing Kayishema and 
Rw:illdana Appeal Judgement., para. 106. 
156 Niyitegeka Appeal Judgemcul., para. 60, refoning to K.ayishema and Ruzindana Appeal Judgement, para. 113. 
757 Niyitegeka Appeal Judiemenl., para. 60. 
751 Niyitegeka Appeal Judgement, para. 60, referring to Mu.rema Appeal Judgement. para. 202. 
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331. In the pres~nt case, the Appeals Chamber is satisfied that the Trial Chamber correctly 

enunciated the law applicable in relation to the burden and standard of proof concerning an alibi759 

by stating that 

an acC1.1Sed need only produce evidence likely to raise a reasonable doubt in the Prosecution case. 
The alibi docs not carry a. separate burden. The burden of proving beyond reasonable doubt that., 
despite the alibi, the facts alleged arc nevertheless true remains squately on the shoulders of the 
Prosecution. 7Ci0 

332. With regard to the Appellant's contention that the Trial Chamber erred by failing to consider 

his testimony and alibi first, the Appeals Chamber notes that at the beginning of the section on alibi 

in the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber stated that "[n]otwithstanding [the] structure [of the Trial 

Judgement], in making its factual findings, fit] has assessed the Prosecution and Defence evidence 

in its totality"761 and went on to analyze in detail the Appellant's testimony and alibi.762 The 

Appeals Chamber therefore finds that the discussion of the Appellant's alibi towards the end of the 

Trial Judgement does not indicate that it shifted the burden to the Appellant. 

I 
333. The Appe113.l])t argues that the Trial Chamber erred when it considered the issue to be, and 

accordingly assessed, whether the Prosecutibn witnesses eliminated. the reasonable possibility that 

he remained consistently at Nyak:inama betleen 7 and 19 April 1994.763 The Appellant cont.ends 

that the Trial Chami..- erred in its assess+! of bis alibi by first considering the Prosecution's 

evidence tendered to. discredit it. 764 In this regard, the Appellant argues that this approach imposed a 

burden of proof on him, as he was required to produce .. more convincing alibi evidence" than the 

Prosecution's evidence tendered to discredit e alibi. 765 
· 

334. The Appeals :Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber articulated the issue to be whether the 

evidence of Prosecu~on witnesses who teslf{ied to seeing the Appellant in Nyamirambo sector, 

Ntarama sector, and: Rushashl commune e1frittares the reasonable possibility that the Appellant 

•-remained consistently in Nyakinruna in Ruhengeri prefecture".766 The Trial Chamber further 

explained that in itS iview .. this depends on iow frequently [Karera] was observed in Nyakinama, 

whether he could use the roads to the other areas, and the reliability and credibility of the 

759 See e.g. Nahimana et aL Appeal Judgement, para. 14; Mu.rema Appeal Judgement, paras. 205, 206. 
7

<i0 Trial Judgement, para.•462. 
761 Trial Judgement, para..; 457. 
762 In the introductory p~graphs of the chapters addr · sing the events in Nyawrambo and Ntaram.a., the Trial Chamber 
specified that the Appell~t presented an alibi and swillllarized his defence:. Trial Judgement, paras. 81, 222. For each 
factual finding, and when! appropriate, the Trial Cham~ systematically summari.zeo both I.he Prosecution and Defence 
evidence, and discussed them. It also specifically COil.Sldered the Appellant's testimony (see Trial Judgement, paras. 30, 
34, 48, 49, 64, 65, 72. 73~ 104, 133, 275-278, 309, 342-345, 373, 390~3~. '102, 406, 415, 430, 448), and his alibi (.)·ee 
Trial Judgement, paras. 4,: 26, 81, 123, 222, 275) \J:Jroughout the Trial Judgem.enL 
7
~) Appcllanl' s 'Brief, pHnL 29.S; Brief in Reply, p3rd.. 1 i; AT. 28 August 2008 p. 16. 

7°' Appellant's Brief, para. 303. \ 
765 Appellant's Brief, para. 303; AT. 28 August 2008 p. 16. 
766 Trial Judgement, para. 500. 1 
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Prosecution's evidence placing him in Nyamirambo and Ntarama sectors and Rushashi 

commune". 767 

335. The Trial Chamber found that the reasonable possibility that the Appellant remained 

"consistently and exclusively" in Ruhengeri prefecture is eliminated by the .. credibility fasues raised 

in connection with J?efence evidence", as well as the "reUable and credible evidence" which placed 

the Appellant in Nyamirambo sector, Ntarama sector, and Rushasbi commune during this period.768 

Consequently. the Trial Chamber concluded that there was no doubt that the Appellant was present 

in Nyamirambo and Ntarama sectors and Rushashi commwie when the crimes were committed.769 

The Tri.al Chamber's approach is consistent with the legal standards discussed above. Therefore, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that the Appellant has failed to demonstrate any error on the part of the 

Trial Chamber in this regard. 

336. The Appellant finally argues that the Trial Chamber's reasoning erroneously suggests that 

for his alibi to be accepted he had to prove beyond reasonable doubt that he did not leave 

Nyakinama between 7 and 19 April 1994.770 In this regard. the Appeals Chamber notes the Trial 

Chamber's finding that the "credibility issues" in relation to the alibi evidence, coupled with the 

·•reliable and credible" Prosecution evidence placing the Appellant in Nyamirambo, Ntarama, and 

Rushashi, together eliminated the reasonable possibility that the Appellant remained consistently 

and exclusively in Rnhengeri prefecture.771 The Trial Chamber's reasoning does not inilicule the 

imposition of any obligation on the Appellant to prove beyond reasonable doubt that he stayed 

permanently in Nyalinama between 7 and 19 April 1994. 

337. Contrary to the Appellant's contention, the Trial Chamber did not conclude that the 

Appellant returned every day to Nyakinama. Instead, it found that the Appellant could travel on the 

morning and return "on some days". 772 The Trial Chamber found that there were significant gaps in 

the alibi evidence allowjng for his presence on some days at the crime sites.773 There is no 

indication that the Trial Chamber considered that the Appellant must necesfiarily have undertaken 

the journeys from Nyakinama to the crime sites and back on the same day. between the moming 

and the aftemoon.774 The Trial Chamber's assessment of the Defence evidence about accessibility 

of the roads does not contradict this intexpretati.on. The Trial Chamber focused on whether it was 

7
ffT Trial Judgement, p~a. SOO. 

761 Trial Judgemont, para.. 510. 
769 Trial Judgement. para.. 510. 
TIO Appellant's Brief, para. 303; AT. 28 August 2008 p. 15. 
771 Trial Judgement. para. 51 0. 
772 Trial Judgeme.nr., par11.. SOS. 
m See Trial Judgement. par~ SOS. 
774 The Appeals Chamber notes the following statement "It is important that [Witness Y.MK] did nol see Kacera every 
day, as he testified that he occasionally missed the program." (footnote omitted). Trial Judgement, para. 505. 
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lrllf./Pr 
possible to travel at that period between Nyakinama and the crime sites and not whether it was 

feasible on the same day. Consequently, the Appeals Chamber finds no merit in the Appellant's 

argument. 

338. This sub-ground of appeal is accordingly dismissed. 

B. Alleged Errors relating to the Possibility of Travelling from Rnhengeri 

339. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously assessed the Prosecution's 

evidence in relation to the possibility of travelling from Ruhengeri prefecture after 6 April 1994.775 

The Appellant argues that the Trial Chamber determined, in error, that Defence Witness KNK 

corroborated the evidence of Defence Witnesses BBA and KBG that the main road between 

Ruhengeri and K.igalj was blocked but that an alternative road was available passing through 

Oita:rama.776 The Appellant also contends that speculating on the possibility of travelling from 

Ru.hengeri to Kigali, without evidence that such a journey was actually undertaken, does not impair 

the reasonable possibility that he remained in Ruhengeri. 777 He further argues that the Trial 

Chamber's finding that he moved around without difficulty because of his position and the fact that 

he could use an official vehicle is not supported by evidence.778 In addition, he asserts that the Trial 

Chamber erred in finding that he was at the Ntarama Church on the morning of 15 April 1994 while 

accepting his alibi that he was in Ruhengeri every day in the monring and after 4 p.m.779 The 

Appellant argues that the evidence demonstrated that it was impossible and unreuli~tic for him to 

undertake in such a time-frame the 410 kilometre return journey from Ruhengeri to the Ntarama· 

Church through the itinerary accepted by the Trial Chamber which would have meant passing 

through Gitarama town, Kigoma commune, and Ngenda commune, as it was the only possible 

route.780 

340. In response, the Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber correctly found that Witness 

KNK's evidence corroborated the evidence of Witnesses BBA and KBG on the point of the 

aceessibility of the Ruhengeri-Kigali road.781 It further submits that the Appellant adduced no 

tangible evidence to demonstrate that it was impossible to travel during the period in question, and 

the evidence adduced by both parties was that although travel was difficult., it was possible through 

775 Appellant's Brief, paras. 298-302; AT. 28 August 2008 p. 22. 
776 Appellant's Brief, para. 299. 
777 Appellant's Brief, para. 300. 
778 Appellant's Brief, paras. 301, 302. 
779 Brief in Reply, paras. 50-52. 
710 Brief in Reply, paras. 51J..52. 
711 Respondent's Brief, patllS- 196-198. 
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secondary roads.782 The Prosecution argues that the Appellant's submission in relation to the Trial 

Chamber's :finding that the Appellant moved around without difficulty is false.783 

341. In relation to the Appellant's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Witness 

KNK corroborated the testimonies of Witnesses BBA and KBG, the Appeals Chamber notes that 

the Trial Chamber concluded that it was possible to travel from Nyakinama to Nyamirambo, 

through Gitarama, without using the main Ruhenge:ri-Kigali road. based on the following 

assessment: 

Witness BBA testified that travel was possible from Nyakinaroa to Gitarama. without using the 
ma.in Ruhengeri-Kigali road, and Witness KBO said that the road from GilJ!rama to NyaJJrirambo 
was open for travel between April and July 1994. Their evidence is corroborated by Witness KNK, 
who testified that she travelled from Ruhengeri via Gilarama to Kigali on 16 April 1994.714 

342. During cross-examination, Witness BBA testified that there was an unpaved road leading 

from Ruhengeri to Gita.ram.a, through Nyakinarna, without passing through Kigali. However, he 

could not testify on whether the road was accessible by a motor vehicle.78
!i 

343. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Witness KBG testified that in April 1994, after the 

killing of President Habyarimana. and in May 1994,786 the only road accessible by a m.otor vehicle 

from Kigali to Gitarama passed through the Nyamirarobo road, Mt. Kigali, and Nyabarongo_ 787 

Witness KBG specified that he followed that road because it was the only safe road and that the 

other roads were blocked.788 

344. Witness KNK also indicated that the •'usual road" from Kigali to Ruhengeri was ''blocked" 

but that it was possible to travel by an alternate route through Gitarama.. which was safe. 789 

345. Therefore, according to the testimony of Witness KNK, corroborated by the evidence of 

Witnesses BBA and KBG, it was possible to travel from Nyakinama to Nyamirambo, through 

Gitarama, without using the ma.in Ruhengeri-Kigali road. The Appellant has not shown any error in 

the Trial Chamber's finding that Witness KNK corroborated the evidence of Witnesses BBA and 

K.BG. 

346. The Appellant argues that even if it was possible to travel between Ruhengeri and the Kigali 

region, the reasonable possibility that he remained in Ruhengeri cannot be questioned without 

782 Respondent's Brief, para. 201. 
783 Respondent's Brief, paras- 203, 204_ 
784 Trial Judgement, para. 506. 
715 T. 15 August 2006 p. 48. 
786 T. 9 May 2006 p. 3. 
1s1 T 006 . 9 May 2 P- 11. 
788 T. 9 May 2006 p. 37_ 
139 T. 9 May 2006 p. 39. 
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evidence that he actually took such a joumey.790 The Appeals Chamber disagrees. The Trial 

Chamber excluded the reasonable possibility that the Appellant remained ••consistently and 

exclusively" in Ruh~ngeri.791 In reaching these :findings, the Trial Chamber considered the evidence 

of a number of witnesses and reasoned that "it was possible to travel from Nyakinama to 

Nyamirambo, through Gitarama, without using the main Ruhengeri-Kigali road.";792 that "Karera 

could have travelled from Nyakinama to Ntarama between April and July 1994"793 using an official 

vehicle; and that since be had an influential government position and was well known he would 

have passed roadblocks without major problems.794 

347. The Trial Chamber also considered the credibility of the Defence evidence in relation to the 

Appellant being in :Nyakinama and the reliability and credibility of the Prosecution's evjdence 

which placed him at'Nyamirambo and Ntarama sectors and Rushashi commune, the locations of the 

crimes. 795 The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that the Appellant ha.~ failed to show that the Trial 

Chamber committed an error in reaching this conclusion. 

348. The Appellant finally contends that the Trial Chamber's finding that he moved around 

without difficulty by virtue of his position and the fact that he could use an official vehicle is not 

supported by evidence and is therefore erroneous. 796 Having considered this finding, 797 the Appeals 

Chamber notes that while the Trial Chamber did not cite any evidence in relation to it, there was 

relevant evidence on the record supporting this conclusion. The Appeals Chamber notes, for 

instance. that when the Appellant testified, he stated that on the morning of 7 April 1994 he was 

recognized as an authority by one of the "gendarmes" manning a roadblock and could continue his 

travel after his vehicle had been checked.798 The Appellant also testified that on 7 April 1994, he 

travelled through "three roadblocks and one .military check-point".799 Therefore, the Appeals 

Chamber finds no merit in the Appellant's argwnent. 

349. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber generally did not embark on an 

assessment of the time needed to travel from Nyakinama to the crime scenes.800 However, the 

790 Appellant's Brief, para.. 300. 
791 Trial Judgement, para.,SlO. 
792 Trial Judgement, para. 506. 
793 Trial Judgement para. ,507. 
751

" Trial Judgement. para.. 'S08. 
7

'J5 Trial Judgement, paras. 500-510. 
796 Appellant's Brief, parns. 301, 302. 
797 Trial Judgement, para. 508 which reads: ••[ ... J However, as Katera had an influential governmental 
position and was well knpwn, the Chamber considers that he wouJd have passed roadblocks controlled by 
Interahamw~. gendarme.r,, soldiers or civilians, without major problems. The use of an official vehicle, which 
Kareca said lhat he had while in .Rubcngerl, would facilitaT.e his travel." 
7911 T. 23 August 2006 p. 1!8. 
7

9'.> T. 23 AU,i1J6t 2006 p. 17. 
sou See Trial Judgement, paras. 506, 507. 
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Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber did not necessarily conclude that the Appellant had 

to travel from Nyak:inama to the crimes sites in Nyamirambo or Ntarama on the same day. Rather. 

its finding that "Karera could have lived in Ruhengeri, but travelled during the daytime to 

Nyarnirambo or Ntarama sectors, returning on some days to the Nyak.i.nama campus by 4.00 p.m.''801 

does not preclude an interpretation that although on some days he returned to Nyakinama by 4.00 

p.m., on other days he travelled from Nyakinama to a crime site and returned on another day. 

C. Alleged Errors in the Assessment of the Evidence on Alibi 

350. The Appellant contends that the Trial Chamber erroneously found that the Defence 

witnesses who testified to his alibi had credibility problems. ROl He states that the contradictions 

relating to Defence Witnesses ATA and KD are trivial when compared to the problems of 

credibility affecting the Prosecution witnesses. 803 He also argues that the Trial Chamber did not 

provide good reasons for doubting the alibi evidence. 804 

351. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber has unfettered djscretion in assessing the 

evidence presented by the parties, and that the AppeJlant has failed to demonstrate in what way the 

Trial Chamber abused that discretion. 805 

352. Witness ATA testified that she enrolled in school a week after her arrival in Ruhengeri and 

that the Appellant was at home when she left for school at 7.00 a.m. and when she returned at 3.00 

or 4.00 p.m.s06 The witness stated that in mid-April 1994, the Appellant was appointed prefect and 

began travelling to Rushasbi. 807 The Trial Chamber found that the witness• s testimony could only 

relate to a few days since she started school around 14 April 1994 and the Appellant was appointed 

801 Trial Judgement, para. SOS. 
im Appellant's Brief, para. 306. 
103 Appellant's Brief, para. 306. 
804 Appellant's Brief, para. 307. 
sos Respondent's Brief, para. 210. 
•
06 Trial Judiement, para. 482. During her testimony Witness ATA slated that when she was going to school she would 

leave her home at about 7 un. and would return home every evening after school. She specified that classes started at 8 
a.m. and that the dist.a.nee between her home and the school was quite long. The classes ended at about 2 p.m., 8l1d she 
''was able to get back home between 3 p.m. and 4 p.m." When returning from school she found the Appellant at home. 
She further testified that from 7 April 1994, the Appellant had no specific work because he stayed at home. in 
Ruhengeri and that, before the period when she was going to school, the Appellant ''was with us because he had no 
other work to do, so be didn't go anywhere" T. S May 2006 p. 6. 
807 Trial Judgement, para. 482. See: T. S May 2006 p. 6 LQ- As for your father, in April 1994, to the best of your 
recollection, tticl be leave Ruhengeri? ATA. ( ... ) J n;mcmbcr that in the middle of April. he infonncd us that he had 
been appointed prJfet of Kigali-rural and that be intended to go to Rushashi, which was one of the corMU.UW!S in 
Kigali-rural prefecture. Q. Do you remember whether he, indeed, went l.Q Rushasbi? A. I remember that he went there 
because during that period I no longer saw him at home. bllt during the weekends - that is, on Saturday or Sunday, he 
came bac.lc to see us. Q. And when did he leave again? A. I said thal he would anive on Sarurday and return to Rusha.shi 
on Monday morning. Q. ( ... ) for how Jong did your fatlwr, rhm!,,"llis Karer,1., travel from Ruhengcrl t0 R.11$hashl and 
from Rushashi back to Rubcngeri? A. As I have already pointed out., he went to Rushasbi in mid-April and returned to 
Ruhengerl in early July.]. 
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prefect on 17 April 1994. The Trial Cham.bet further noted that the witness was less specific about 

the period before 14 April 1994 stating that the Appellant stayed at home all the time. 808 

353. Witness KD testified that between 7 April 1994 and mid-April 1994, the Appellant 

occasionally left his son's house at the Nyakioama campus of the Rwanda National University to 
I 

watch television at the university campus or to visit professors, but he never left the campus and did 
I 

not visit the sub-prefecture office in Rushashi. 809 Toe witness stated that after mid-April, she started 
I 

a busiaess and that the Appellant was at home when! she left for work in the morning and when she 

retumed home for lunch and from work. 810 The Tdat ·chamber took into account that the witness 
I 

stated that the Appellant did occasionally leave the\house811 and that during the period of 7 to 15 
' 

April 1994, she had not yet started her business. 812 · 

354. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it is within a Trial Chamber's discretion to accept or 

reject a witness's testimony, after seeing the witness, hearing the testimony, and observing him or 

her under cross-examination. 813 In the present case, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Appellant 

bas failed to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in the assessment of the testimonies of 

Witnesses ATA and KD. 

355. The Appellant further argues that the Trial Chamber did not advance any reason for 

doubting the evidence adduced in support of the alibi. 814 The Appeals Chamber disagrees. In its 

assessn1ent of the relevant Defence witnesses, the Trial Chamber articulated that there were 

"credibility issues".815 In relation to Witness KD, the Trial Chamber was of the view that· 

inconsistencies in her testimony affected her credibility .816 The Trial Chamber was also of the view 

that Witnesses KD and ATA sought to exaggerate the Appell.ant's presence in Ruhengeri.817 In 

relation to Defence Witnesses BBA and YMK, the Trial Chamber considered that their evidence 

II01I Trial Judgement, para. 501. 
109 Trial Judgement, para. 483. The Appellant testified that the sub--pn:fect office was in Rushashi. Trial Judgcmcnl., 
para. 342. See testimony of Witness KD: T. 8 May 2006 p. 27. Q. [ ... J So is it your testimony that from the 7th of April 
to the 15th of April, which is tho middle of April, during those approximately eight days, he did not go to the sub­
prefecture office? A. He did not go there. During that period, 1, myself, had nol yet started my commercial activities. 
From the 7th up until he lefL for Ruhashya, he did not leave the compound.). 
Hlo Trial Judgement, para. 483. See testimony of Witness KD: T. S May 2006 p. 45. (Q. From what time to what time 
were you involved in this small business? A. 11 depended on whether we: had gone to purchase other foodstuffs in the 
market or not, but we started at 10 a.m. and we closed at S p.m. or 5:30 p.m. [ ... ] Q. When you left your brother [ ... J's 
home in the mornings, was your father there? A. Yes, I left afler breakfast and my father was there. [ ... J Q. Was your 
father home when you ~tumcd'? A. Ye.c;,, I found my father at home.). 
811 Trial Judgement, pax-a. 502. 
112 Trial Judgement, para. 502. 
tu Seromba. Appeal Judgement, para.. 116, Teferring to Akayesu. Appeal Judgement, para. 147. 
RI-' Appellant's Brief. para. J07; I\T. 28 August 2UU8 p. 24. 
815 Trial Judgement. para. 510. 
816 Trial Judgement, para. 502. 
1117 Trial Juclgemc:nt. para. 503. 
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did not reliably indicate that the Appellant remained consistently in Ruhengeri.818 The Appellant 

has not shown how the Trial Chamber abused its discretion in making these findings. 

356. Therefore, this sub-ground of appeal is dismissed. 

D.

1 

Conclusion 

357. The Appeals Chamber :finds that the Appellant bas faHed to demonstrate any error in the 

Trial Chamber's reac;oning and :findings in klation to the Appellant's alibi. Therefore, this ground 

of appeal is dismissed in its entirety. 

8111 Trial Judgement, para.~. 504, 505. 
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X. ALLEGED ERRORS RELATING TO THE TRIAL CHAMBER'S LEGAL 

FINDINGS (GROUND OF APPEAL 10) 

358. Under this ground of appeal, the Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber's legal findings 

are erroneous and ''must obviously be revisited in the light of admissible evidence". 819 

359. The Appeals Chamber observes that all of the arguments ad-vanced under this ground of 

appeal challenge the Trial Chamber's factual findings. The Appeals Chamber has already addressed 

these arguments in the respective sections of this Judgement. 620 Since no additional arguments are 

presented under this ground of appeal, no further discussion is warranted. 

360. However, the Appeals Chamber, proprio motu, has considered the question of whether the 

Trial Chamber erred in using its findings that the Appellant was responsible for the killings of 

Joseph Kahabaye, Murekezi, Jean Bosco Ndingutse, and Palatin Nyagatare in support of the 

convictions it entered under Count 1 of the Amended Indictment for genocide and under Count 3 

for externrination as a crime against humanity.R21 The Appeals Chamber invited the parties to 

address this issue at the appeal hearing. 

361. The Appellant did not directly address this issue.822 The Prosecution submits that it was 

permissible for the Trial Chamber to use its finding on the killings of these four individuals in 

support of the Appellant's conviction for genocide and extermination sinc.e the Appellant had 

received timely, clear, and sufficient notice that these killings were to be use.d in support of rhese• 

charges. 1123 ln this respect, the Prosecution contends that the Amended Indictment has to be read as 

a whole, 824 and that the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief discussed the factual allegations by location. 

including Nyamirambo, rather than with respect to eacf count. According to the Prosecution, the 

Appellant was therefore given proper notice that these four individuals were among the victims of 

his genocidal and extermination campaign at that locatio~. 825 

362. The Appeals Chamber has already quashed the L,;.1 Chamber's findings in relation to lhe 

killings of Joseph Kahabaye, Jean Bosco Ndingutse, !a Palatin Nyagatare for other reasons. 826 

Therefore, it need only consider whether it was permi 1sible for the Trial Chamber to convict the 

im:i Notice of Appeal, para. 243. 
azu See ofUpra Chapters V to IX. 
821 Order for Preparation of the Appeal Hearing. p. 2. 
~c Defence addressed the issue of the defects in the Amended Indictment without malcing direct reference to 
the sufficiency of notice relating lo the killings of the folll' .individ als which were charged under Count 4 of the 
Amended Indictment for murder as a crime against humanity. AT. 28 August 2008 pp. 52-54. 
123 AT. 28 August2008 p. 37. 
$24 AT. 28 August 2008 p. 37. 
1125 AT. 28 August 2008 p. 38. 
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Appellant for genocide and extermination as a crime against humanity based on the murder of 

Murekezi. 

363. The Appeals Chamber notes that the allegation of the murder of Murekezi is only made at 

paragraph 33 of the Amended lndktment in support of Count 4 for murder as a crime against 

humanity. The Appeals Chamber further notes that, at trial. the Defence objected that "several 

allegations relating to events in Nyamirambo and Rushashi are too vague or not mentioned in the 

Indictment, or relate only to Count 4 (murder) [and that the] [e]vidence in support of these 

allegations should therefore be excluded or considered only with respect to the murder charge ... 827 

The Trial Chamber rejected the Defence objection on the grounds that: 

[ ... ] the Defence did not object to any of this evidence at the time it was admitted or a1 the close of 
the Pro$ccution case. Nor did it make a general pre-trial objection. Rather, the Defence makc.s 
those exclusion requests for the first time in its closing sµbmissions. It offers no explanation for 
fai\jng to object to this evidence a1 the time it was admitted or al a later point dwing tho trial 
proceedings. The Chamber finds that there is no reasonable explanation for the Defence's lack of 
objections at an earlier stage in the trial. In the exercise of its discretion, it holds that the burden of 
proof has shmcd to the Defence to demonstrate that the lack of notice prejudiced the Accused in 
the preparation of his defencc.1121 

364. Subsequently, the Trial Chamber considered the Defence objection in connection with the 

allegation of killings at Nyamirambo on 7 April 1994.8:2
9 The Trial Chamber found "it clear that 

Counts 1, 2 and 3 include events that occurred on 7 April [1994]". 830 When considering the alleged 

killings of Joseph Kahabaye, Felix Dix, Murekezi. Jean Bosco Ndingutse, and Palatin Nyagatare,131 

the Trial Chamber discussed whether paragraph 33 of the Amended Indictment pleaded these 

events with sufficient specificity. 832 However, the Trial Chamber did not consider whether the· 

allegations contained in this paragraph, under Count 4 (murder) could also support the charges of 

genocide and extermination as a crime against hu.nianity. 

365. In Muvunyi. the Appeals Chamber observed that "'the Prosecution's failure to e:,cpressely 

state that a paragraph in the Indictment supports a particular count in the Indictment is indicative 

that the allegation is not charged as a crime".833 The Appeals Chamber considers that the same may 

be said where a particular allegation is charged under a particular count only. In the present case, 

the Arn.ended Indictment put the Appellant on notice that the Prosecution was charging him for the 

ll2
6 See supra Chapter VI, sp. para. 214. 

127 Defence Cosing Brief. paras. 193-197, 318-319; Defence closing arguments (T. 24 November 2006 pp. 12-14). The 
Defence slated that the allegations of killing macle under Count 4 (murder) could '"only be taken into consideration 
[under that Count]". Defence Closini Brief, para. 197. See also Trial Judgement, paras. 18, 85. 
121 Trial Judgement, para. 19. 
1211 Trial Judgement, para. 85. 
830 Tri.111 Judgement, par,1. 86. 
831 See Trial Judgement, S<-.clions 4.7, 4.8, 4.9, 4,11. 
132 See Trial JudgCJUent, paras. J 83, 184, 196, 202. 
1133 Muvun.yi Appeal Judgement. para. 156. 
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murder of Murekezi only under Count 4. In view of thi.s, there is some basis for argument that by 

reading the Amended Indictment alone, the Appellant would not have understood that he was also 

charged for the same fact under Counts 1 and 3. In regard to the Amended Indictment, the 

Prosecution knew the identity of a finite number of victims.and was able, when it sought to amend 

the Indictment, to specify the circumstances of their murder. It chose not to list Murekezi's killing 

in the statements of facts pertaining to counts alleging genocide and extermination as a crime 

against humanity. The Appeals Chamber has previously held that "[e]ven in cases where a high 

degree of specificity is 'impractical [ ... ] since the identity of the victim is information that is 

valuable to the preparation of the defence case, if the Prosecution is in a position to name the 

victims, it should do so. "'834 

366. Turning to the Prosecution's submission that the Amended Indictment has to be read as a 

whole. the Appeals Chamber notes that while the statement of facts supporting Count 4 

focorporates the statements of facts supporting Counts 1 and 3, the reverse is not true. The 

statements of facts supporting Counts 1 and 3 do not incorporate the statement of facts supporting 

Count 4. This lack of reciprocity might have added to the impression that Murekezi's murder was 

not incorporated in Counts 1 and 3 of the Amended Indictment. 

367. Toe Appeals Chamber further notes that the process of amending the initial Indictment 

might have laid the ,groundwork for confusion on thi~ iR-sue. Originally. Mureke:d's killing was 

listed in a statement of facts pertaining to both Counts 3 and 4. How.ever. thfa statement of facts was 

eventually severed, and Murekezi's killing was subsequently mentioned only in the statement of 

facts applicable to Count 4. While the rationale for the severing of the original, combined statement 

of facts did not centre on Murekezi, the amendment may have given the message that Murekezi • s 

killing related only to Count 4 of the Indictment, rather than serving as a key basis for the gravest of 

the charges involved.83s The Prosecution's decision not to refer to Murekezi at all in Coilllts 1 and 3 

of the Amended Indictment. especially in the context of the Indictment amendment process, 

134 Nt.alcirutimana Appea] Judgement, para.. 25 (quoting Kupreski.c et aL Appeal Judgement, para. 90). 
L'\5 More specifically, on 2S November 2005, the Prosecution filed 11. request for leave to amend the Indictment. The 
Prosecution, inter alia,, requested authorua.lion to present Counts 3 (extermination as a crime agamst humanity) and 4 
(murder as a crime against humanity) cumulatively instead of alternatively. See Prosecution's Motion for Leave to 
Amend the Indictment. para.,. l.2, 3.5-3.7. The Trial Chamber granted the Prosecution's request in part, allowing the 
cumulative pleading of Counts '.3 and 4, the dclcl.ion of some paragraphs, sections and words, and the insertion of names 
of victims in one· paragraph. The Trial Chamber also mstrucled the Prosecution to specify ''the location. time and 
manner of Uw doath ofTheon~~ Galmru" and "clarjfy tbe facts which arc interuied Lo support the charge of murder as 
a crime agairut hwnanity, aJ opposed to extermination as a crime again.rt hwnar,ity" (emphasis added). It specified that 
"such clBrification should include the names of the victims, the location., time and ID.a.Jlller of the alleged murders". See 
Decision on lhc Prosecutor• s Request for Leave to Am.Clld the Indictment, 'Rule 50 of the Rules of Procedure and 
Evidence, 12 December 2005 p. 5. The Amended Indictment, incOipOrating the Trial Chamber's instructions, was filed 
on 19 December 2005. Se.e The Prosecutor v. Fra11fois Karera, Amended Indictment, 19 December 2005. The cOJlcise 
statement of facl.S supporting, Counts 3 and 4 was severed and the murder of Murekezi was no longer mentio.lled UDdcr 
Count 3, only, being pleaded under Count 4. Corn.pare Amended Indictment pp. 5, 6, with Amended Indictment, p. 7. 
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+o5/fJ 
resulted in vagueness with potentially serious consequences for the preparation of the Appellant's 

defence. In these circumstances, the Appeals Chamber considers that reversal of the affected 

convictions is appropriate. 836 

368. The Appeals Chamber further notes that the Amended Indictment was issued on 19 

December 2005, seven days after the filing of the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief. 837 As a result, while 

the Prosecution Pre• Trial Brief included a summary of anticipated witness testimony, the text of the 

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and the summaries referred to either the Indictment or the draft 

amended indictment annexed to the Prosecution Motion to Amend the Indictment, 838 but not to the 

Amended Indictment itself. Turning to the Prosecution's contention that the Prosecution Pre-Trial 

Brief presented "the factual allegations by location, including Nyamirambo, rather than with respect 

to each count", the Appeals Chamber does not see how this argument is capable of demonstrating 

that any defect in the Amended Indictment relating to the facts underlying Counts 1 and 3 was 

cured by the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief. 

369. In a world of limited legal resources, the Appellant's counsel might have focused more 

attention on Murekezi's killing had this key material fact been more specifically linked to a larger 

number of counts concerning crimes such as genocide and extermination as a crime against 

humanity, which on their face appear even more seriou.~ than murder. Instead, the Amended 

Indictment may hav~ given the opposite i1npression. This error and the confu.c.ion it mighl have 

generated justify reversal of the Appellant's convictions under Counts 1 and 3, insofar as they rely 

on the murder of Murekezi. 

370. Accordingly, these convictions are quashed. 

336 See Ntaldrutimana Appeal Judgement, para. 27. 
m Compare The P1·osecutor v. Fraru;ois Karera, Amended Indictment, 19 December 2005, with Prosecution Pre-Trial 
Brief, 12 Dece.m.ber 2005. 
838 The Prosecution Pre-Trial Bri~. which was filed after the Prosecution Motion to Amend the Indictment, merely 
refers to "the indictment" without specifying whether it points to the Initial Indictment or the draft amended indictmenl 
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XI. ALLE(;ED ERROR IN HEARING THE CASE OF THARCISSE 
I 

RENZAHO WHILE PARTICIPATING IN DELIBERATIONS ON THE 

APPELLANT'S CASE (GROUND OF APPEAL 11) 

371. The Appellant submit~ that the Trial Chamber erred in law by hearing the case ofTharcisse 

Renzaho,839 the former prefect of Kigali,8-40 while it was deliberating on the Appellant's case.841 The 

Appellant alleges an appearance of bias on the part of the Trial Judges.842 He submit~ that a 

reasonab]e observer·would have concluded ''that the deliberations of the Trial Chamber (in the 

present case] were tainted by its hearing of the Renzaho case". 843 

372. In bis Appellant's Brief, the Appellant states that "[fJor now" he ''formally declines to raise 

this ground of appeal".844 Instead, the AppeJJant makes several ··observations·• in relation to the 

Prosecution's obligation to disclose potentially exculpatory material pursuant to Rule 68 of the 

Rules. 845 He submits that it is jmpossible for him to know whether protected witnesses who testified 

in his trial will subsequently return to testify in other cases846 since they will testify under different 

pseudonyms.847 The Appellant contends that he therefore has to rely on the Prosecution's 

compliance with jts disclosure obUgations pursuant to Rule 68 of the Rules.848 In this regard, he 

submits that the Prosecution has failed to disclose potentially exculpatory witness statements and 

testimonies of three protected witnesses who testified in. the Renzaho trial and who had previously. 

testified in bis trial. 849 The Appellant also alleges a vio]ation of his right to be tried without undue 

delay. 850 

373. The Prosecution provides no argument in response, noting that the Appellant abandoned tltis 

ground of appeal. 851 

1139 The Prosecutorv. Tharci.rse Rem.aha, Case No. ICTR-97-31-T. The trial in thaL case started on 8 January 2007. 
140 Notice of Appeal, paras. 245-248; Appellant's Brief, para. 320; Brief:iu Reply. para. 63. 
1141 Notice of Appeal. para:. 245. 
842 Notice of Appeal. paras. 246-248. 
1143 Notice of Appeal, para. 248. 
1144 Appellant's Brief, para. 319. 
845 Brief in Reply. paras. 63-68. 
146 Brief in Reply, paras. 65, 67. 
847 Brief in Reply, paras. 65, 67. 
843 Brief :iD Reply, para. 68. 
1149 Brief in Reply, para. 64. He also submits that the testimony of Witness AIA, a protected witness ill the Renzllho case, 
could be relevant to a determination whetbc,r the Appellam bad authority over tho policemen in tho region, since 
Witness AJA stated that he was a policeman in Nyarugenge. The Appcl]ant submits that the witness gave the remaining 
lW1: of his testimony m closed scasion, and that. as such, it was not accessible to the AppellanL Brief in Reply, para. 66. 

0 Appell8llt' s Brief. para. 320. 
851 Respondent's Brief, para. 7. 
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374. Toe Appeals: Chamber notes that the Appellant's submissions relating to the Prosecution's 

failure to discharge its disclosure obligations and the Trial Chamber's violation of his right to a trial 

Vvithout undue delay' were raised for the first time in the Appeal Brief and the Brief in Reply. 852 In 

light of the fact that the Appellant failed to ''indicate the substance of the alleged errors'' in his 

Notice of Appeal, as required by Rule 19s of the Rules, the Appeals Chamber finds that the 

Appellant's arguments do not warrant any Gonsideration to ensure the fairness of the proceedings 

and the Appeals Chamber declines to consiJr them. 

' 
375. The Appeals Chamber now turns to the arguments raised in the Notice of Appeal under this 

ground to the effect that the Trial Chamber was tainted by the evidence jt heard in the Renzaho case 

while deliberating on the present case. The Appeals Chamber notes that, at the appeal hearing and 

in response to a question raised by the Appeals Chamber, the Appellant declared that he had not 

abandoned this ground of appeal. s53 The Appeals Chamber finds that the explanations given by the 

Appellant for reinstating this ground of appeal which it had ''fonnally dropped" in the Appellant's 

Brief are unclear. 854 However, in light of the particular circumstances of this case and absent an 

objection by the Prosecution, the Appeals Chamber will address the Appella:ot' s argument 

conceming the alleged lack of independence and impartiality. 

376. The Appellant argues that in light of the positions respectively held by Tharcisse Renzaho 

and the Appell.ant in' April 1994, respectively, and the locations where they allegedly committed 

crimes, the facts of both cases are linked. 855 The Appellant sub~ts that the Trial Judges heard 

witnesses in the Rem:aho case who had previously testified in his trial and that by doing so they lost 

the appearance of independence and im.partiality.856 The Appellant alleges that, when hearing the 

same witnesses in dif;ferent cases, the Trial Judges would eventually be incapable of distinguishing 

the witnesses' testimonies.85
~ 

377. In Nahimana et aL, the Appeals Chamber recalled that 

[t}he right of aa accused to be tried before an independent tribunal is an integral component of bis 
right lo a fair trial as provided in A:nicles 19 and 20 of the Statute. [ ... ] [T]he independence of t1Je 
Judges of the a'ribunal is guaranteed by the standards for their selection, the method of their 
appointment, their conditions of .servjce and the immunity they enjoy. The Appeals Chamber 
furchcr notes that th.e independence of the Tnbunal as a judicial organ was affirmed by the 
Secretary-General at the lime when the Tribunal was created, and cbe Chamber reaffirms 1hal. this 
institutional independence means that the Tribunal is entirely .illdependent of the org8D.5i of toe 
United Nations· and of my State or group of States. Accordingly. the Appeals Chamber considers 

152 Appellant's Brie!, par2.1. 320; Brlefin Reply, paras. 59-68. 
153 AT. 28 August 2008 p.' 57. 
154 AT. 28 August2008 pp. S6, 57. 
1155 Appellant's Brief, para. 320; Brief in Reply, para.. 67. 
RS6 Notice of Appeal, paras. 245-248. 
857 AT. 28 August 2008 p.,57. 
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that there is a strong presumption that the Judges of the Tribunal take their decisions in full 
independence, and it is for the Appellant lo rebut this presumption.15

" 

141113 

378. The Appeals Chamber notes that Judges of this Tribunal are sometimes involved in trials 

which, by their vezy nature, cover overlapping issues. 859 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber 

previously held that 

[i]t is assumed, in The abs,:nce of evidence to the contrary, thaL, by v.irtue of their training and 
experience, the Judges will l1lle fairly on the issues before them, relying solely and exclusively on 
the evidence adduced in the particular case. The Appeals Chamber agrees with the ICTY Bureau 
that ••a judge is not disqualified from hearing two or more criiwnal trials arising out ~ the same 
series of events, where he is exposed to evidence relating to these events in both cases''. 8<iO 

Accordingly, the fact that the Trial Judges heard the Renzaho case while, at the same time, they 

participated in deliberations on the Appellant's case does not in itself demonstrate an appearance of 

bias on the part of the Trial Judges. 

379. For the foregoing reasons, this ground of appeal is dismissed. 

151 Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 28 (citations omitted). 
159 Naliimana et aL Appeal Judgement, para. 78. 
160 Na/iimana,et al. Appe~ Judgement, para. 78 (citations omitted). 
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l,fDt/R 

XII. ALLE~ED ERRORS RELATING TO SENTENCING (GROUND OF 

APPEAL12) 

380. The Trial Chamber sentenced the Appellant to life imprisonment for the crimes of genocide 

and extennination and murder as crimes against humanity.861 

381. The Appellant submits that the Trial Chamber committed an error of law in sentencing him 

to imprisonment for:the remainder of his life.862 The Appellant claims that "[t]he numerous errors 

of law and fact that ?,fleet the [Trial] Chamber's findings are such that the [frial] Chamber should 

have acquitted the Appellant, and a sentence should never have been imposed on him..''ll63 He posits 

an altemate factual conclusion that, in his view, the Trial Chamber should have reached, 864 claiming 

that "[t]his version of [the] factual finding is also as plausible as that made by the [Trial] 

Chamber."865 In the alternative, the Appellant argues that the Trial Chamber should have imposed a 

reduced sentence866 and pleads for the Appeals Chamber to substitute the cunent sentence with an 
I 

"appropriate sentenCf;"· 867 

382. The Appellant further submits that the Trial Chamber did not take into account the factors it 

should have conside~ed in determining the sentence. 868 To this end, the Appellant points to factors 

that according to biin should have mitigated bis sentence but were not considered by the Trial 

Chamber: the "pacification meetings" which he held in Rushashi;869 bis efforts to ensure the safety· 

of Vincent Munyandamucsa. a well-known RPF supporter,870 the time (thirteen months) spent in 

detention awaiting judgement during the Trial Chamber's deliberati.ons;871 and the fact that being 

sentenced for the remainder of his life, the Appellant is not in a position to benefit from the 

redur..1ion of the sentence granted by the Presiding Judge during the delivery of the Trial 

Judgement.872 

161 'l'tial Judgement, para. 585. 
162 Notice o! Appeal, paras. 249-255; Appellant's Brief, paras. 323-326. 
16.1 Notice of Appeal, para 250. 
864 Appellant's Brief, para. 324. 
865 Appellant's Brief, para. 326. 
IICilS Notice of Appeal, para. 253. 
867 Appellant's Brief, para. 326. 
1611 Notice of Appeal. pan. 251. 
1169 Notice of Appeal. para. 252; Appellant's Brief, para. 325. 
170 Appellant's Brief, para. 325 (where the Appellant challenges lhe Trial Chamber's factual :finclings). 
171 Notice of Appeal, para. 254; Appellant's Brief, para. 326. 
sn Notice of Appeal, paras. 254, 255. At paragraph 254, the Appellant submits that "[t}he Trial Chamber did not take 
into account [ ... J the !act that the Presiding Judge of the [Trial] Chamber had stared. during delivery of the Judgement 
on 7 December 2007, that lbe Appellanr had to be given credit for the period he spent in detention since bis arrest in 
Kenya, that is, 4 years and 16 days.'' 
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383. The Prosecution responds that this ground of appeal should be summarily dismissed because 

the Appellant advances no argument to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber failed to exercise itS 

discretion adequately or that it committed a manifest error in determining the sentence.873 

384. The Appeals Chamber will first address the merits of the Appellant's arguments against the 

Trial Chamber's determination of the sentence and then will consider how its findings on the 

Appellant's convictions impact upon the sentence. 

385. Article 24 of the Statute allows the Appeals Chamber to "affirm, reverse or revise'' a 

sentence imposed by a Trial Chamber. However, the Appeals Chamber recalls that Trial Chambers 

are vested with a broad discretion in determining the appropriate sentence. This stems from their 

obligation to tailor the sentence according to the individual circumstances of the accused and the 

gravity of the crime. 874 Generally, the Appeals Chamber will not substitute its own sentence for that 

imposed by the Tri.al Chamber unless it has been shown that the latter committed a discernible error 

in exercising its discretion, or fai]ed to follow the applicable law. 875 

386. The Appellant claims that the Trial Chamber failed to consider mitigating factors in 

sentencing him. 

387. In addressing the mitigating circumstances, the Trial Chamber stated that: 

[it} does not consider that there are any significant mitigating circwnstances. Since 1958, Karera 
was a. teacher mtl lal.cr became a directOr or primary education. II~ hel~ build schooh um:! 
establish a soccer team for Kigali ciLy [ ••• ]. Prior conbihuti(llls to community development have 
been considered by both Tnbunals as a mitigating factor and the Chamber accords this some 
weighL There is no evidence that Karera discriminated against Tutsis before April 1994, and this 
is also accorded some weight by the Chamber. Tbe Defence clauns that Karera saved Tutsi 
civilians during the genocide, but the Chamber did not find the evidence regarding these rescues 
credible. Karera showed no remorse and did not cooperal.o with the Prosecution. The Chamber is 
of the view that the aggravating circumstances outweigh the mitigating circumstances. 876 

388. The Appellant made no sentencing submissions during closing arguments. In such 

circumstances, the Trial Chamber was not under an obligation to seek out information that counsel 

did not see fit to put before it at the appropriate time.877 Rule 86(C) of the Rules clearly indicates 

that sentencing submissions shall be addressed during closing arguments, and it was therefore the 

1173 Respond.Mt's Brief, para. 244. 
174 Nahamina et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 1037; Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 429; Naletilic and 
Marttnovic Appeal Judgement. para. 593; Ko.jelijeli Appeal Judgement, para. 291; Semanza Appeal Judgement, para. 
312; Celebici•Appcal Judgement. para. 717. 
875 Nahamina et al. Appeal Judgement, para. I 037; Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 429; Naletilic ancl 
Martino'l)iC Appeal Judgement, para. S93; Joki/; Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Kajelijeli Appeal Judgement, para. 291; 
Semanza Appeal Judgement, para. 312; Musema Appeal Judgement, para. 3 79; Tadtc Judgement on Sentencing Appeal, 
~22. 

16 Trial Judgement, p8nt.. 582 (footnotes omillcd). 
an Kupreskic'et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 414. 
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Appell.ant's prerogative to identify any mitigating circumstances instead of directing the Trial 

Chamber's attention· to the record in general. 

389. The Appeals Chamber further finds that in pointing to the "pacification meetings" in 

Rushasbi and to bis ,alleged efforts to ensure the safety of Vincent Munyandamutsa. the Appellant 

merely presents factual assertions without showing how the mitigating circumstances were 

undervalued by the Trial Chamber. Therefore, the Appellant has not demonstrated that the Trial 

Chamber committeci' a discernible error in its assessment of the individual mitigating circumstances. 

This sub-ground of appeal is accordingly dismissed. 

390. The Appeals Chamber considers that, in sentencing, the Trial Chamber correctly took into 

account the gravity of the offences and the degree of liability of the convicted person, 878 the 

individual circumstances of the Appellant. and bis role in the crimes, including any mitigating 

circumstances, 879 as well as the sentencing practices of the Tribunal and in Rwanda. 880 It found it 

appropriate to impose the maximum sentence. 881 The Appellant makes no submission suggesting 

that the crimes for which he was convicted are not grave. The Appeals Chamber recalls that even 

where mitigating circumstances exist, a Trial Chamber ''is not precluded from imposing a sentence 

of life imprisonment, where the gravity of the offence requires the imposition of the maximum 

sentence provided for."882 Mindful of the gravity of the Appellant's crimes, the Appeals Chamber 

does not find any discernible error in sentencing. 

391. Turning to the Appellant's claims that the Trial Chamber ·erred in sentencing him to life­

imprisonro.ent, when, the charges against him were not proven beyond reasonable doubt, the 

Appeals Chamber recalls that it has upheld a number of the Appellant's grounds of appeal and has 

reversed several of the Appellant's convictions, namely: for aiding and abetting genocide and 

extermination as a crime against humanity, based on the alleged weapons distribution in Rushashi 

commune; for ordering genocide and extermination and murder as crimes against humanity, based 

oa the alleged murders of Joseph Kahabaye, Jean Bosco Ndingutse, and Palatin Nyagatare; and for 

instigating murder as a crime against humanity, based on the murder of Gakuru. In addition, the 

Appeals Chamber, proprio motu, has reversed the Appellant's convictions for ordering genocjde 

and extermination as a crime against humanity, based on the killing of Murekezi. 

392. Therefore the question before the Appeals Chamber is whether it should revise the sentence 

imposed by the Trial Chamber in view of the findings made in this Judgement. 

871 Trial Judgement, paras. 574,575. 
179 Trial Judgement, paras. 576-582. 
880 Trial Judgement, paras. 583, 584. 
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393. The Appeals'. Chamber considers that the crimes for which the Appellant remains convicted 

on appeal are ex:t:re~ely grave: they include genocide and exteonination and murder as crimes 

against humanity. and resulted in the death of a large number of civilians.883 Coosidering that the 

Trial Chamber exercised its discretion to impose a single sentence reflecting the totality of the 

criminal conduct of the Appellant instead of imposing concurrent sentences, Ra4 and in light of the 

seriousness of the outstanding convictions, the Appeals Chamber finds that the reversals do not 

warrant a reduction of the sentence imposed by the Trial Chamber. 

394. The Appeals , Chamber has considered the mitigating and aggravating factors discussed by 

the Trial Chamber, and concurs with the Trial Chamber that the aggravating factors outweigh the 

mitigating factors.885. 

' 
395. The Appellaijt.'s unsubstantiated contention that in assessing the sentence, the time spent in 

detention during the, Trial Chamber's deHberations should have been taken into account is also 

dismissed. Toe Appellant has not demonstrated how the deliberations period in this case calls for a 

reduction of sentence. 

396. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber affirms the Appellant's sentence of imprisonment for 

the remainder of his life. 

397. The Appeals 'Chamber finally dismisses the Appellant's claim that the sentence deprived 

him of the benefit of any credit based on the period al.ready spent in detention. Rule lOl(C) of the 

Rules states that ·•[c)redit shall be given to the convicted person for the period, if any, during which 

the convicted person was detained in cutody pending bis surrender to the Tribunal or pending trial 

or appeal". This provision does not affect the ability of a Chamber to impose the maximwn 

sentence, as provided by Rule lOI(A) of the Rules. 

1181 Trial Judgement, para. !sss. 
stz Ni),itageka Appeal Judgement, para. 267, quoting Mu,1ema Appeal Judgement, para. 396. 
m See Trial Jud&ement, para.s. 192, 315, 376. 456. 
814 Trial Judgement, para. :585. 
w Trial J\ldgement. para. '582. 
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Ell. DISPOSfilON 

398. For the foregoing reasons. THE APPEALS CHAMBER. 

PURSUANT to Article 24 of the Statute and Rule 118 of the Rules; 

14)118 

391/R 

NOTING the writteh submissions of the parties and their oral arguments presented at the hearing 

on 28 August 2008; 

Srrl'ING in open session; 

ALLOWS the Appellant's First Ground of Appeal and REVERSES the Appellant's convictions 
: 

for aiding and abetting genocide and extemrlnation as a crime against humanity. based on the 

alleged weapons dis~bution in Rushashi. commune; 

ALLOWS, in part, the Appellant's Fjfth Ground of Appeal and REVERSES the Appellant's 

convictions for ord~g genocide and exter.minati.on and murder as crimes against humanity, based 

on the alleged murders of Joseph Kahabaye, Jean Bosco Ndingutse. and Palatin Nyagatare; 

PROPRIO MOTU, REVERSES the Appellant's convictions for ordering genocide and 

extennination as a crime against humanity. based on the killing ofMurekezi; 

ALLOWS, in part. the Appellant's Seventh Ground of Appeal and REVERSES the Appellant's 

conviction for instiga~g rnw-der as a crime against humanity, based on the murder of Oakuru; 

DISMISSES the Appel1ant' s appeal in all other respects; 

AFFIRMS the A~llant' s conviction for instigating and committing genocide during the attack 

against Tutsi refugees at Ntarama. Church on 15 April 1994; AFFIRMS the Appellant's convictions 

for instigating and committing extermination and murder as crimes against humanity through the 

killings of Tutsi refugees at Ntarama Church on 15 April 1994; AFFIRMS the Appellant's 
' 

conviction for ordering murder as a crime against humanity based on the killing of Murekezi; 

AFFIRMS the Appellant's conviction for aiding and abetting murder as a crime against humanity 
I 

' 
based on the killing o~ Gakuru; AFFIRMS the Appellant's convictions for instigating genocide and 

extermination as a c:nme against humanity, based on his alleged conduct at meetings held in 

Rushashi commune between April and June 1994. 

AFFIRMS the Appe],lant's sentence of imprisonment for the remainder of his life, subject to crewt 
being gjven under R~es lOl(D) and 107 of the Rules for the period in which the Appellant was 

deprived of his liberty for the purposes of this case, that is from 20 October 200 l; 
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RULES that this Judgement shall be enforced immediately pursuant to Rule 119 of the Rules; and 

ORDERS, in accor~ with Rules 103(B) and 107 of the Rules, that the Appellant is to remain in 

the custody of the Tribunal pending his transfer to the State in which his sentence will be served. 

Done in English and: French, the English text being authoritative. 

FaustoPocar 

Presiding Judge 

_, 
LiuDaqun 

Judge 

Done this 2nd day of February 2009, 

atArusha, 

Tanzania. 

Case No.: ICTR-Ob74-lA 

Mohamed Shahabuddeen 

Judge 

Theodor Meron 

Judge 

[Seal of the Tribunal] 
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XIV. ANNEX A: PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

1. The ma.in aspects of the appeal proceedings are summarized below. 

A. Notice of Appeal and Briefs 

2. The Trial Chamber pronounced the Trial Judgement in this case on 7 December 2007 and 

rendered it in writing on 14 December 2007. 

3. On 21 Dece~ber 2007, the Pre-Appeal Judge denied the Appellant's request that the time 

limit for filing bis notice of appeal accrue from the date on which the Tri.al Judgement was served 

on him and on his Lead Counsel in French, but granted proprio motu an extension of time of seven 

days.1 On 9 January 2008, the Pre-Appeal Judge denied the Appellant's request for reconsideration 

of the 21 December 20ffl Decision and for a further extension of time.2 

4. The Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on 14 January 20083 and his Appellant's Brief on 

7 Apri.12008.4 On 1~ May 2008, the Prosecution filed its Respondent's Bri.ef.5 The Appellant filed 

his Brief in Reply on.2 June 2008.6 

B. Assignment of Judges 

5. On 14 Deceitiber 2007, the following Judges were assigned to hear the appeal: Judge Fausto 

Pocar, Presiding; Juclge Mebmet Giiney; Judge Liu Daqun; Judge Theodor Meron; and Judge 

Wolfgang Schomburg.7 Judge Fausto Pocar issued an order designating himself as the Pre-Appeal 

Judge in this case. 8 Sµbsequently, on 19 June 2008, Judge Mohamed Shahabuddeen was assigned to 

replace Judge Wolfgang Schomburg, with immediate effect.9 

1 Decision on Fran~ Karera's Motion for ExtODsion of Time for Filing the Notice of Appeal, issued on 21 December 
2007 and filed on 31 December 2007 ("21 December 20<J7 Decision"). The French translation of the Trial Judgement 
was .filed on 19 May 2008,-
2 Decision on Requests fot Extension of Time for Filing the Notice of Appeal a:nd/or for Reconsideration, 9 January 
2008 ("'9 January 2008 Decision"). 
3 Defence Notice of Appeal, filed in French (Avis d'AppeI) on 14 January 2008. 
4 Appellant's Brief, filed in French (Memoire d' appel (Article 24 du Statia, Regle 111 du Reglement <k Procedure et de 
PreU"Je) on 7 April 2008.;The Appellant initially submitted an Appellant's Brief on 28 March 2008 thal eJ:ceeded the 
word limit imposed by :the Tribunal's Practice Direction on the Length of Briefs and Motions on Appeal by 
approximately 7,000 wo149. The Appellant did not seek advance authorization to exceed the word limit but submitted a 
motion regarding this issue on Tbr; day of filing hi& Appellant's Brief. The Pre-Appeal Jud&o dismissed this motion and. 
declared tba1 the Appellant must flle an amended motion complying with the word limit by 7 April 2008. See lJcci.'lion 
on Motion for Leave to ~ceed the W otd Limit, 3 April 2008. 
5 Respondent'.s Brief, filed on 16 May 2008. 
6 Brief in Reply, filed in French (Replique au Mem.oire de l'Intiml:) on 2 June 2008. 
7 Order Ass~ning Judges to a Case before the Appeals Chamber. 14 December 2007. 
11 Order Designating a Pre-!Appeal Jlltige. 18 December 2007. 
9 Order Replacing a Judgc;in a Case before !he Appeals Chamber, 19 June 2008. 

' 
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C. Motion related to the Admission of Additional Evidence 

6. On 28 August 2008, the Appellant filed a Motion for Additional Evidence.10 The 

Prosecution opposed this m()tion and requested its clismissal.11 On 6 October 2008, the Appellant 

filed a reply.12 On 29 October 2008, the Appeals Cham.bet dismissed the Appellant's moti.on.13 

D. Hearing of the Appeal 

7. Pursuant to a Scheduling Order of 1 July 2008, 14 the Appeals Chamber heard the parties' 

oral arguments on 28 August 2008 in Arusha, Tanzania. On 22 September 2008, the Appeals 

Chamber granted an: oral motion submitted by the Defence at the appeal hearing15 requesting the 

Appeals Chamber to recognize as validly filed the Appellant's Appeal Book and Book of 

Authorities, submitt~d to the Regjstry on 4 August 2008. 16 

10 Extremely Urgent Defence Motion To Present Adclitional Evidence., Filed in French (Requite extremement urgente 
de la. Defeme aux.fins de presenter des elements de preuve :;•upplementaire3) on. 28 August 2008. 
11 Prosecutor's Response ~o Appellant Karera's 'Requete extremement urgente de la Dlfense aux:fins de p7'senter des 
elements de preuve supp~mentaires', filed on 16 Sept.ember 2008. 
12 RcpJy to the Prosecutor's Response Lo Appellant Karera's 'Requete extrenurm~n.t urgente de la Dlfense OU%fins ~ 
presenter des elhrumts de preuve .ruppl.emen1aire:1', fi1"4 in French (Riplique a la rJponse du Procureur a la Requite 
extriimement urgente de la Defense aux fins de presenter des elements tb! pre11-ve supplementaires) on 6 October 2008. 
13 Decision on the Appellant's Request to Admit Additional Evidence Pursuant to Rule 115 of the Rules of Proced\11'e 
and Evidence, 29 October,2008. 
14 Scheduling Order, 1 July 2008. See also: Order Ior Preparation of Appeal Hearing, 20 August 2008. 
15 AT. 28 August2008 pp: 29-31. 
16 Decision on the Appellant's Oral Motion to Declare his Appeal Book and Book of Authorities Validly FHed, 22 
September 2008. 
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XV. ANNEX B: CITED MATERIALS AND DEFINED TERMS 

A. Jurisprudence 

1. lCTR 

Akayesu 

The Prosecutor v. Jean-Paul Akayesu, Case No. ICTR-96-4-A, Judgement, 1 June 20()1 ("Akayesu 

Appeal Judgement") 

Bagosora et al. 

The Prosecutor v. Bagosora et aL, Case No. ICTR-98-41-AR73, Decision on Aloys Ntabakuze's 

Interlocutory Appeal,on Questions of Law Raised by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber I Decision on 

Motion for Exclusion of Evidence, 18 September 2006 

Gacumbitsi 

Sylvestre Gacumbitsi v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-2001-64-A, Jlldgement, 7 July 2006 

("Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement'') 

Kajelijeli 

Juvenal Kajelijeli v: The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-44A-A, Judgement, 23 May 2005 

("Kajelljeli Appeal Judgement") 

Kamuhanda 

Jean de Dieu Kamuhanda v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-9S-54A-A, Judgement, 19 September 

2005 ("Kamuhanda Appeal Judgement'') 

Karemera et al. 

The Prosecutor v. Edouard Karemera et al.,. Case No. ICTR-98-44-AR73.8, Decision on 

Interlocutozy Appeal Regardirtg Witness Proofing, 11 May 2007 

I 

Kayishema and Ruzindana 

The Prosecutor v. Cl'ement Kayishema and Obed Ruzinda.na, Case No. ICTR-95-1-A, Judgement 

(Reasons), 1 June 2001 ("'Kayishema and Ruzindaria Appeal Judgement"') 
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Mpambara 

ICTR ~123 

The Prosecutor v. Jean Mpambara, Case No. ICTR-01~65-T, Judgement, 11 September 2006 

("Mpambara Trial Judgement") 

Muhimana 

Mikaeli Muhima.n.a' v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICI'R-95-lB-A, Judgement, 21 May 2007 

("Muhimana Appeal: Judgement'') 

Musema 

Alfred Musema v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-96-13-A, Judgement, 16 November 2001 

("Musema Appeal JU;dgement'') 

Muvunyi 

Tharcisse Muvunyi v. The Prosecutor, ~e No. ICfR-00-55A-A, Judgement, 29 August 2008 

("Muvunyi Appeal Judgement") 

N~bimana et al. 

Ferdinand Nahimana, Jean-Bosco Barayagwiz.a and Hassan Ngeze v. The Prosecutor, Case No. 

ICTR-99-S2-A, Judg~ment, 28 November 2007 ("Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement'') 

Ndindabahizi 

Emmanuel Ndindaba~izi v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICfR-01-71-A, Judgement, 16 January 2007 

("Ndindabahi,i Appeal Judgement'') 

Niyitegeka 

Eliezer Niyitegeka v. The Prosecutor, Case No. IC1R-96-14-A, Judgement, 9 July 2004 

("Niyitegeka Appeal Judgement") 

Ntagemra et al. 

The Prosecutor v. Andre Ntagerura, Emmanuel Bagambiki, and Samuel Imani'shimwe, Case No. 

ICI'R-99-46-A. Judgement, 7 July 2006 ("Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement'') 
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391/A 
Ntakirutimana 

The Prosecutor v. Elizaphan Ntakirutinu:ma and Gerard Ntakirutimana. Cases Nos. ICTRN96-10-A 
I 

and lC'IR-96-17•.A. lodgement, 13 December 2004 ("Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement .. ) 

Rutaganda 

Georges Anderson Nderubumwe Rutaganda v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-96-3-A, Judgement, 

26 May 2003 ("Ruta'ganda Appeal Judgement'') 

Semanza 

I 

Laurent Semanza v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-97-20-A, Judgement, 20 May 2005 ("Sema.n.za 

Appeal Judgement"). 

Seromba 

The Prosecutor v. A.thanase Seromba. Case No. ICfR-2001·66-A, Judgement. 12 March 2008 

("•Seromba Appeal Jrl.dgement") 

Simba 

I 
Aloys Simba v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-01-76-A, Judgement, 27 November 2007 ("Simba 

Appeal Judgement")· 

2.ICTY 

Aleksovski 

Prosecutor v. Zlatko'Aleksovski, Case No. -95-14/l-AR73, Decision on Prosecutor's Appeal on 
I 

Admissibility of Evidence, 16 February 1999 ("Aleksovski Decision") 

I 

Blagojevic and Jokic 

Prosecutor v. Vidoje 'JJla.gojevic and Draga Jokic. Case No. IT-02-60-A. Judgement, 9 May 2007 

("Blagojevic and Jokic Appeal Judgement") 
I 

Blas"kic 

I 

Prosecutor. v. Tihom~r Blaikic, Case No. -95-14-A, Judgement, 29 July 2004 ("Blaski.c Appeal 

Judgement") 
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Celebid 
I 

Prosecutor v. Zejnil:Delalic et al., Case No. lT-96-21-A, Judgement. 20 February 2001 ("Celebici 

Appeal Judgement")' 

Funmdzija 

' 
Prosecutor v. Anto Funoull,ija, Case No. IT-95-17/1-A, Judgement, 21 July 2000 ("Furundf.ija 

Appeal Judgement"i 

Galic 

Prosecutor v. Stanislav Galic, Case No. IT-98-29-A, Judgement, 30 November 2006 ('•Galic 

Appeal Judgement"), 

Kordic and Cerkez: 

Prosecutor v. Dariol Kordic and Mario Cerkez, Case No. IT-95-14/2, Judgement. 17 December 

2004 (°'Kordic and Cerkez. Appeal Judgement") 

Krstic 

Prosecutor v. Radisi-av Krstic, Case No. IT-98-33-A, Judgement, 19 April 2004 ("Krstic Appeal 

Judgement: .. ) 

Kuprdkic et al. 

' ' 
Prosecutor v. :ZOra~ Kupreik:ic et al, Case No. IT-95-16-A, Judgement. 23 October 2001 

("Kupreskic et al. Appeal Judgement'') 

Kvocka et al. 

Prosecutor v. Miros'(av Kvocka et al., Case No. IT-98·30/1-A, Judgement, 28 February 2005 

("Kvocka et al. Appeal Judgement") 
' 

Limaj etal. 

~ Prosecutor·v. Fatmirl:£ima,j el al., Case No. IT~03-66-A, Judgement, 27 September 2007 ("Limaj et 

aL Appeal Judgemen*") 
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Martic 

Prosecutor v. Milan Manic, Case No. IT-95-11-A, Judgement. 8 October 2008 ("•Martic Appeal 

Judgement") 

Naletilic and Martinovic 

Prosecutor v. Mladen Nalerilic and Vinko Martinovic, Case No. lT-98-34-A, Judgement, 3 May 

2006 ("Naletilic and Martinovic Appeal Judgement") 

Orie 

Prosecutor v. Naser Orie, Case No. IT-03-68-A, Judgement, 3 July 2008 ("Orie Appeal 

Judgement") 

Prlic et al. 

Prosecutor v. Jadran!co Prlic et al., Case No IT-04-74, Decision on Prosecution's Appeal against 

Trial Chamber's Order on Contact between the Accused and Counsel during an Accused's 
I 

Testimony Pursuant: to Rule 85(C). 5 September 2008 ("Prlic et aL, Decision of 5 September 

2008 .. ). 

Stakic 

Prosecutor v. Milorhir Stakic, Case No. IT-97-24-T, Judgement, 31 July 2003 ("Stakic Trial 

Judgement") 

Prosecutor v. Milomir Stakic, Case No. IT-97-24-A, Judgement, 22 March 2006 ("Sta/de Appeal 

Judgement") 

Vasilje'Vic 

Prosecutor v. Mimr rasiljevic, Case No. IT-98-32-A, Judgement, 25 February 2004 ("Vasiljevic.f 

Appeal Judgement") 1 

I 

Amended Indictment 

Appellant 

Case No.: I~-01-74-~ 

B. Defined Terms and Abbreviations 

The Prosecutor v. Frantois Karera, Case No. ICI'R-01-74-I. 
Amended Indictment, dated 19 December 2005 

Frangois Karexa 
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Appellant's Brief 

AT. 

Brief in Reply 

cf. 

Defence 

Exhibit D / Exhibit.P 

FAR 

fn. 

Indictment 

Karera. Final Trial 
Brief 

Kigali prefecture 

Kigali-Ville prefecture 

MRND 

Notice of Appeal 

para. (paras.) 

Prosecution 

Prosecution Final Trial 
Brief 

Case No.: ~CTR-01-74-,A 

388/4 
The Prosecutor v. FrQ.nfois Karera, Case No. ICTR-01-74-A, 
Appellant's Brief, filed in French on 7 April 2008 (Memoire 
d'Appel de Franfois Karera) 

Transcript page from Appeal hearings held on 28 August 2008 in 
Fran~ois Karera v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-01-74-A. All 
references are to the official English transcript, unless otherwise 
indicated 

The Prosecutor v. Fran~ois Karera, Case No. ICTR~0l-74-A, 
Reply to the Respondent's Brief, tiled in French (Replique au 
Memoire de l'lntime') on 2 June 2008 

[La.tin: confer] (Compare) 

Toe Appellant. and/or the Appellant's counsel 

Defence Exhibit/ Prosecution Exhibit 

Rwandan Armed Forces 

footnote 

International Tribunal for the Prosecution of Persons Responsible 
for Serious Violations of Intemational Humanitarian Law 
Committed in the Tenitory of the Former Yugoslavia since 1991 

The Prosecutor v. Frartfois Karera, Case No. ICTR-01-74-1, 
Indictment, dated 2 August 2001 

The Prosecutor v. Fran.fois Karera, Case No. ICTR-01-74-T, 
Defense Closing .Arguments, filed confidentially on 10 November 
2006 

Prefecture de Kigali 

Prefecture de la Ville de Kigali 

Mouvement revolut/onnaire national pour le developpement 
[before July 1991 l 

Mouvement republicain national pour la democratie et le 
developpement [after July 1991] 

The Prosecutor v. Franfois Karera, Case No. ICTR-01~74-A, 
Defence Notice of Appeal, filed in French on 14 January 2008 
(Avis d'Appelde la Defense) 

paragraph (paragraphs) 

Office of the Prosecutor 

The Prosecutor v. Franfois Karera, Case No. ICTR-01-74-T, The 
Prosecutor's Closing Brief, filed confidentially on 10 November 
2006 
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Prosecution Pre-Trial 
Brief . 

Respondent's Brief 

Rules 

RPF 

Statute 

T. 

Trial Judgement 

Tribunal or ICIR 

UN 

Case No.: ICTR-01-74-A 

The Prosecutor v .. Franrois Karera, Case No. ICTR-01-74-1, The 
Prosecutor's Pre-Trial Brief, filed on 12 December 2005 

The Prosecutor v. Fran.fois Karera, Case No. ICTR-01-74-A, 
Respondent's Brief, filed on 16 May 2008 

Rules of Procedure and Evidence of the !CTR 

Rwandan Patriotic Front 

Statute of the International Tribunal for Rwanda established by 
Security Council Resolution 955 (1994) 

Trial Transc~pt page from hearings in Prosecutor v. Franfois 
Karera, Cas9 No. ICIR-01-74. All references are to the official 
English transeript, unless otherwise indicated 

The Proseclor v. Fran~oi.r Karera, Case No. ICfR-01-74-T, 
Judgement d Sentence, 7 December 2007 

International Criminal Tribunal for the Prosecution of Persons 
Responsible for Genocide and Other Serious Violations of 
International Humanitarian Law Committed in the Teaitory of 
Rwanda and wandan Citizens responsible for genocide and other 
such violatiolb.s committed in the territory of neighbouring States, 
between 1 Jarluacy 1994 and 31 December 1994 

United Nati.a Is 
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